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Fellow Sharehders

In spite of the worst economic downturn since the Great Depression we prudent managed
your company in 2009 through process improvements cost reductions and dsciplined cap tal

deployment while generating strong operating cash flow At the same time we invested in future

revenue growth areas as we contnued to tiansform Deluxe and execute our turnaround plan
These investments included organc initiatives like e-commerce Web services e-mail marketing

loyalty retention and fraud and security offerings We acquired MerchEngines and Aplus.net to

expand opportun ties in higher growth busness services

We also continued to reposition our brand We revamped our marketing media customer

touch points through an improved mix of paper catalog and online marketing We made meaningful

technology investments digital printing and flat check packaging and simplified our fulfillment

footprnt In shared services infrastructure we significantly reduced costs and improved the

effectiveness of information technology finance human resources real estate and legal

functions Our cost reduction initiatives have now expanded to $325 million We exited the ice

with more robust products and services so idified processes better infrastructure and im

financial results We recognize that there is still great deal of work to do but we made sig
progress in 2009 and in spite of what we expect will be continued challenging economy
excited about our momentum heading into 2010

Customer inghts prop revenue growth
As we enter 2010 we will not take our eyes off cost reduction and proce

initiatives but we will shift our primary focus to revenue expansion By stn

technology and analytics through best-in-class partnerships with Adobe Sys

Oniniture Tealeaf Technology Inc and others on top of our mproved mark

are gaining better customer nsights into small businesses financial institutic

Deluxe is now more capable of he ping smal busnesses get and keep

small to mid-sized financial institutions grow core deposits These custom

us forward as we play in exciting new spaces and continue to transforn

Our portfolio is becoming better positioned to deliver sustainable fu

broader economy recovers It starts with stabilizing and gaining share

then helping financial institutions expand core deposits with loyalty

deposit acquisition and rewards checking offers It includes enhancir

improving customer segmentation and adding new small business

icant growth opportunity is new business services including

search engine marketing payroll fraud and security and bus



Sharpening our customer focus

In 2009 Deluxe gained deeper understanding of our customers

and what drives them We moved full-speed ahead in our shift from

product-centered to customer-centered market segmentation We

are using technology and sophisticated analytics to get closer to our

small business and financial insttution customers and to help our

customers get closer to their customers

Powerfu partnerships produce insights and resuks

Our Small Business Services team has partnered with leading

Web analytics and customer exoerience companies Omniture and

Tealeaf to create more intuitve experiences tailored to customer

needs These powerful tools provide key insights nto how and why

customers make buying decisions across Deluxes e-commerce

stes We are now merging online data with information from other

sales channe to create 360-degree customer profiles This level

of customer-centered knowledge wIl

help us deliver high-value customer

experiences pnoritize new products

and services and improve results

ShopDeluxe.com our core small busness e-commerce Web site

produced strong results in 2009 with site traffic up 36% and sales up

148% the second half of the year over the first half of the year Solid

analytics and usability expertise drove enhancement of the site in

spring 2009 We integrated our business services offer ngs added

more full-color templates and deepened our offerings to key vertical

segments like contractors retailers and automotive

New strategies attract new customers

The use of e-mail as marketing tool is growing rapid among

small businesses In mid 2009 Deluxe organically developed and

launched EasyContact simple e-mail marketing solution that lets

businesses create send and track professionally designed e-mail

marketing campaigns Neary 40% of customers registerng at the

EasyContact.com microste are new Deluxe customers

We so captured new smal business customers through an

innovative Business Makeover Sweepstakes The 90-day promotion

drew 19000 unique site visitors and 8300 registratons to the

promotion microsite Business makeover winners will be featured

across multiple marketing and sales channels to showcase their

before-and-after business makeovers

Customers co-create check program transformation

Deluxe adopted co-creation approach to guide the transformation

of our core check program Co-creation means developing products and

services in open collaboration with stakeholders In this case Deluxe

worked closely with financial institutions and end-users to create high-

value check program that meets the goals of both stakeholder groups

We analyzed sales cata for preferences and irends arid we surveyed

consumers online We measured customer experiences and attitudes

through primary ethnographic research and in-depth interviews at financial

institution sites The new co-created program
wil be phased in throughout

2010 It simplifies check design and pricing options is quick to implement

and offers reporting that will drive greater program performance



Networking with small businesses

Deluxe is leverag ng the community movement online

and offline to gain insights build relationships and make

customer-centered decisions The number of people in the

U.S who use online social networks at east once month is

expected to increase 44% to 15 million in 2013 from

79 million in 2008 While Facebook YouTube and Twitter are

the spotlight business networking sites are among the

fastest growing online communities

Deluxe in 2008 acquired PartnerUp the first and largest

online community geared so ely toward small business

owners and entrepreneurs PartnerUps membershp grew

179% to nearly 165000 at the end of 2009 PartnerUp

introduces and reinforces the Deluxe brand products and

services among thousands of small business owners in

mu tiple stages of ther business ifecycles Members

ogged 3.4 millon minutes on the site in 2009 searching

for opportunites seeking advice connecting with

vendors and finding real estate Deluxe able to gain

insights by observing and Istening conducting instant

polls and testing marketing campaigns We are also

leveraging the PartnerUp platform to create prvate

label socia networking so utions for financial

institutions and organizations The first two pilot

tes for U.S Bank and SCORE Counselors to

Americas Small Business launched in 2009

Supporting small business growth in communities

The Deuxe Corporation Foundation in 2009 awarded $500000

grant to Fastlrac LaunchEad an accelerated version of the national

Fastlrac entrepreneurship program In partnership with the Kauffman

Foundation Fastlrac LaunchPad has been roiled out nationally to

provide entrepreneurial training programs tailored to people who lost

jobs or entrepreneurs whose businesses are struggl ng due to the

recession More than 5000 people were trained in 2009

Creating communities to sove industry challenges

Financial institutions today see Deluxe as knowledge leader

the small business market critical customer segment for small to

mid sized banks They also trust us as partner to help them grow

and solve their most vexing industry challenges

Deluxe will present the findings of its current Co laborative

project to more than thousand financial services

professionals in 2010 as part of the Deluxe Know edge

Expo series The Deluxe Collaborafve brings together

15 financial industry executives to explore an industry

issue conduct research and share nsghts and

solutions with the natonal banking community

The Collaborative tackled the question How do

financial institutions sell multiple products and

services to Baby Boomers and Millennials in

times of distrust The Collaborative findings

have ready led to two new products that

will be introduced at the Expos The Sales

Experience training tool for front-line bank

employees and Sketch Selling tool kit

that helps bank employees co-create

customized checking program with new

bank customers

lip



improving business resufts

Customer nsghts gained through analytics und communites

have confirmed the most cntical unmet need small business

owners are facing today understanding how to effecuvely reach

customers fast-chang ng technology-driven marketplace

Armed with this knowledge Deluxe is creating customer-

preferred experiences that will improve our busness results

We are more effic ently targeting high-value segments and

customers We are maximizing our mix and frequency of

marketing touch po nts And we are offering small business

customers varied leve of products and service support from

do-it-yourself to dot-with-me options

We are also helping our small business customers understand

their customers preferences and we are providing them with

so utions that make it easier for their customers to do business

with them

Providing muti-channe sutions

The Web is now the primary means by which customers

search for and connect with local businesses and our

customers must be seen there where and when their

customers are lookng for them Our 2009 acqu sitions of

search engine market ng ISEMI firm MerchEngines and Web

hosting firm Aplus.net added key features to our growing Web

services portfolio Deluxe now offers services from domain

registration and Web site hosting and design to e-mail marketing

e-commerce search engine optimization

SEM and mobile messaging Ths

integrated Web services offering coupled

with our traditonal marketing products

and services are designed delivered and

priced for sma bus nesses

Growing with financia institutions

Deluxes opportunity wtb small to mid-s zed financial institutions is

two-fold as partner that knows checks and how to grow core deposits

and as partner that knows and understands their marketing needs

Our new ThinkDeluxe direct marketing and printing solutions

are already reducing costs for our clients and generating new

revenue for Deluxe We are also proactively sharing insights

gained through ana ytics and market research to help banks better

understand how to effectively market to and connect with their

customers through the Web and tradtional marketing channels

The primary way banks acquire new customers continues to be

through the checking account relatonship Deluxes customer retention

rate in excess of 90% confirms we have earned the loyalty of our

bank customers with check programs that perform We are helping

banks expand beyond core depos ts into revenue areas like loyalty

retention and fraud monitoring and protection solutions

We are also moving nto the rewards checking

space through our exc usive partnership

with BancVue In January 2010 Deluxe

began offering BancVues REALCheckng

solution to our community bank and credit

union customers Deluxe and BancVue

are ideal partners to help fnancia

institutions attract new customers

increase retention and drive new

sources of revenue
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We will continue to assess potential small to medium-sized

acquisitions that complement our large customer bases with

focus on new business services and products and services

aimed at helping financial institutions grow their core deposits

Small Business Services SBS
SBS revenues declined almost 8% as weak economy had

significant impact on our largest segment We enhanced our

Internet presence and increased visitor traffic while conversion

rates and average order values remained strong We acquired

two companies that better position us for revenue growth in

new business services Our 2010 focus in core small business

products is on acquiring new customers increasing our share of

wallet through our enhanced ShopDeluxe e-commerce site and

improving segmentation We will improve the efficiency and

effectiveness of our inbound outbound and online customer

touch points to maximize revenue scale capability In new

business services we expect to gain new customers through

our Hostopia telco-focused wholesale model add services for

our Aplus.net customers add e-mail marketing customers

continue to roll out MerchEngines offers and add logo and

business networking customers and ad sales We also will look

for opportunities to add more business services on our unified

technology platform

Financial Services FS
FS revenues declined about 8% in 2009 as the shift to

electronic payments banking industry turmoil and the

economy all negatively impacted check units in spite of our

continued record retention rates and strong new acquisition

rates We continued to simplify our processes and take

complexity out of the business while reducing our cost and

expense structure We made progress in advancing new

non-check revenue expansion opportunities Our 2010 focus

is on gaining share in core check revenue simplifying our

business model and completing our automated flat check

packaging technology implementation as well as focusing on

how we help financial institutions grow core deposits This

includes providing loyalty retention fraud and security market

intelligence analytics-driven deposit acquisition and rewards

checking offers that differentiate us from competitors and

that make us more relevant business partner to our financial

institution clients

Direct Checks

Direct Checks revenue declined 13% in 2009 as the weak

economy had negative impact on our consumers check

purchases We continue to be the nations leading direct-to-

consumer check supplier and our operating income profile

improved For 2010 we expect an improvement in the rate of

revenue decline driven by consumer usage reductions in

weak economy but improved re-order curves Our focus is on

maximizing operating cash flow and the lifetime value of our

customers by selling additional features and accessories We

expect to reduce our manufacturing costs and lower selling

general and administrative expenses and drive our operating

margins to the mid-30% range while generating strong cash flow

Deluxe at the forefront

We believe that small businesses will drive the economic

recovery Deluxe is poised to benefit from our dual focus on

understanding small businesses and their customers while

helping small to mid-size financial institutions grow and retain

their customers More and more of our small businesses and

financial institutions are starting to see us as their indispensable

partner in helping them get and keep customers We know when

where why and how our customers use products services and

technology Our scalable unified Web-enabled platform is the

cornerstone of our strategy and our improved analytics drive better

customer insights communities and connections Our focus is

on providing simple easy-to-use innovative solutions that fulfill

customer needs while using continuous improvement principles

to operate with focused sense of urgency on daily basis

In closing my sincere thanks again to all the people of Deluxe

for your unwavering enthusiasm and dedication to our customers

for your loyalty and trust to our partners for your engagement

and commitment and to our shareholders for your support and

confidence in our transformational journey

We believe Deluxe continues to demonstrate its value as

disciplined and stable company in these challenging economic times

To use sports analogy we are starting to play offense through

positive strategic moves that reposition us for sustainable longer

term growth while continuing to improve profitability and operating

cash flow We know that if we work closely with our customers

and execute well we will create value for our shareholders

Lee Schram

Chief Executive Officer



Quartedy Stock Data

The chart below shows the per-share closing price

ranges for the Companys common stock for the

past two fiscal years as quoted on the New York

Stock Exchange
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Quarter

Quarter

Quarter
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2008

Quarter

Quarter

Quarter

Quarter

Stock Exchange
Deluxe Corporation common stock

is traded on the New York Stock

Exchange under the symbol DLX

Annual Meeting

Shareholders are invited to attend Deluxes annual

shareholder meeting on Wednesday April 28 2010

It will be held at 200 p.m Central time at

Deluxe headquarters building

3680 Victoria Street North

Shoreview MN 55126-2966

Form 10-K Avaiabe

complete copy of our annual report on Form 10-K is

posted at Deluxe.com under the News and Investor

Relations tab It may also be obtained by sending an

e-mail to investorrelations@deluxe.com or written

request to

Deluxe Corporation

Attn Investor Relations

P.O Box 64235

St Paul MN 55164-0235

6511 787-1068

Sharehoder nquiries

Requests for additional information should be

sent to the attention of Investor Relations at

the above address or by e-mail to

investorrelations@deluxe.com

Executive Offices

Street.address

3680 Victoria Street North

Shoreview MN 55126-2966

Mailing address

P.O Box 64235

St Paul MN 55164-0235

651483-7111

Stock Ownership
and Record Keeping

Wells Fargo Shareowner Services

Street address

161 North Concord Exchange

St Paul MN 55075

800 468-9716

651 450-4064

Mailing address

P.O Box 64854

St Paul MN 55164-0854

Wellsfargo.com/shareownerservices

Acquiring kiformation

The latest Company press releases regarding

financial results dividend news and other

information as well as the annual report on

Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-0 proxy

statement and other SEC filings can be found

online at Deluxe.com under the News and Investor

Relations tab To request printed versions of any of the

materials listed please call 6511 787-1068 or e-mail

investorrelations@deluxe.com

Daluxe Web Sites

Forward Looking Statements

Statements made in this report concerning the

Companys or managements intentions expectations

or predictions about future results or events are

forward-looking statements within the meaning

of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

1995 Such statements reflect managemenfs current

expectations or beliefs and are subject to risks and

uncertainties that could cause actual results or events

to differ materially from those projected Additional

information about various factors that could cause

actual results to differ from those projected are

contained in the Companys annual report on Form

10-K for the year ended December31 2009 which

has been filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission and is posted on Deluxe.com

Leadership

Board of Directors

STEPHEN NACHTSH ElM

Director Since November 1995

Non-Executive Chairman Deluxe Corporation

Vice President Retired Intel Corporation

RONALD BALDWIN

Director Since June 2007

Vice Chairman Retired Huntington Bancshares Inc

CHARLES HAGGERTY

Director Since December 2000

Chairman Retired Western Digital Corporation

ISAIAH HARRIS JR
Director Since August 2004

President Retired BellSouth Advertising

Publishing Group

DON McGRATH

Director Since June 2007

Managing Partner Diamond Bear Partners LLC

CHERYL MAYBERRY McKISSACK

Director Since December 2000

President and Chief Executive Officer

Nia Enterprises LLC

NEILJ METVINER

Director Since June 2007

Vice President Retired Pitney Bowes Inc

MARY ANN ODWYER
Director Since October 2003

Senior Vice President Finance and Operations and

Chief Financial Officet Wheels Inc

MARTYN REDG RAVE

Director Since August 2001

Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative

Officer Limited Brands Inc

LEE SCH RAM
Director Since May 2006

Chief Executive Officer Deluxe Corporation

Executive Leadership Team

LEE SCH RAM
Chief Executive Officer

TERRY PETERSON

Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

JULIE LOOSBROCK
Senior Vice President Human Resources

MALCOLM McROBERTS

Senior Vice President Chief Information Officer

THOMAS MOREFIELD

Senior Vice President President of Financial Services

ANTHONY SCARFONE

Senior Vice President General Counsel and Secretary

PETE GODICH

Vice President Fulfillment

LYNN KOLDENHOVEN
Vice President Sales and Marketing Direct-to-

Consumer

LAURA RADEWALD
Vice President Enterprise Brand Customer

Experience and Media Relations

JOANNE MCGOWAN
Segment Leadet Small Business Services
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCIIANGE COMMISSION

Washington D.C 20549

Form 10-K

Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31 2009

DELUXE CORPORATION
Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter

Minnesota

State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization

41-0216800

I.R.S Employer

Identification No

3680 Victoria St Shoreview Minnesota

Address of principal executive offices

55126-2966

Zip Code

Registrants telephone number including area code 651 483-7111

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act

Common Stock par value $1.00 per share

Title of each class

New York Stock Exchange

Name of each exchange on which registered

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act

Yes No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of the Act

Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was

required to file such reports and has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days

Yes No

Commission file number 1-7945 _-1



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site if any

every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 232.405 of this

chapter during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post

such files

_Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 229.405 of this

chapter is not contained herein and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or

information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form

10-K Vu

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or

smaller reporting company See definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller reporting

company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company

Do not check if smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 2b-2 of the Act
Yes No

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant is $649454574 based on the last

sales price of the registrants common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on June 30 2009 The number of

outstanding shares of the registrants common stock as of February 2010 was 51239985

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Portions of our definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year-end are incorporated by

reference in Part III
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PART

Item Business

Deluxe Corporation was incorporated under the laws of the State of Minnesota in 1920 From 1920 until 1988 our

company was named Deluxe Check Printers Incorporated Our principal corporate offices are located at 3680 Victoria Street

North Shoreview Minnesota 55 126-2966 Our main telephone number is 651 483-71 11

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Through our industry-leading businesses and brands we help small businesses and financial institutions better operate

protect and grow their businesses We employ multi-channel strategy to provide suite of life-cycle driven solutions to our

customers We use direct marketing North American sales force financial institution referrals independent distributors and

dealers and the internet to provide our customers wide
range of customized products and services personalized printed

items checks forms business cards stationery greeting cards and labels promotional products and merchandising

materials We also offer growing suite of business services including logo design payroll web design and hosting

business networking search engine marketing and other web services In the financial services industry we sell business and

personal checks customer loyalty and retention programs fraud monitoring and protection services and stored value gift

cards We also sell personalized checks accessories and other services directly to consumers Our vision is to be the best at

helping small businesses and financial institutions grow

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Our business segments include Small Business Services Financial Services and Direct Checks These businesses are

generally organized by type of customer and reflect the way we manage the company Additional information concerning our

segments appears under the caption Note 17 Business segment information of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements appearing in Item of this report

Small Business Services

Small Business Services operates under various brands including Deluxe NEBS Safeguard McBee
Stephen.Fossler Johnson Group Hostopia PartnerUp Logo Mojo and from our recent acquisitions Aplus.net5M and

MerchEngines.com5M This is our largest segment in terms of revenue and we are concentrating on profitably growing this

segment Small Business Services strives to be leading supplier to small businesses by providing personalized products and

services that help them operate protect and grow their businesses This segment has sold personalized printed products

which include business checks printed forms promotional products marketing materials and related services as well as

retail packaging supplies and suite of business services including web design and hosting fraud protection payroll logo

design search engine marketing and business networking to approximately 3.6 million active small business customers in

the United States Canada and Europe in the last 24 months Printed forms include billing forms work orders job proposals

purchase orders invoices and personnel forms We also produce computer forms compatible with accounting software

packages commonly used by small businesses Our stationery letterhead envelopes and business cards are produced in

variety of formats and ink colors

The majority of Small Business Services products are distributed through more than one channel Our primary

channels are direct mail in which promotional advertising is delivered by mail to small businesses referrals from financial

institution and telecommunications companies and internet marketing These efforts are supplemented by the account

development efforts of an outbound telemarketing group We also sell through websites Safeguard distributors and network

of independent local dealers We have been shifting portion of our advertising efforts to the internet as our customers are

increasingly using the internet to procure products and services Customer service for initial order support product reorders

and routine service is provided by network of call center representatives located throughout the United States and Canada



Our focus within Small Business Services is to grow revenue and increase operating margin by continuing to

implement the following strategies

Acquire new customers by leveraging customer referrals that we receive from our Financial Services financial

institution clients and Hostopias telecommunications clients as well as from other marketing initiatives such as

commerce and direct mail

Increase our share of the amount small businesses spend on the products and services in our portfolio through

improved segmentation

Expand sales of higher growth business services including web design hosting and other web services fraud

protection payroll logo design search engine marketing and business networking as well as areas such as full

color web-to-print and imaging and

Continue to optimize our cost and expense structure

We are continuing to invest in several key enablers to achieve our strategies and reposition Small Business Services as

not just provider of printed products but also provider of higher growth business services These key enablers include

continuing to improve our c-commerce capabilities implementing an integrated platform for our various brands improving

our customer analytics focusing on key customer segments and improving our merchandising We have refreshed our

existing product offerings and have improved some of our newer service offerings which we believe creates more valuable

suite of products and services We have also identified opportunities to expand sales to our existing customers and to acquire

new customers Our improved e-commerce platform www.Deluxe.com/ShopDeluxe increases our opportunities to market

and sell on-line Also important to our growth are the small business customer referrals we receive through our Deluxe

Business Advantage program which provides fast and simple way for financial institutions to offer expanded personalized

service to small businesses Our relationships with financial institutions are important in helping us more deeply serve

customer segments such as contractors retailers and professional services firms

We have acquired companies which allow us to expand our business services offerings including web design hosting

and other web services logo design search engine marketing and business networking We expect these higher growth

business services will represent an increasing portion of our revenue In August 2008 we acquired Hostopia.com Inc

Hostopia provider of web services that enable small businesses to establish and maintain an internet presence Hostopia

also provides email marketing fax-to-email mobility synchronization and other services It provides unified scaleable

web-enabled platform that better positions us to obtain orders for wider variety of products including checks forms

business cards and full-color digital and web-to-print offerings as well as imaging and other printed products Hostopia

operates in the United States Canada and Europe Also during 2008 we acquired the assets of PartnerUp Inc PartnerUp

Logo Design Mojo Inc Logo Mojo and Yoffi Digital Press Yoffi PartnerUp is an online community that is designed to

connect small businesses and entrepreneurs with resources and contacts to build their businesses Logo Mojo is Canadian-

based online logo design firm and Yoffi is commercial digital printer specializing in custom marketing material During

2009 we acquired Abacus America Inc wholly-owned subsidiary of Aplus Holdings Inc to expand our web services

customer base We also acquired MerchEngines.com which added new search engine marketing capabilities

As in our other two business segments we continue our efforts within Small Business Services to simplify processes

eliminate complexity and lower costs During 2009 we closed two customer call centers located in Thorofare New Jersey

and Santa Fe Springs California and we announced plans to close our Colorado Springs Colorado customer call center

during the first quarter of 2010

Financial Services

Financial Services sells personal and business checks check-related products and services customer loyalty and

retention programs fraud monitoring and protection services and stored value gift cards to banks and other financial

institutions primarily through direct sales force As part of our check programs we also offer enhanced services such as

customized reporting file management and expedited account conversion support Our relationships with financial

institutions are generally formalized through supply contracts which usually range
in duration from four to six years We

serve approximately 6400 financial institutions in the United States Consumers and small businesses typically submit their

check order to their financial institution which then forwards the order to us We process
the order and ship it directly to the

consumer or small business Financial Services produces wide range of check designs with many consumers preferring one

of the dozens of licensed or cause-related designs we offer including Disney Warner Brothers Garfield Harley



Davidson NASCAR PGA TOUR Thomas Kinkade Susan Komen Breast Cancer Foundation and National Arbor

Day Foundation

Our strategies within Financial Services are as follows

Optimize core check revenue streams and acquire new clients

Provide services and products that differentiate us from the competition by helping financial institutions grow core

deposits and

Continue to optimize our cost and expense structure

We will continue our focus on acquiring new clients during 2010 We are also leveraging our loyalty retention and

fraud monitoring and protection offers as well as our Deluxe Business Advantage program The Deluxe Business Advantage

program is designed to maximize financial institution business check programs by offering the products and services of our

Small Business Services segment to small businesses through number of service level options The revenue from the

products and services sold through this program is reflected in our Small Business Services segment

In our efforts to expand beyond check-related products we have introduced several services and products that focus on

customer loyalty and retention as well as fraud monitoring and protection Following are some examples

Deluxe ID TheftBiock set of fraud monitoring and recovery services that provides assistance to consumers in

detecting and recovering from identity theft

Welcome HomeSM Tool Kit starttofinish package for financial institution branch offices that captures best

practices for securing lasting loyalty among customers by focusing on the first 90 days of the relationship

Deluxe CallingSM an outbound calling program aimed at helping financial institutions
generate new organic

revenue growth and reduce attrition

REALCheckingTM program system of deposit products including reward checking programs that drives non-

interest income attracts new account holders and increases retention for community financial institutions We offer

this suite of products to our clients through partnership with BancVue Ltd which began in early 2010

Marketing solutions variety of strategic and tactical marketing solutions which help financial institutions

acquire new customers deepen existing customer relationships and retain customers

We expect providing products and services that differentiate us from the competition will help partially offset the

impacts of the decline in check usage and the pricing pressures we are experiencing in our check programs As such we are

also focused on accelerating the pace at which we introduce new products and services

In addition to our other value-added services we continue to offer our Knowledge ExchangeTM Series for financial

institution clients through which we host knowledge exchange expos conduct web seminars host special industry conference

calls and offer specialized publications Through this program financial institutions gain knowledge and
exposure to thought

leaders in areas that most impact their core strategies client loyalty small business and retail client strategy cost

management customer experience and brand enhancement Our Collaborative initiative key component of the Knowledge

Exchange Series enlists team of leading financial institution executives who meet with us over one-year timeframe to

develop and test specific and focused solutions on behalf of the financial services industry These findings and new strategies

or services are then disseminated for the benefit of all our clients During 2009 the Collaborative focused on how to

effectively sell multiple products and services to baby boomers and millennials during time of consumer distrust Our 2008

Collaborative focused on creating customer loyalty through human interaction simple yet powerful brand building strategy

for financial institutions

Direct Checks

Direct Checks is the nations leading direct-to-consumer check supplier selling under the Checks Unlimited
Designer Checks and Checks.com brand names Through these brands we sell personal and business checks and related

products and services directly to consumers using direct response marketing and the internet We estimate the direct-to

consumer personal check printing portion of the payments industry accounts for approximately 13% of all personal checks

sold in the United States



We use variety of direct marketing techniques to acquire new customers including newspaper inserts in-package

advertising statement stuffers and co-op advertising We also use c-commerce strategies to direct traffic to our websites

which include www.checksunlimited.com www.designerchecks.com and www.checks.com Our direct-to-consumer focus

has resulted in total customer base of approximately 45.3 million customers the most in the domestic direct-to-consumer

checks marketplace

Direct Checks competes primarily on price and design Pricing in the direct-to-consumer channel is generally lower

than prices charged to consumers in the financial institution channel We also compete on design by seeking to offer the most

attractive selection of images with high consumer appeal many of which are acquired or licensed from well-known artists

and organizations such as Disney Warner Brothers Harley Davidson and Thomas Kinkade

Our strategies within Direct Checks are as follows

Optimize cash flow

Maximize the lifetime value of customers by selling new features accessories and products and

Continue to optimize our cost and expense structure

We intend to optimize the cash flow generated by this segment by continuing to lower our cost and expense structure

in all functional areas particularly in the areas of marketing and fulfillment We will continue to actively market our products

and services through targeted advertising We have been and will continue to focus greater portion of our advertising

investment on c-commerce Additionally we continue to explore avenues to increase sales to existing customers For

example we have had success with the EZShie1dTM product check protection service that provides reimbursement to

consumers for losses resulting from forged signatures or endorsements and altered checks

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Revenue by product as percentage of consolidated revenue for the last three years was as follows

2009 2008 2007

Checks 63.4% 64.6% 65.0%

Other printed products including forms 21.8% 22.4% 23.6%

Services primarily business 6.8% 3.9% 1.9%

Accessories and promotional products 6.6% 7.5% 7.4%

Packaging supplies and other 1.4% 1.6% 2.1%

Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

We remain one of the largest providers of checks in the United States both in terms of revenue and the number of

checks produced We provide check printing and related products and services to approximately 6400 financial institution

clients as well as to consumers We also offer personalized checks business forms related accessories and other services

including fraud prevention web hosting payroll and logo design directly to millions of small businesses Checks account for

the majority of the revenue in our Financial Services and Direct Checks segments and represent 47.5% 49.4% and 49.8% of

Small Business Services total revenue in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

We have provided products and services to approximately 3.6 million small business customers over the past 24

months We are leading provider of printed forms to small businesses Printed forms include billing forms work orders job

proposals purchase orders invoices and personnel forms We produce computer forms compatible with accounting software

packages commonly used by small businesses Our stationery letterhead envelopes and business cards are produced in

variety of formats and ink colors These items are designed to provide small business owners with the customized documents

necessary to efficiently manage their business We also provide promotional printed items and digital printing services

designed to fulfill selling and marketing needs of the small businesses we serve We have expanded our business services

offerings which include web design hosting and other web services fraud protection payroll logo design search engine

marketing and business networking



MANUFACTURING

We continue to focus on improving the customer experience by providing excellent service and quality reducing costs

and increasing productivity We accomplish this by embedding lean operating principles in all processes while emphasizing
culture of continuous improvement Under this approach employees work together to produce products rather than working
on individual tasks in linear fashion Because employees assume more ownership of the end product the results are

improved productivity and lower costs

We have demonstrated our commitment to innovative solutions by implementing flat check delivery package for

which we have patent pending to mitigate the effect of postal rate increases During 2009 we began fully automating our

flat check packaging process and we expect to finish automating this process at all locations in the first half of 2010 We also

continue to sponsor sustainability initiatives which encompass environmentally friendly practices We have aligned with

suppliers that promote sustainable business practices and we continually seek opportunities to eliminate wasted material
reduce cycle times and use more environmentally friendly materials Over 90% of our check and form paper is purchased
from Forest Stewardship Council certified supplier mills our vinyl checkbook covers are produced utilizing minimum of

85% post-industrial recycled material and we use environmentally friendly janitorial supplies Our sustainability initiatives

have also benefited our results of operations over the past several
years as we focused on reducing our consumption of water

power and natural
gas and improved our transportation efficiency

The expertise we have developed in logistics productivity and inventory management has allowed us to reduce the

number of production facilities while still meeting client requirements During 2009 we closed seven manufacturing
facilities located in Mississauga Ontario North Wales Pennsylvania Thorofare New Jersey Greensboro North Carolina

Colorado Springs Colorado New Albany Indiana and Rockford Illinois The operations and assets of these facilities were
relocated to other locations Aside from our plant consolidations we continue to seek other innovations to further increase

efficiencies and reduce costs In 2009 this included expanding our use of digital printing processes which will continue in

2010

In manufacturing we have shared services approach which allows our three business segments to leverage shared

manufacturing facilities to optimize capacity utilization enhance operational excellence and foster culture of Continuous

improvement We continue to reduce costs by utilizing our assets and printing technologies more efficiently and by enabling

employees to better leverage their capabilities and talents

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Checks

According to Federal Reserve study released in December 2007 approximately 33 billion checks are written

annually This includes checks which are converted to automated clearing house ACH payments Checks remain the largest

single non-cash payment method in the United States accounting for approximately 35% of all non-cash payment
transactions This is reduction from the Federal Reserve Study released in December 2004 when checks accounted for

approximately 45% of all non-cash payment transactions The Federal Reserve estimates that checks written declined

approximately four percent per year between 2003 and 2006 According to our estimates the decline was greater in 2009 and
2008 we believe due to the economic recession and instability in the financial services industry The total transaction

volume of all electronic payment methods exceeds check payments and we expect this to continue We believe check
usage

tends to be fairly resilient to downturns in the economy However recent turmoil in the financial services industry has had

negative impact on our check volumes as some banks have experienced higher than normal customer attrition Further we
believe fewer small business start-ups and an increased number of small business failures negatively impacted our check
volumes in 2009 although the 2009 industry data is not yet available

Small Business Customers

The Small Business Administrations Office of Advocacy defines small business as an independent business having
fewer than 500 employees In 2008 the most recent period for which information is available it was estimated that there

were approximately 29.6 million small businesses in the United States This represented approximately 99.7% of all

employers According to the same survey small businesses employ just over half of all private sector employees and



generated 64% of net new jobs created over the past 15 years According to the Small Business and Tourism Branch of

Industry Canada there are just over one million small businesses in Canada with less than 500 employees

The small business market is impacted by general economic conditions and the rate of small business formations The

index of small business optimism published by the National Federation of Independent Business in December 2009 was up

only slightly from the near-record low recorded in March 2009 According to estimates of the Small Business

Administrations Office of Advocacy new small business formations were down moderately in 2008 the most recent period

for which information is available as compared to 2007 The economy had negative impact on our 2009 results primarily

in Small Business Services and we expect the economic environment will continue to be challenging in 2010

Our previous estimates indicated that the business check and forms portion of the markets serviced by Small Business

Services was declining at rate of four to six percent per year We estimate that the decline was higher in 2009 due to the

economic recession Continual technological improvements provide small business customers with alternative means to enact

and record business transactions For example off-the-shelf business software applications and electronic transaction systems

have been designed to replace pre-printed business forms products

We seek to serve the needs of the small business customer We design produce and distribute business checks forms

envelopes retail packaging and related products We also offer business services such as web design hosting and other web

services fraud protection payroll logo design search engine marketing and business networking all of which are offered to

help our small business customers operate protect and grow their businesses

Financial Institution Clients

Checks are most commonly ordered through financial institutions We estimate approximately 87% of all consumer

checks are ordered in this manner Financial institutions include banks credit unions and other financial services companies

Several developments related to financial institutions have affected the check printing portion of the payments industry

Financial institutions seek to maintain the profits they have historically generated from their check programs

despite the decline in check usage This has put significant pricing pressure on check printers in the past several

years

Continued turmoil in the financial services industry including bank failures and consolidations has negatively

impacted order volumes

When financial institutions consolidate through mergers and acquisitions often the newly combined entity seeks

to reduce costs by leveraging economies of scale in purchasing including its check supply contracts This results

in check providers competing intensely on price in order to retain not only their previous business with one of the

financial institutions but also to gain the business of the other party in the merger/acquisition

Financial institution mergers and acquisitions can also impact the duration of our contracts Normally the length

of our contracts with financial institutions ranges
from four to six years However contracts may be renegotiated

or bought out mid-term due to consolidation of financial institutions

Banks especially larger ones may request pre-paid product discounts in the form of cash incentives payable at the

beginning of contract These contract acquisition payments negatively impact check producers cash flows in the

short-term

In most situations contracts require contract termination payment by financial institution if it cancels its

contract

The continued turmoil in the financial services industry has led to increases in bank failures and consolidations To the

extent any financial institution failures and consolidations impact large portions of our customer base this could have

significant impact on our financial institution check programs

Consumer Direct Mail Response Rates

Direct Checks and portions of Small Business Services have at times been impacted by reduced consumer response

rates to direct mail advertisements Our own experience indicates that declines in our customer response rates may be

attributable to the decline in check usage the gradual obsolescence of standardized forms products and general decline in

direct marketing response rates due in part to increasing utilization of e-commerce by both consumers and small businesses



We continually evaluate our marketing techniques in order to utilize the most effective and affordable advertising media and
have recently shifted greater portion of our advertising investment to the internet

Competition

The small business forms and supplies industry and the business services industry are all highly fragmented with many
small local suppliers large national retailers and internet-based service providers We believe we are well-positioned in this

competitive landscape through our broad customer base the breadth of our small business product and service offerings

multiple distribution channels established relationships with our financial institution clients competitive prices high quality
and dependable service

In the small business forms and supplies industry the competitive factors influencing customers purchase decision

are breadth of product line speed of delivery product quality price convenience and customer service Our primary

competitors are office product superstores local printers business form dealers contract stationers and internet-based

suppliers Local printers provide personalization and customization but typically have limited variety of products and

services as well as limited printing sophistication Office superstores offer variety of products at competitive prices but

provide limited personalization and customization We are aware of numerous independent companies or divisions of

companies offering printed products and business supplies to small businesses through the internet direct mail distributors or
direct sales force

In business services the competitive factors include the breadth quality and ease of use of web and other services

professional and technical support price and the responsiveness of customer support

In the check printing portion of the payments industry we face considerable competition from several other check

printers and we expect competition to remain intense as check usage continues to decline and financial institutions continue

to consolidate We also face competition from check printing software vendors and from internet-based sellers of checks and
related products Moreover the check product must compete with alternative payment methods including credit cards debit

cards automated teller machines direct deposit and electronic and other bill paying services

In the financial institution check printing business there are two large primary providers one of which is Deluxe The

principal factors on which we compete are product and service breadth price quality and check merchandising program

management At times competitors have reduced the prices of their products during the selection
process in an attempt to

gain greater volume The corresponding pricing pressure placed on us has resulted in reduced profit margins Pricing pressure
will continue to impact our results of operations through lower pricing levels or client losses Additionally product discounts

in the form of cash incentives payable to financial institutions upon contract execution have been practice within the

industry since the late 1990s Both the number of financial institution clients requesting these payments and the size of the

payments has fluctuated significantly in recent years These up-front payments negatively impact check printers cash flows

in the short-term and may result in additional pricing pressure when the financial institution also negotiates greater product
discount levels throughout the term of the contract We make an effort to reduce the use of up-front product discounts by

structuring new contracts with incentives throughout the duration of the contract

Seasonality

General economic conditions have an impact on our business and financial results From time to time the markets in

which we sell our products and services experience weak economic conditions that negatively impact revenue We
experience seasonal trends in selling some of our products For example holiday card sales and stored value gift cards

typically are stronger in the fourth
quarter of the year due to the holidays sales of tax forms are stronger in the first and

fourth quarters of the year and check sales for our Direct Checks segment have historically been stronger in the first quarter
of the year

Raw Materials and Supplies

The principal raw materials used in producing our main products are paper plastics ink cartons and printing plate

material which we purchase from various sources We also purchase some stock business forms produced by third parties
We believe that we will be able to obtain an adequate supply of materials from current or alternative suppliers
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Governmental Regulation

We are subject to regulations implementing the privacy and information security requirements of the federal financial

modernization law known as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and other federal regulation and state law on the same subject

These laws and regulations require us to develop implement and maintain policies and procedures to protect
the security and

confidentiality of consumers nonpublic personal information We are also subject to additional requirements in certain of our

contracts with financial institution clients which are often more restrictive than the regulations These regulations and

agreements limit our ability to use or disclose nonpublic personal information for other than the purposes originally intended

which could limit business opportunities The complexity of compliance with these regulations may also increase the cost of

doing business

We are unable to predict whether more restrictive legislation or regulation will be adopted in the future Any future

legislation or regulation or the interpretation of existing legislation or regulation could have negative impact on our business

results of operations and prospects Laws and regulations relating to consumer privacy may be adopted in the future with respect

to the internet e-commerce or marketing practices Such laws or regulations may impede the growth of the internet and/or the

use of other sales or marketing vehicles For example new privacy laws could decrease traffic to our websites decrease

telemarketing opportunities and increase the cost of obtaining new customers We do not expect that changes in these laws and

regulations will have significant impact on our business in 2010

Intellectual Property

We rely on combination of trademark and copyright laws trade secret and patent protection and confidentiality and

license agreements to protect our trademarks software and other intellectual property These measures afford only limited

protection Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property third parties may infringe or misappropriate our intellectual

property or otherwise independently develop substantially equivalent products or services which do not infringe on our

intellectual property rights In addition check designs exclusively licensed from third parties account for portion of our

revenue These license agreements generally average three years in duration There can be no guarantee that such licenses

will be available to us indefinitely or under terms that would allow us to continue to sell the licensed products profitably

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31 2009 we employed 5592 employees in the United States and 497 employees in Canada None of

our employees are represented by labor unions and we consider our employee relations to be good

AVAILABILITY OF COMMISSION FILINGS

We make available through the Investor Relations section of our website www.deluxe.com our annual reports on

Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports filed or furnished

pursuant to section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after these items are electronically

filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC These reports can also be accessed via the SEC

website www.sec.gov or via the SECs Public Reference Room located at 100 Street N.E Washington D.C 20549

Information concerning the operation of the SEC Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling -800-SEC-0330

printed copy of this report may be obtained without charge by calling 651-787-1068 by sending written request to

the attention of Investor Relations Deluxe Corporation P.O Box 64235 St Paul Minnesota 55 164-0235 or by sending an

email request to investorrelations @deluxe.com

CODE OF ETHICS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

We have adopted Code of Ethics and Business Conduct which applies to all of our employees and our board of

directors The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct is available in the Investor Relations section of our website

www.deluxe.com and also can be obtained free of charge upon written request to the attention of Investor Relations Deluxe

Corporation P.O Box 64235 St Paul Minnesota 55 164-0235 Any changes or waivers of the Code of Ethics and Business
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Conduct will be disclosed on our website In addition our Corporate Governance Guidelines and the charters of the Audit

Compensation Corporate Governance and Finance Committees of our board of directors are available on our website or upon
written request

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our executive officers are elected by the board of directors each year The following summarizes our executive

officers and their positions

Executive

Name Age Present Position Officer Since

Anthony Scarfone 2000

Terry Peterson 2005

Lynn Koldenhoven 2006

Lee Schram 2006

Pete Godich 2008

Julie Loosbrock 2008

Malcolm McRoberts 2008

Tom Morefield 2008

Laura Radewald 2008

48 Senior Vice President General Counsel and Secretary

45 Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

43 Vice President Sales and Marketing Direct-to-Consumer

48 Chief Executive Officer

45 Vice President Fulfillment

50 Senior Vice President Human Resources

45 Senior Vice President Chief Information Officer

47 Senior Vice President President of Financial Services

49 Vice President Enterprise Brand Customer Experience and

Media Relations

Segment Leader Small Business ServicesJoanne McGowan 53 2009

Anthony Scarfone joined us in September 2000 as senior vice president general counsel and secretary

Terry Peterson was named senior vice president chief financial officer in November 2009 Mr Peterson served as

chief accounting officer from March 2005 to October 2009 From October 2006 through October 2009 Mr Peterson also

served as vice president of investor relations From May 2006 to September 2006 Mr Peterson served as interim chief

financial officer Mr Peterson joined us in September 2004 and served as director of internal audit until March 2005 when he

was named chief accounting officer

Lynn Koldenhoven was named vice president sales and marketing direct-to-consumer in October 2006 Prior to this

Ms Koldenhoven held variety of positions within Direct Checks including interim vice president from February 2006 to

October 2006 and executive director of marketing from March 2004 to January 2006

Lee Schram joined us as chief executive officer in May 2006 From March 2003 to April 2006 Mr Schram served as

senior vice president of the Retail Solutions Division of NCR Corporation NCR leading global technology company

Pete Godich was named vice president fulfillment in May 2008 From December 2006 to May 2008 Mr Godich was

vice president of marketing and sales operations From April 2006 to December 2006 Mr Godich was vice president of

supply chain Prior to this Mr Godich served as vice president customer care from March 2003 to April 2006

Julie Loosbrock was named senior vice president human resources in September 2008 Prior to this Ms Loosbrock

held several leadership positions within human resources most recently serving as vice president human resources

strategic business partners from September 2003 to September 2008

Malcolm McRoberts joined us as senior vice president chief information officer in May 2008 Prior to this Mr
McRoberts held variety of leadership positions at NCR including vice president of operations for the retail hospitality and

self-service division from August 2004 to May 2008

Tom Morefield was named senior vice president president of financial services in September 2008 Prior to this Mr
Morefield served as vice president sales and customer channels from November 2006 to September 2008 and vice president

sales and sales support from March 2004 to November 2006
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Laura Radewald was named vice president enterprise brand customer experience and media relations in September

2008 Ms Radewald joined us in October 2007 and served as vice president enterprise brand until September 2008 From

November 2005 to September 2007 Ms Radewald operated her own marketing consulting practice From November 2001 to

November 2005 she served as vice president of marketing for Myriad Development Inc software company that provides

underwriting automation and intelligence solutions to the property and casualty government and mortgage markets

Joanne McGowan was named segment leader of Small Business Services in March 2009 Ms McGowan is not our

employee but serves Deluxe as consultant and is an owner and partner of Aveus global strategy and operational change

consulting firm Ms McGowan served as interim small business segment leader from October 2008 to March 2009 She

came to Deluxe in May 2007 first assisting with strategy development and then serving as interim vice president of product

until September 2008 Ms McGowan has been with Aveus since January 2006 From January 1992 until December 2005

Ms McGowan operated her own management consulting practice focusing on strategic marketing and channel issues

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our business consolidated results of operations financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected by

various risks and uncertainties These risks include but are not limited to the principal factors listed below and the other

matters set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently believe

are immaterial may also adversely affect our business results of operations financial condition and cash flows You should

carefully consider all of these risks and uncertainties before investing in our common stock

The following important factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from the statements we make from time

to time regarding our future results including but not limited to forecasts regarding estimated revenue earnings per share or

cash provided by operating activities Any forecast regarding our future performance reflects various assumptions which are

subject to significant uncertainties and as matter of course may prove to be incorrect Further the achievement of any forecast

depends on numerous factors which are beyond our control Consequently no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed and

the variation from such statements may be material and adverse You are cautioned not to base your entire analysis of our

business and prospects upon isolated statements and are encouraged to use the entire mix of historical and forward-looking

information made available by us and other information affecting us and our products and services including the following

factors

Weak economic conditions and turmoil in the financial services industry could continue to have an adverse effect on our

operating results

Beginning in 2008 global financial markets experienced disruption including among other issues volatility in security

prices severely diminished liquidity and credit availability ratings downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations

of other investments Governments took unprecedented actions intended to address the extreme market conditions These

economic developments adversely affected businesses like ours in number of ways during 2009 The rate of small business

formations small business confidence consumer spending and employment levels all have an impact on our businesses Below

average small business optimism and decline in small business formations negatively impacted our results of operations in

Small Business Services in 2009 Small businesses typically have more limited budgets and are more likely to be significantly

affected by economic downturns than larger more established companies During economic downturns small businesses may

choose to spend their limited funds on items other than our products and services Consumer spending and employment levels

also trended negatively during 2009 resulting in some negative impact in our personal check businesses We cannot predict

whether these negative economic trends will improve or worsen in the near future continued downturn in general economic

conditions could result in additional declines in our revenue and profitability In addition our committed line of credit is

scheduled to expire in July 2010 As we negotiate replacement line of credit the current unfavorable credit environment and

our current credit profile will result in higher interest rates and/or terms which are not as favorable to us as our existing line of

credit agreement

As result of global economic conditions number of financial institutions sought additional capital merged with other

financial institutions and in some cases failed This turmoil in the financial services industry affected and may continue to

affect our results of operations in number of ways Our experience indicates that financial institution failures and consolidation

of companies within the financial services industry have caused some larger financial institutions to lose customers This reduces

our order volume when those customers move their accounts to financial institutions that are not our clients or they reduce or
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delay their check purchases The failure of one or more of our larger financial institution clients or large portions of our

customer base could adversely affect our operating results In addition to the possibility of losing significant client the

inability to recover contract acquisition costs paid to one or more of our larger financial institution clients or the inability to

collect accounts receivable or contractually required contract termination payments from these financial institution clients could

have significant negative impact on our results of operations Also there may be an increase in financial institution mergers

and acquisitions during this period of economic uncertainty Such an increase could adversely affect our operating results Often

the newly combined entity seeks to reduce costs by leveraging economies of scale in purchasing including its check supply

contracts This results in check providers competing intensely on price in order to retain not only their previous business with

one of the financial institutions but also to gain the business of the other party in the merger/acquisition Financial institution

mergers and acquisitions can also impact the duration of our contracts Normally the length of our contracts with financial

institutions ranges from four to six years However contracts may be renegotiated or bought out mid-term due to consolidation

of financial institutions Although we devote considerable effort toward the development of competitively-priced high-quality

suite of products and services for the financial services industry there can be no assurance that significant financial institution

clients will be retained or that the impact of the loss of significant client can be offset through the addition of new clients or by

expanded sales to our remaining clients

The severity and length of the present disruptions in the financial markets and the financial services industry as well as

the length of the recession in the global economy are unknown There can be no assurance that there will not be further

deterioration in financial markets and in general business conditions which could continue to negatively affect our operating

We may not be successful at implementing our growth strategies within Small Business Seiices

We continue to execute strategies intended to drive sustained revenue and earnings growth within Small Business

Services We are continuing to invest in several key enablers to achieve our strategies including continuing to improve our

commerce capabilities implementing an integrated platform for our various brands improving our customer analytics focusing

on key customer segments and improving our merchandising We expect to drive growth as we gain new customers grow our

distributor channel and obtain greater portion of our revenue from business services including web design hosting and other

web services payroll logo design search engine marketing and business networking All of these initiatives have required and

will continue to require investment Business economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies many of which are

beyond our control may impact the success of our growth strategies We can provide no assurance that our growth strategies

will be successful either in the short-term or the long-term and result in positive return on our investment

We face intense competition in all areas of our business

Although we are one of the leading check printers in the United States we face considerable competition In addition to

competition from alternative payment methods we also face intense competition from another check printer in our traditional

financial institution sales channel from direct mail sellers of personal checks from sellers of business checks and forms from

check printing software vendors and from internet-based sellers of checks to individuals and small businesses Additionally low

price high volume office supply chain stores offer standardized business forms checks and related products to small businesses

Our business services offerings also face intense competition We can provide no assurance that we will be able to compete

effectively against current and future competitors Continued competition could result in additional price reductions reduced

profit margins loss of customers and an increase in up-front cash payments to financial institutions upon contract execution or

renewal all of which would have material adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows

Small Business Services standardized business forms and related products face technological obsolescence and

changing customer preferences

Continual technological improvements provide small business customers with alternative means to enact and record

business transactions For example because of the lower price and higher performance capabilities of personal computers and

related printers small businesses now have an alternate means to print many business forms Additionally electronic transaction

systems and off-the-shelf business software applications have been designed to replace pre-printed business forms products If

small business preferences change rapidly and we are unable to develop new products and services with comparable profit

margins our results of operations could be adversely affected
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The check printing portion of the payments industry is mature and if check usage declines faster than expected it could

have material adverse impact on our operating results

Check printing is and is expected to continue to be an essential part of our business We sell checks for personal and

small business use and believe that there will continue to be substantial demand for these checks for the foreseeable future

However the total number of checks written in the United States has been in decline since the mid- 1990s According to our

estimates the total number of checks written by individuals and small businesses has been declining approximately four to six

percent each year The declines were greater in 2009 and 2008 we believe due to the economic recession and instability in the

financial services industry We believe that the number of checks written will continue to decline due to the increasing use of

alternative payment methods including credit cards debit cards automated teller machines direct deposit and electronic and

other bill paying services However the rate and the extent to which alternative payment methods will achieve acceptance
and

replace checks whether as result of legislative developments personal preference or otherwise cannot be predicted with

certainty surge
in the popularity of any of these alternative payment methods or our inability to successfully offset the

decline in check usage with other sources of revenue could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations

and prospects

The failure to reduce costs could have an adverse impact on our operating results

Intense competition compels us to continually improve our operating efficiency in order to maintain or improve

profitability We intend to continue to reduce expenses primarily within sales marketing and our shared services functions

including fulfillment information technology real estate finance and human resources We also expect to continue to simplify

our business processes and reduce our cost and expense structure These initiatives have required and will continue to require

up-front expenditures related to items such as redesigning and streamlining processes consolidating information technology

platforms standardizing technology applications improving real estate utilization and funding employee severance benefits We

can provide no assurance that we will achieve our anticipated cost reductions or that we will do so without incurring unexpected

or greater than anticipated expenditures Moreover we may find that we are unable to achieve our business simplification and

cost reduction goals without disruption to our business and as result may choose to delay or forego certain cost reductions as

business conditions require Failure to meet our planned cost reduction targets would adversely affect our results of operations

and could adversely affect our prospects if we are unable to remain competitive

Continued weak economic conditions could result in additional asset impairment charges

Declines in our stock price as well as the impact of the economic downturn on our expected operating results led to asset

impairment charges in 2009 related to goodwill and an indefinite-lived trade name in our Small Business Services segment If

our stock price declines in the future for sustained period or if continued downturn in economic conditions continues to

negatively affect our actual and forecasted operating results it may be indicative of further decline in our fair value and may

require us to record an impairment charge for portion of goodwill and/or our indefinite-lived trade name The credit agreement

governing our committed line of credit requires us to maintain ratio of earnings before interest and taxes to interest expense of

3.0 times as measured quarterly on an aggregate basis for the preceding four quarters Significant impairment charges in the

future could impact our ability to comply with this debt covenant in which case our lenders could demand immediate

repayment of amounts outstanding under our line of credit Although we remained in compliance with this debt covenant

throughout 2009 despite asset impairment charges of $24.9 million we cannot provide definitive assurance regarding our

continued compliance with this debt covenant Our committed line of credit expires in July 2010 We expect that we will replace

this line of credit well in advance of its expiration date Any new line of credit agreement will likely contain revised debt

covenants

Continued softness in direct mail response rates could have an adverse impact on our operating results

Our Direct Checks segment and portions of our Small Business Services segment have at times experienced declines in

response rates related to direct mail promotional materials While we believe that media response rates have declined across

wide variety of products and services we believe that declines we have experienced in the past are also attributable to the

decline in check usage the gradual obsolescence of standardized forms products and increasing utilization of e-commerce by

both consumers and small businesses In an attempt to offset these impacts we continually modify our marketing and sales

efforts and have recently shifted greater portion of our advertising investment to the internet Competitive pressure may inhibit

our ability to reflect increased costs in the prices of our products and new marketing strategies may not be successful We can

provide no assurance that we will be able to offset the decline in response rates even with additional marketing and sales efforts
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The inability to secure adequate advertising placements could have an adverse impact on our operating results

The profitability of our Direct Checks segment depends in large part on our ability to secure adequate advertising media

placements at acceptable rates We can provide no assurance regarding the future cost effectiveness and/or availability of

suitable advertising media In addition future legislation could affect our ability to advertise via direct mail or e-mail Congress
enacted federal Do Not Call registry in response to consumer backlash against telemarketers and is contemplating enacting

anti-spam legislation in response to consumer complaints about unsolicited e-mail advertisements If anti-spam legislation is

enacted and/or if similar legislation is enacted for direct mail advertisers we may be unable to sustain our current levels of

profitability

In addition to print advertising many customers access our websites through internet search engines Search engines

typically provide two types of search results algorithmic and purchased listings Algorithmic listings cannot be purchased but

are determined and displayed solely by set of formulas designed by the search engine Purchased listings can be bought to

attract users to our websites We rely on both algorithmic and purchased listings to attract customers to our websites Search

engines revise their algorithms from time to time in an attempt to optimize their search results If search engines on which we
rely for algorithmic listings modify their algorithms this could result in fewer customers going to our websites Additionally
one or more search engine on which we rely for purchased listings could modify their policies in manner which negatively

impacts the effectiveness of our internet advertising As we analyze our overall advertising strategy we may have to resort to

more costly resources to replace lost internet traffic which would adversely affect our results of operations In addition the cost

of purchased search engine listings could increase as demand for them continues to grow and further cost increases could

negatively affect our profitability

We face uncertainty regarding the success of recent and future acquisitions which could have an adverse impact on our

operating results

During 2009 we acquired Abacus America Inc wholly-owned subsidiary of Aplus Holdings Inc as well as

MerchEngines.com During 2008 we acquired Hostopia.com Inc PartnerUp Inc and Logo Design Mojo Inc These

acquisitions were completed with the intention of increasing sales of higher growth business services The integration of
any

acquisition involves numerous risks including difficulties in assimilating operations and products failure to realize expected

synergies diversion of managements attention from other business concerns potential loss of key employees potential

exposure to unknown liabilities and possible loss of our clients and customers or the clients and customers of the acquired
businesses One or more of these factors could impact our ability to successfully integrate an acquisition and could negatively
affect our results of operations

In regard to future acquisitions we cannot predict whether suitable acquisition candidates can be acquired on acceptable
terms or whether any acquired products technologies or businesses will contribute to our revenue or earnings to any material

extent Significant acquisitions typically result in additional contingent liabilities or debt and/or additional amortization expense
related to acquired intangible assets and thus could adversely affect our business results of operations and financial condition

The cost and availability of materials delivery services and energy could adversely affect our operating results

We are subject to risks associated with the cost and availability of paper plastics ink other raw materials delivery
services and energy Postal rates increased in each of the last three years and fuel costs have fluctuated over the past several

years Additionally there are relatively few paper suppliers As such when our suppliers increase paper prices as they did in

2009 we may not be able to obtain better pricing from alternative suppliers Competitive pressures and/or contractual

arrangements may inhibit our ability to reflect increased costs in the price of our products

Paper costs represent significant portion of our materials cost Historically we have not been negatively impacted by

paper shortages because of our relationships with
paper suppliers However we can provide no assurance that we will be able to

purchase sufficient quantities of paper if such shortage were to occur Additionally we depend upon third party providers for

delivery services Events resulting in the inability of these service providers to perform their obligations such as extended labor

strikes could adversely impact our results of operations by requiring us to secure alternate providers at higher costs
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Security breaches involving customer data or the perception that c-commerce is not secure could adversely affect our

reputation and business

We rely on various security procedures and systems to ensure the secure storage and transmission of data Computer

networks and the internet are by nature vulnerable to unauthorized access An accidental or willful security breach could result

in unauthorized access and/or use of customer data including consumers nonpublic personal information Our security

measures could be breached by third-party action employee error or malfeasance or design flaws in our systems
could be

exposed and exploited Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and

generally are not recognized until they are launched against target we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to

implement adequate preventative measures If third party obtains unauthorized access to any
of our customers data our

reputation could be damaged clients and consumers could be deterred from ordering our products and services and client

contracts could be terminated We could also be exposed to time-consuming and expensive litigation If we are unsuccessful in

defending lawsuit regarding security breaches we may be forced to pay damages which could have an adverse affect on our

operating results In addition some states have enacted laws requiring companies to notify individuals of data security breaches

involving their personal data These mandatory disclosures regarding security breach often lead to widespread negative

publicity If we were required to make such disclosure it may cause our clients and customers to lose confidence in the

effectiveness of our data security measures Likewise general publicity regarding security breaches at other companies could

lead to the perception among the general public that c-commerce is not secure This could decrease traffic to our websites and

foreclose future business opportunities

Interruptions to our website operations or information technology systems could damage our reputation and harm our

business

The satisfactory performance reliability and availability of our information technology systems is critical to our

reputation and our ability to attract and retain customers We could experience temporary interruptions in our websites

transaction processing systems network infrastructure printing production facilities or customer service operations for variety

of reasons including human error software errors power loss telecommunications failures fire flood extreme weather and

other events beyond our control In addition our technology infrastructure and processes may contain undetected errors or

design faults which may cause our websites or operating systems to fail The failure of our systems could adversely affect our

business results of operations and prospects

Declines in the equity markets could affect the value of our postretirement benefit plan assets which could adversely

affect our operating results and cash flows

The fair value of the assets of our postretirement benefit plan is subject to various risks including credit interest and

overall market volatility risks During 2008 the equity markets experienced significant decline in value resulting in

significant decrease in the fair value of our plan assets This materially affected the funded status of the plan and resulted in

higher postretirement benefit expense in 2009 Although our obligation is limited to funding benefits as they become payable

declines in the fair value of these assets would result in further expense increases as well as the need to contribute increased

amounts of cash to fund benefits payable under the plan

We may be unable to maintain our licenses to use third party intellectual property on favorable terms which would affect

our ability to offer licensed products to our customers and thus adversely affect our operating results

Check designs licensed from third parties account for portion of our revenue These license agreements generally

average three years in duration There can be no guarantee that such licenses will be available to us indefinitely or under terms

that would allow us to continue to sell the licensed products profitably which would adversely impact our results of operations

If we are unable to attract and retain key personnel and other qualified employees our business could suffer

Our success at efforts to grow our business depends on the contributions and abilities of key employees especially in the

areas of sales marketing and product management If we are unable to retain our existing employees and attract qualified

personnel we may not be able to manage our business effectively We can provide no assurance that we will be successful in

attracting and retaining such personnel
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We may be unable to protect our rights in intellectual property which could harm our business and ability to compete

We rely on combination of trademark and copyright laws trade secret and patent protection and confidentiality and

license agreements to protect our trademarks software and other intellectual property These measures afford only limited

protection Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property third parties may infringe or misappropriate our intellectual

property or otherwise independently develop substantially equivalent products and services which do not infringe on our

intellectual property rights We may be required to spend significant resources to protect our trade secrets and to monitor and

police our intellectual property rights The loss of intellectual property protection or the inability to secure or enforce intellectual

property protection could harm our business and ability to compete

If third party providers of certain significant information technology needs are unable to provide services our business

could be disrupted and the cost of such services could increase

We have entered into agreements with third party providers for information technology services including

telecommunications and network server and transaction processing services In the event that one or more of these providers is

not able to provide adequate or timely information technology services we could be adversely affected Although we believe

that information technology services are available from numerous sources failure to perform by one or more of our service

providers could cause disruption in our business while we obtain an alternative source of supply In addition the use of

substitute third party providers could result in increased expense

Legislation relating to consumer privacy protection could limit or harm our business

We are subject to regulations implementing the privacy and information security requirements of the federal financial

modernization law known as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and other federal regulation and state law on the same subject

These laws and regulations require us to develop implement and maintain policies and procedures to protect the security and

confidentiality of consumers nonpublic personal information We are also subject to additional requirements in certain of our

contracts with financial institution clients which are often more restrictive than the regulations These regulations and

agreements limit our ability to use or disclose nonpublic personal information for other than the
purposes originally intended

which could limit business opportunities The complexity of compliance with these regulations may also increase the cost of

doing business

We are unable to predict whether more restrictive legislation or regulation will be adopted in the future Any future

legislation or regulation or the interpretation of existing legislation or regulation could have negative impact on our business

results of operations and prospects Laws and regulations relating to consumer privacy may be adopted in the future with respect
to the internet e-commerce or marketing practices Such laws or regulations may impede the growth of the internet and/or the

use of other sales or marketing vehicles For example new privacy laws could decrease traffic to our websites decrease

telemarketing opportunities and increase the cost of obtaining new customers

third party could assert that we are infringing its intellectual
property which could result in costly litigation or require

us to obtain licenses

The e-commerce industry is characterized by the existence of large number of patents trademarks and copyrights and

by increasing litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights Third parties may
assert patent and other intellectual

property infringement claims against us These claims whether successful or not could divert

managements attention result in costly and time-consuming litigation require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements
or require us to redesign our software or services to avoid infringement If we fail to obtain required license and are unable to

design around third partys patent we may be unable to effectively conduct certain business activities Consequently third

party intellectual property claims could result in increased expense or could limit our ability to generate revenue

We may be subject to sales and other taxes which could have an adverse effect on our business

In accordance with existing state and local tax laws we currently collect sales use or other similar taxes in state and local

jurisdictions where we have physical presence One or more state or local jurisdiction may seek to impose sales tax collection

obligations on out-of-state companies which engage in remote or online commerce Further tax law and the interpretation of

constitutional limitations thereon is subject to change In addition any new operations in states where we do not currently have

physical presence could subject shipments of goods by our direct-to-consumer businesses into such states to sales tax under
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current or future laws If one or more state or local jurisdiction successfully asserts that we should have collected sales or other

taxes in the past but did not or that we must collect sales or other taxes in the future beyond our current practices either

determination could have material adverse affect on our business

We are subject to environmental risks which if realized could have an adverse impact on our operating results

Our printing facilities are subject to many federal and state regulations designed to protect the environment We have sold

former printing facilities to third parties and in some instances have agreed to indemnify the buyer of the facility for certain

environmental liabilities Unforeseen conditions at current or former facilities could result in additional liability and expense

beyond our insurance coverage

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our principal executive office is an owned property located in Shoreview Minnesota Aside from small sales offices

we occupy 26 facilities throughout the United States and five facilities in Canada where we conduct printing and fulfillment

call center and administrative functions These facilities are either owned or leased and have combined floor space of

approximately 2.5 million square feet We believe that our properties are sufficiently maintained and are adequate and

suitable for our business needs as presently conducted

Item Legal Proceedings

We record provisions with respect to identified claims or lawsuits when it is probable that liability has been incurred

and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated Claims and lawsuits are reviewed quarterly and provisions are taken

or adjusted to reflect the status of particular matter We believe the recorded reserves in our consolidated financial

statements are adequate in light of the probable and estimable outcomes Recorded liabilities were not material to our

financial position results of operations or liquidity and we do not believe that
any

of the currently identified claims or

litigation will materially affect our financial position results of operations or liquidity

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

None
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol DLX Dividends are declared by our

board of directors on current basis and therefore may be subject to change in the future although we currently have no

plans to change our $0.25 per share quarterly dividend amount As of December 31 2009 the number of shareholders of

record was 7876 The table below shows the
per

share closing price ranges of our common stock for the past two fiscal years

as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange as well as the quarterly dividend amount for each period

Stock price

Dividend High Low Close

2009

Quarter 0.25 17.48 12.57 14.79

Quarter3 0.25 18.11 12.10 17.10

Quarter 0.25 15.88 9.15 12.81

11 A7
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2008

Quarter 0.25 15.70 7.52 14.96

Quarter 0.25 19.59 12.01 14.39

Quarter 0.25 24.51 17.66 17.82

Quarter 0.25 33.20 18.72 19.21

In August 2003 our board of directors approved an authorization to purchase up to 10 million shares of our common

stock This authorization has no expiration date and 6.4 million shares remain available for purchase under this authorization

We did not repurchase any shares during the fourth quarter of 2009

While not considered repurchases of shares we do at times withhold shares that would otherwise be issued under equity

based awards to cover the withholding taxes due as result of the exercise or vesting of such awards During the fourth quarter

of 2009 we withheld 1248 shares in conjunction with the vesting and exercise of equity-based awards

Absent certain defined events of default under our debt instruments and as long as our ratio of earnings before

interest taxes depreciation and amortization to interest expense is in excess of two to one our debt covenants do not restrict

us from paying cash dividends at our current rate
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The table below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock for the last five fiscal years

with the cumulative total return of the SP 400 MidCap Index and the Dow Jones Support Services DJUSIS Index

$150
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$50

$0

Comparison of Year Cumulative Total Return

Assumes Initial Investment of $100

December 2009

4- Deluxe Corporation SP tvdcap 400 Index DowJonesUSSupportSer\ces Index

The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31 2004 in each of Deluxe common stock the SP 400 MidCap

Index and the DJUSIS Index and that all dividends were reinvested

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following table shows certain selected financial data for the five years ended December 31 2009 This

information should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations appearing in Item of this report and our consolidated financial statements appearing in Item of this report

dollars and orders in thousands except per share and

per order amounts 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Statement of Income Data

Revenue 1344195 1468662 1588885 1619337 1694246
As percentage of revenue

Gross profit 62.4% 1.4% 63.8% 62.9% 64.9%

Selling general and administrative expense 45.9% 45.7% 46.8% 47.6% 47.0%

Operating income 14.2% 14.2% 17.0% 12.3% 18.0%

Operating income 190589 209234 269904 198544 304328

Income from continuing operations 99365 105872 145117 100838 157943

Pershare_basicW 1.94 2.06 2.79 1.96 3.11

Pershare_dilutedW 1.94 2.05 2.78 1.95 3.10

Cash dividends per share 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.30 1.60

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 12789 15590 21615 11599 6867
Return on average assets 8.2% 8.4% 11.6% 7.5% 10.8%

Total assets 1211210 1218985 1210755 1267132 1425875

Long-term obIigations2 742753 775336 776840 903121 954164
Total debt 768753 853336 844040 1015781 1166510

Statement of Cash Flows Data

Net cash provided by operating activities of

continuing operations 206438 198487 245075 238895 178591

Net cash used by investing activities of

continuing operations 81788 135773 10929 32884 55834
Net cash used by financing activities of

continuing operations 128545 67681 224890 204587 142816
Purchases of capital assets 44266 31865 32286 41012 55570
Payments for acquisitions net of cash acquired 30825 104879 2316 16521 2888
Payments for common shares repurchased 1319 21847 11288

Other Data continuing operations

Orders3 59174 62823 64753 64670 65070

Revenue per
order3 22.72 23.38 24.54 25.04 26.04

Number of employees 6089 7172 7910 8728 8617
Number of printing/fulfillment facilities 14 21 22 23 20

Number of call center facilities 12 14 14 17 18

On January 2009 we adopted authoritative guidance requiring earnings per share to be calculated using the two-class method when there are unvested

share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable
rights to dividends or dividend equivalent payments As result we have restated earnings per share

for prior years to comply with this new guidance

Long-term obligations include both the current and long-term portions of our long-term debt obligations including capital leases

Orders is our company-wide measure of volume When portions of customer order are on back-order one customer order may be fulfilled via multiple

shipments Generally an order is counted when the last item ordered is shipped to the customer
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Our business is organized into three segments Small Business Services Financial Services and Direct Checks Our

Small Business Services segment generated 58.4% of our consolidated revenue for 2009 This segment has sold personalized

printed products which include business checks printed forms promotional products marketing materials and related

services as well as retail packaging supplies and suite of business services including web design and hosting fraud

protection payroll logo design search engine marketing and business networking to approximately 3.6 million small

businesses in the last 24 months These products and services are sold through direct response marketing referrals from

financial institutions and telecommunications companies independent distributors and dealers the internet and sales

representatives Our Financial Services segment generated 29.5% of our consolidated revenue for 2009 This segment sells

personal and business checks check-related products and services customer loyalty and retention programs fraud

monitoring and protection services and stored value gift cards to approximately 6400 financial institution clients nationwide

including banks credit unions and financial services companies primarily through direct sales force Our Direct Checks

segment generated 12.1 of our consolidated revenue for 2009 This segment is the nations leading direct-to-consumer

check supplier selling under the Checks Unlimited Designer Checks and Checks.com brand names Through these

brands we sell personal and business checks and related products and services directly to consumers using direct response

marketing and the internet We operate primarily in the United States Small Business Services also has operations in Canada

and Europe

Our business continued to be negatively impacted during 2009 by the severe downturn in the economy and by turmoil

in the financial services industry Demand fell for many of our Small Business Services products as small business owners

reduced their discretionary spending Additionally interruptions and consumer uncertainty related to financial institution

consolidations and failures have led to reduced check orders from several of our financial institution clients At the same

time we accelerated many of our cost reduction actions and we identified additional opportunities to improve our cost

structure We believe we have taken appropriate steps to position ourselves for sustainable growth as the economy recovers

including investing in acquisitions that offer higher growth business services enhancing our internet capabilities improving

customer segmentation and adding new small business customers We are focused on capitalizing on transformational

opportunities available to us in this difficult environment and believe that we will be positioned to consistently deliver strong

margins once the economy recovers

Our net income for 2009 as compared to 2008 benefited from the following

Various initiatives to reduce our cost structure primarily within sales and marketing manufacturing and

information technology

decrease of $15.2 million in restructuring and related costs in 2009 as compared to 2008

Pre-tax gains of $9.8 million from the retirement of long-term notes

Price increases implemented by all three segments and

Increased sales of fraud protection services by Small Business Services and Direct Checks

These benefits were more than offset by the following

Lower volume in Small Business Services due primarily to changes in our customers buying patterns we

believe as result of the economic recession

Reduced volume for our personal check businesses due to the continuing decline in check usage turmoil in the

financial services industry including higher number of bank failures and continued economic softness

An increase of approximately $18 million in performance-based compensation expense because our 2009

results of operations were within the range of performance metrics established for the year

Asset impairment charges of $24.9 million within Small Business Services related to goodwill and an

indefinite-lived trade name as compared to asset impairment charges of $9.9 million in 2008 related to Small

Business Services trade names

Increases in material prices and delivery rates and

Transaction costs of $2.5 million related to acquisitions completed in 2009 primarily costs to migrate

customers of the acquired companies onto our information technology platform
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Our Strategies

Small Business Services Our focus within Small Business Services is to grow revenue and increase operating margin
by continuing to implement the following strategies

Acquire new customers by leveraging customer referrals that we receive from Financial Services financial

institution clients and Hostopias telecommunications clients as well as from other marketing initiatives such as

commerce and direct mail

Increase our share of the amount small businesses spend on the products and services in our portfolio through

improved segmentation

Expand sales of higher growth business services including web design hosting and other web services fraud

protection payroll logo design search engine marketing and business networking as well as areas such as full

color web-to-print and imaging and

Continue to optimize our cost and expense structure

We are continuing to invest in several key enablers to achieve our strategies and reposition Small Business Services as

not just provider of printed products but also provider of higher growth business services These key enablers include

continuing to improve our e-commerce capabilities implementing an integrated platform for our various brands improving
our customer analytics focusing on key customer segments and improving our merchandising We have refreshed our

existing product offerings and have improved some of our newer service offerings which we believe creates more valuable

suite of products and services We have also identified opportunities to expand sales to our existing customers and to acquire
new customers Our improved e-commerce platform www.Deluxe.com\ShopDeluxe increases our opportunities to market

and sell on-line Also important to our growth are the small business customer referrals we receive through our Deluxe
Business Advantage program which provides fast and simple way for financial institutions to offer expanded personalized
service to small businesses Our relationships with financial institutions are important in helping us more deeply serve

customer segments such as contractors retailers and professional services firms

We have acquired companies which allow us to expand our business services offerings including web design hosting
and other web services logo design search engine marketing and business networking In August 2008 we acquired

Hostopia.com Inc Hostopia in cash transaction for $99.4 million net of cash acquired Hostopia is provider of web
services that enable small businesses to establish and maintain an internet

presence Hostopia also provides email marketing
fax-to-email mobility synchronization and other services It provides unified scaleable web-enabled platform that better

positions us to obtain orders for wider variety of products including checks forms business cards and full-color digital

and web-to-print offerings as well as imaging and other printed products Hostopia operates in the United States Canada and

Europe Also during 2008 we acquired the assets of PartnerUp Inc PartnerUp Logo Design Mojo Inc Logo Mojo and

Yoffi Digital Press Yoffi for an aggregate cash amount of $5.5 million PartnerUp is an online community that is designed
to connect small businesses and entrepreneurs with resources and contacts to build their businesses Logo Mojo is

Canadian-based online logo design firm and Yoffi is commercial digital printer specializing in custom marketing material

During 2009 we acquired Abacus America Inc wholly-owned subsidiary of Aplus Holdings Inc to expand our web
services customer base We also acquired MerchEngines.com which added new search engine marketing capabilities The

companies acquired during 2009 were purchased for an aggregate cash amount of $30.8 million net of cash acquired

Financial Services Our strategies within Financial Services are as follows

Optimize core check revenue streams and acquire new clients

Provide services and products that differentiate us from the competition by helping financial institutions grow core

deposits and

Continue to optimize our cost and
expense structure

We will continue our focus on acquiring new clients during 2010 We are also leveraging our loyalty retention and
fraud monitoring and protection offers as well as our Deluxe Business Advantage program The Deluxe Business Advantage

program is designed to maximize financial institution business check programs by offering the products and services of our
Small Business Services segment to small businesses through number of service level options The revenue from the

products and services sold through this program is reflected in our Small Business Services segment
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In our efforts to expand beyond check-related products we have introduced several services and products that focus on

customer loyalty and retention as well as fraud monitoring and protection Following are some examples

Deluxe ID TheftBlock set of fraud monitoring and recovery
services that provides assistance to consumers in

detecting and recovering from identity theft

Welcome HomeSM Tool Kit starttofinish package for financial institution branch offices that captures best

practices for securing lasting loyalty among customers by focusing on the first 90 days of the relationship

Deluxe CallingSM an outbound calling program aimed at helping financial institutions generate new organic

revenue growth and reduce attrition

REALCheckingTM program system of deposit products including reward checking programs that drives non-

interest income attracts new account holders and increases retention for community financial institutions We offer

this suite of products to our clients through partnership with BancVue Ltd which began in early 2010

Marketing solutions variety of strategic and tactical marketing solutions which help financial institutions

acquire new customers deepen existing customer relationships and retain customers

We expect providing products and services that differentiate us from the competition will help partially offset the

impacts of the decline in check usage
and the pricing pressures we are experiencing in our check programs As such we are

also focused on accelerating the pace at which we introduce new products and services In addition to our other value-added

services we continue to offer our Knowledge ExchangeTM Series suite of resources and events for our financial institution

clients focused on the customer experience

Direct Checks Our strategies within Direct Checks are as follows

Optimize cash flow

Maximize the lifetime value of customers by selling new features accessories and products and

Continue to optimize our cost and expense structure

We intend to optimize the cash flow generated by this segment by continuing to lower our cost and expense structure

in all functional areas particularly in the areas of marketing and fulfillment We will continue to actively market our products

and services through targeted advertising We have been and will continue to focus greater portion of our advertising

investment on e-commerce Additionally we continue to explore avenues to increase sales to existing customers For

example we have had success with the EZShie1dTM product check protection service that provides reimbursement to

consumers for losses resulting from forged signatures or endorsements and altered checks

Cost Reduction Initiatives

We have been pursuing aggressive cost reduction and business simplification initiatives including reducing shared

services infrastructure costs streamlining our call center and fulfillment activities eliminating system and work stream

redundancies reducing advertising costs and strengthening our ability to quickly develop new products and services and

bring them to market We have been reducing stock-keeping units SKUs standardizing products and services and

improving the sourcing of third-party goods and services During 2009 we closed seven manufacturing facilities and two

customer call centers During 2008 we closed one manufacturing facility and one customer call center and we closed one

customer call center during 2007 We plan to close one additional customer call center by the end of the first quarter of 2010

These and other actions since 2006 collectively are expected to reduce our annual cost structure by at least $325 million net

of required investments by the end of 2010 The baseline for these anticipated savings is the annual diluted earnings per

share guidance for 2006 of $1.41 to $1.51 which we provided in our press release on July 27 2006 regarding second quarter

2006 results We expect all three of our business segments to benefit from the cost reductions We estimate that

approximately 45% of the $325 million target will come from reorganizing our sales and marketing functions and that

another 30% of the target will come from our shared services infrastructure organizations of information technology real

estate finance and human resources We expect information technology will provide the greatest percentage of the shared

services savings through lowering data center costs improving mainframe and server utilization and reducing the cost of

networking and voice communications We also estimate that approximately 25% of the $325 million target will come from

fulfillment including manufacturing and supply chain Overall approximately one-third of the savings are expected to affect

cost of goods sold with the remaining two-thirds impacting selling general and administrative SGA expense
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Through December 31 2009 we estimate that we have realized approximately $260 million of our $325 million

target We anticipate that we will realize the remaining $65 million in 2010

Outlook for 2010

We anticipate that consolidated revenue from continuing operations will be between $1 .275 billion and $1 .335 billion for

2010 as compared to $1344 billion for 2009 In Small Business Services we expect the revenue decline percentage to be in the

low single digits to flat range as declines in core business products are expected to be offset by the benefits of our e-commerce

investments and growth in business services offerings including 2009 acquisitions In Financial Services we expect check order

declines of approximately seven to eight percent compared to 2009 given the continued turmoil in the financial services

industry including higher number of bank failures as well as increases in electronic payments and the weak economy We
expect the related revenue pressure in Financial Services will be partially offset by price increase implemented in the third

quarter of 2009 as well as continued contributions from our loyalty retention and fraud monitoring and protection offers We
have reached an agreement with new national financial institution client which we expect will begin generating revenue in the

last half of 2010 In December 2009 we also executed contract settlement agreement with another national financial institution

client which was acquired by another financial institution We currently estimate that we will continue providing products under

this contract through June 2010 We do not anticipate that the net impact of this client gain and client loss will have significant

impact on our results of operations In Direct Checks we expect the revenue decline percentage to be in the
very

low double

digit to very high single digit range compared to 2009 driven by the decline in check usage and the weak economy partly offset

by improved reorder cycles

We expect that 2010 diluted earnings per share will be between $2.35 and $2.65 compared to $1.94 for 2009 Earnings

per share for 2009 included $0.50 per share impact of impairment charges restructuring and transaction-related costs and

gains on debt repurchases We expect that continued progress with our cost reduction initiatives will be offset by the revenue

decline continued investments in revenue growth opportunities and increases in material and delivery rates Our outlook reflects

merit wage freeze in 2010 leaving base salary levels consistent with 2009 We estimate that our annual effective tax rate for

2010 will be approximately 34% compared to 35.9% in 2009

We anticipate that net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations will be between $180 million and

$200 million in 2010 compared to $206 million in 2009 We anticipate that higher performance-based compensation payments
in 2010 will be partly offset by higher earnings continued progress on working capital initiatives and lower contract acquisition

payments We estimate that capital spending will be approximately $40 million in 2010 as we continue to expand our use of

digital printing technology complete automation of our flat check packaging process and make other investments in order

fulfillment delivery productivity and information technology infrastructure

We believe our committed line of credit which expires in July 2010 along with cash generated by operating activities

and replacement line of credit will be sufficient to support our operations including capital expenditures small to medium-
sized acquisitions required debt service and dividend payments for the next 12 months We anticipate that we will replace our

existing committed line of credit well in advance of its July maturity date As we negotiate replacement line of credit the

current unfavorable credit environment and our current credit profile will result in higher interest rates and/or terms which are

not as favorable to us as our existing line of credit agreement Additionally based on our current credit profile we anticipate that

amounts borrowed under new line of credit agreement will be secured by certain of our assets

With no long-term debt maturities until 2012 we are focused on disciplined approach to capital deployment that

focuses on our need to continue investing in initiatives to drive revenue growth including small to medium-sizedacquisitions
We also anticipate that our board of directors will maintain our current dividend level However dividends are approved by the

board of directors on quarterly basis and thus are subject to change To the extent we have cash flow in excess of these

priorities our focus in 2010 will be on further reducing debt During 2009 we retired $31.2 million of long-term notes and we
re-paid $52.0 million borrowed under our committed line of credit
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BUSINESS CHALLENGES/MARKET RISKS

Market for checks and business forms

The market for our two largest products checks and business forms is very competitive These products are mature

and their use has been declining According to our estimates the total number of checks written in the United States has been

in decline as result of alternative payment methods including credit cards debit cards automated teller machines direct

deposit and electronic and other bill paying services According to Federal Reserve study released in December 2007

approximately 33 billion checks are written annually This includes checks which are converted to automated clearing house

ACH payments The check remains the largest single non-cash payment method in the United States accounting for

approximately 35% of all non-cash payment transactions This is reduction from the Federal Reserve study released in

December 2004 when checks accounted for approximately 45% of all non-cash payment transactions The Federal Reserve

estimates that checks written declined approximately four percent per year between 2003 and 2006 According to our

estimates the decline was greater in 2009 and 2008 we believe due to the economic recession and instability in the financial

services industry The total transaction volume of all electronic payment methods exceeds check payments and we expect

this to continue In addition to the decline in check usage the use of business forms is also under pressure Our previous

estimates indicated that the business check and forms portion of the markets serviced by Small Business Services was

declining at rate of four to six percent per year although we believe the decline was greater in 2009 due to the economic

recession Continual technological improvements provide small business customers with alternative means to enact and

record business transactions For example off-the-shelf business software applications and electronic transaction systems

have been designed to replace pre-printed business forms products

Financial institution clients

Because check usage is declining and financial institutions have been consolidating we have been encountering

significant pricing pressure
when negotiating contracts with our financial institution clients Our traditional financial

institution relationships are typically formalized through supply contracts averaging four to six years in duration As we

compete to retain and acquire new financial institution business the resulting pricing pressure combined with declining

check usage
in the marketplace has reduced our revenue and profit margins We expect this trend to continue

Continued turmoil in the financial services industry including further bank failures and consolidations could have

significant impact on our consolidated results of operations if we were to lose significant contract and/or we were

unable to recover the value of unamortized contract acquisition costs or accounts receivable As of December 31 2009

unamortized contract acquisition costs totaled $45.7 million while liabilities for contract acquisition costs not paid as of

December 31 2009 were $8.8 million The inability to recover amounts paid to one or more of our larger financial

institution clients could have significant negative impact on our consolidated results of operations Additionally if two

of our financial institution clients were to consolidate the increase in general negotiating leverage possessed by the

consolidated entity could result in new contract which is not as favorable to us as those historically negotiated with the

clients individually We may also lose significant business if one of our financial institution clients were taken over by

financial institution which is not one of our clients However in this situation we may be able to collect contract

termination payment Conversely further bank consolidations could positively impact our results of operations if we

were to obtain business from non-client financial institution that merges with one of our clients We may also generate

non-recurring conversion revenue when obsolete checks have to be replaced after one financial institution merges with or

acquires another We presently do not have specific information that indicates that we should expect to generate

significant income from conversions

Economic conditions

General economic conditions negatively impacted our 2009 results of operations The rate of small business formations

and small business confidence impact Small Business Services The index of small business optimism published by the National

Federation of Independent Business in December 2009 was up only slightly from the near-record low recorded in March 2009

According to estimates of the Small Business Administrations Office of Advocacy new small business formations were down

moderately in 2008 the most recent period for which information is available as compared to 2007 Consumer spending and

employment levels also have some impact on our personal check businesses Both measures trended negatively during 2009 and

we did experience some negative impact in our personal check businesses We expect that general economic conditions will
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continue to have negative impact on our 2010 results of operations continued downturn in general economic conditions

could result in additional declines in our revenue and profitability

Continued declines in our stock price as well as continuing negative impact of the economic downturn on our expected

operating results led to asset impairment charges in early 2009 related to goodwill and an indefinite-lived trade name in our

Small Business Services segment If our stock price declines in the future for sustained period or if we are required to reduce

our forecasted operating results because of continued downturn in economic conditions it may be indicative of further

decline in our fair value and could require us to record an impairment charge for portion of goodwill and/or our indefinite-lived

trade name For further information regarding the impairment analyses completed during 2009 see the goodwill and indefinite-

lived assets discussion under Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Consumer response rates to direct mail advertisements

Direct Checks and portions of Small Business Services have at times been impacted by reduced consumer response
rates to direct mail advertisements Our own experience indicates that declines in our customer response rates may be

attributable to the decline in check usage the gradual obsolescence of standardized forms products and general decline in

direct marketing response rates due in part to increasing utilization of e-commerce by both consumers and small businesses

We continually evaluate our marketing techniques in order to utilize the most effective and affordable advertising media and

have recently shifted greater portion of our advertising investment to the internet

Postretirement benefit plan

The fair value of the plan assets of our postretirement benefit plan is subject to various risks including credit interest

and overall market volatility risks During 2008 the equity markets experienced significant decline in value As such the

fair value of our plan assets decreased significantly during the year resulting in $29.9 million increase in the unfunded

status of our plan as compared to the end of the previous year This affected the amounts reported in the consolidated balance

sheet as of December 31 2008 and also contributed to an increase in postretirement benefit expense of $2.4 million in 2009
as compared to 2008 As of December 31 2009 the fair value of our plan assets had partially recovered contributing to an

$11.8 million improvement in the unfunded status of our plan as compared to December 31 2008 If the equity and bond

markets decline in future periods the funded status of our plan could again be materially affected This could result in higher

postretirement benefit expense in the future as well as the need to contribute increased amounts of cash to fund the benefits

payable under the plan although our obligation is limited to funding benefits as they become payable We did not use plan

assets to make benefit payments during 2009 and 2008 Rather we used cash provided by operating activities to make these

payments

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Consolidated Revenue

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands except per order amounts 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Revenue 1344195 1468662 $1588885 8.5% 7.6%

Orders 59174 62823 64753 5.8% 3.0%
Revenue per order 22.72 23.38 24.54 2.8% 4.7%

The decrease in revenue for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due to lower order volume in each of our segments

Partially offsetting the volume declines were sales of products and services by businesses we acquired in 2008 and 2009 as

discussed under Executive Overview as well as price increases implemented by all three segments Also sales of fraud

protection services increased in Small Business Services and Direct Checks during 2009

The number of orders decreased for 2009 as compared to 2008 due primarily to general economic conditions which

we believe affected our customers buying patterns the continuing decline in check and forms usage and turmoil in the

financial services industry including higher number of bank failures Partially offsetting these volume declines were sales
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of products and services by businesses we acquired in 2008 and 2009 The decline in orders excluding the acquired

businesses was 10.2% for 2009 as compared to 2008 Revenue per order decreased for 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily

due to continued pricing pressure within Financial Services partially offset by the benefit of price increases Also impacting

revenue per
order were sales of products and services by businesses we acquired in 2008 and 2009 The acquisitions reduced

revenue per order by 2.6 percentage points for 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily because we consider each monthly

billing generated for web services to be an order which results in lower revenue per order

The decrease in revenue for 2008 as compared to 2007 was due to lower order volume in each of our segments and

lower revenue per order for Financial Services due to continued pricing pressure Partially offsetting these revenue decreases

were sales of products and services by businesses we acquired in 2008 higher revenue per order for Direct Checks due to

price increases and increased sales of fraud protection services as well as the benefit of Financial Services price increases in

2007 and 2008 Sales of fraud protection services also increased in Small Business Services during 2008

The number of orders decreased for 2008 as compared to 2007 due to volume declines for Direct Checks and

Financial Services primarily due to the decline in check usage as well as unfavorable economic conditions primarily

affecting Small Business Services Partially offsetting these volume declines were sales of products and services by

businesses we acquired in 2008 The decline in orders excluding the acquired businesses was 5.3% for 2008 as compared to

2007 Revenue per
order decreased for 2008 as compared to 2007 primarily due to continued pricing pressure within

Financial Services partially offset by the benefit of Direct Checks and Financial Services price increases Also impacting

revenue per order were sales of products and services by businesses we acquired in 2008 These new products and services

reduced revenue per order by 1.5 percentage points for 2008

Supplemental information regarding revenue by product is as follows

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Checks 851558 948032 1032304 10.2% 8.2%

Other printed products including forms 293172 328990 374138 10.9% 12.1%

Services primarily business 90918 57711 30639 57.5% 88.4%

Accessories and promotional products 89163 109773 118181 18.8% 7.1%

Packaging supplies and other 19384 24156 33623 19.8% 28.2%

Total revenue 1344195 1468662 1588885 8.5% 7.6%

The percentage of total revenue derived from the sale of checks was 63.4% in 2009 as compared to 64.6% in

2008 and 65.0% in 2007 Small Business Services contributed non-check revenue of $412.4 million in 2009 $430.6

million in 2008 and $462.5 million in 2007 from the sale of forms envelopes holiday cards labels business cards

stationery other promotional products and business services Sales of products and services by businesses we acquired in

2008 and 2009 were more than offset by lower demand for our products caused primarily by weak economy and the

decline in check usage

Consolidated Gross Margin

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Grossprofit 839413 902149 1014281 7.0% 11.1%

Gross margin 62.4% 61.4% 63.8% 1.0 pt 2.4 pt

We evaluate gross margin when analyzing our consolidated results of operations as we believe it provides important

insight into significant profit drivers As more than 90% of our revenue at this time is generated from the sale of

manufactured and purchased products the measure of gross margin best demonstrates our manufacturing and distribution

performance as well as the impact of pricing on our profitability Gross margin is not complete measure of profitability as

it omits SGA expense However it is financial measure which is useful in evaluating our results of operations
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Gross margin increased for 2009 as compared to 2008 due primarily to decrease of $8.5 million in restructuring

charges and other costs related to our cost reduction initiatives Further information regarding our restructuring costs can be

found under Restructuring Costs The lower charges for restructuring and related costs in 2009 increased our gross margin
for 2009 by 0.6

percentage points as compared to 2008 Also contributing to the gross margin increase were manufacturing

efficiencies and other benefits resulting from our cost reduction initiatives as well as price increases Partially offsetting

these increases were higher material and delivery rates as well as higher performance-based compensation expense related to

our 2009 performance

Gross margin decreased for 2008 as compared to 2007 due primarily to $16.1 million increase in restructuring

charges and other costs related to our cost reduction initiatives The restructuring charges and related costs reduced our gross

margin for 2008 by 1.1 percentage points Additionally higher delivery-related costs from mid-2007 and 2008 postal rate

increases and fuel surcharges in 2008 higher materials costs due to an unfavorable product mix as well as competitive

pricing in Financial Services negatively affected gross margin These decreases were partially offset by price increases for

Direct Checks and Financial Services as well as manufacturing efficiencies and other benefits resulting from our cost

reduction initiatives

Consolidated Selling General Administrative Expense

Change
2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

SGAexpense 616496 670991 743449 8.1% 9.7%
SGA expense as percentage of revenue 45.9% 45.7% 46.8% 0.2 pt 1.1 pt

The decrease in SGA expense for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due primarily to various cost reduction initiatives

within our shared services organizations primarily within sales and marketing and information technology Partially

offsetting these decreases were expenses from the businesses we acquired an increase of approximately $16 million in

performance-based compensation expense related to our 2009 performance as well as higher benefit costs related primarily
to workers compensation claims activity and retiree medical costs

The decrease in SGA expense for 2008 as compared to 2007 was primarily due to various cost reduction initiatives

within our shared services organizations primarily within sales and marketing and information technology reduction of

approximately $24 million in performance-based employee compensation and lower employee benefit costs related to

reduced workers compensation and medical claims activity These decreases in SGA expense were partially offset by
investments to drive revenue growth opportunities including marketing costs within Small Business Services and

information technology investments

Net Restructuring Charges

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Net restructuring charges 7428 13400 4701 5972 8699

We recorded restructuring charges related to the cost reduction initiatives discussed under Executive Overview The

charges for all periods included severance benefits and other direct costs of our initiatives including equipment moves
training and travel In 2009 and 2008 restructuring charges also included the acceleration of employee share-based

compensation awards Additional restructuring charges of $4.6 million in 2009 and $14.9 million in 2008 were included

within cost of goods sold in our consolidated statements of income Net restructuring reversals of $0.4 million were included

within cost of goods sold in the 2007 consolidated statement of income Further information can be found under

Restructuring Costs
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Asset Impairment Charges

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Asset impairment charges 24900 9942 14958 9942

As of March 31 2009 we completed impairment analyses of goodwill and an indefinite-lived trade name due to declines

in our stock price during the first quarter of 2009 coupled with the continuing negative impact of the economic downturn on our

expected operating results We recorded non-cash asset impairment charges in our Small Business Services segment of $20.0

million related to goodwill and $4.9 million related to the indefinite-lived trade name

During the third quarter
of 2008 we completed our annual impairment analyses of goodwill and indefinite-lived assets

We recorded non-cash asset impairment charges of $9.3 million related to two indefinite-lived trade names in our Small

Business Services segment resulting from the impact of the economic downturn on our expected operating results and the

broader effects of U.S market conditions on the fair value of the assets We completed additional impairment analyses as of

December 31 2008 based on the continuing impact of the economic downturn on our expected operating results As result we

recorded an additional asset impairment charge of $0.3 million related to the NEBS trade name during the fourth quarter of

2008 bringing the carrying value of this asset to $25.8 million as of December 31 2008 The impairment analyses completed as

of December 31 2008 indicated no additional impairment of our other indefinite-lived trade name and indicated no impairment

of goodwill Because of the further deterioration in our expected operating results we determined that the NEBS trade name no

longer had an indefinite life and thus we began amortizing it over its estimated economic life of 20 years on the straight-line

basis beginning in 2009 Although the use of checks and forms is declining revenues generated from our Small Business

Services strategies have and we expect will continue to offset portion of the decline in revenues and cash flows generated

from the sale of checks and forms As such we believe that the sale of checks and forms as well as the sale of additional

products and services under the NEBS trade name will generate sufficient cash flows to support our estimated 20-year

economic life for this intangible asset In addition to the impairment charges related to the indefinite-lived trade names we also

recorded an impairment charge of $0.4 million during the third quarter of 2008 related to an amortizable trade name This

impairment resulted from change in our branding strategy See Business Challenges/Market Risks for further discussion of

asset impairments Also further information regarding our impairment analyses can be found under the caption Note Fair

value measurements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report

Net Gain on Sale of Facility and Product Line

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Net gain on sale of facility and

productline 1418 3773 1418 2355

During 2008 we completed the sale of our Flagstaff Arizona customer call center facility which was closed during

the third quarter of 2008 for $4.2 million We realized pre-tax gain of $1.4 million

During 2007 we completed the sale of our Small Business Services industrial packaging product line for $19.2

million realizing pre-tax gain of $3.8 million This sale had an insignificant impact on earnings per share because of

offsetting income tax expense

Gain on Early Debt Extinguishment

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Gain on early debt extinguishment... 9834 9834

During the first quarter of 2009 we retired $31.2 million of long-term notes at an average 32% discount from par

value realizing pre-tax gain of $9.8 million We may retire additional debt depending on prevailing market conditions our

liquidity requirements and other potential uses of cash including acquisitions or share repurchases
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Interest Expense

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs
in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Interest expense 46280 50421 55294 8.2% 8.8%
Weighted-average debt outstanding 818521 859833 994597 4.8% 13.5%
Weighted-average interest rate 5.14% 5.42% 5.02% 0.28 pt 0.40 pt

The decrease in interest expense for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due to our lower
average debt level in 2009

as well as our lower weighted-average interest rate During the third quarter of 2009 we entered into interest rate swaps
with notional amount of $210.0 million to hedge against changes in the fair value of portion of our long-term debt
These fair value hedges reduced interest expense by $1.1 million in 2009 Due to the early retirement of long-term notes

during the first quarter of 2009 we were required to accelerate the recognition of portion of derivative loss This

resulted in additional interest
expense of $0.5 million in 2009

The decrease in interest
expense for 2008 as compared to 2007 was due to our lower

average debt level in 2008
partially offset by slightly higher weighted-average interest rate

Other Income

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs
in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Other income 878 1363 5405 485 4042

Other income in 2007 was primarily comprised of interest earned on investments in marketable securities which were
purchased using the proceeds from $200.0 million of notes we issued in May 2007 These investments were sold in October
2007 to repay long-term debt

Income Tax Provision

Change
2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Income tax provision 55656 54304 74898 2.5% 27.5%
Effective tax rate 35.9% 33.9% 34.0% 2.0 pt 0.1 Pt

The increase in our effective tax rate for 2009 as compared to 2008 was largely due to the impact of the goodwill

impairment charge in 2009 portion of which was non-deductible Partially offsetting this increase in our effective tax rate

were favorable discrete adjustments in 2009 which lowered our effective tax rate 2.9 percentage points The discrete

adjustments related primarily to receivables for amendments to prior year tax returns of $3.5 million Our 2008 effective tax

rate included favorable discrete adjustments which lowered our effective tax rate 2.0 percentage points The discrete

adjustments in 2008 related primarily to receivables for amendments to prior year tax returns of $2.4 million and the

settlement of $1.2 million due to us under tax sharing agreement related to the spin-off of our eFunds business in 2000
partially offset by accruals for unrecognized tax benefits We expect that our annual effective tax rate for 2010 will be

approximately 34% down from 2009 due to the non-deductible goodwill impairment charge in 2009 and an increase in the

qualified production activity deduction in 2010

Our effective tax rate for 2008 was comparable to 2007 The favorable discrete adjustments in 2008 lowered our
effective tax rate 2.0

percentage points Our 2007 effective tax rate included favorable discrete adjustments which lowered

our effective tax rate 0.8 points The discrete adjustments in 2007 related to receivables for amendments to prior year tax

returns of $3.0 million partially offset by the write-off of non-deductible goodwill related to the sale of our industrial

packaging product line Partially offsetting the favorable impact of discrete adjustments in 2008 as compared to 2007 was
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the impact of restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in 2008 and interest earned on tax-exempt investments in

2007

RESTRUCTURING COSTS

During 2009 we recorded net restructuring charges of $12.0 million This amount included expenses related to our

restructuring activities including items such as equipment moves training and travel which were expensed as incurred as well

as net restructuring accruals of $8.2 million The net restructuring accruals included charges of $11.8 million related to

severance for employee reductions in various functional areas including the planned closing of one customer call center in the

first quarter of 2010 and further consolidation in the sales marketing and fulfillment organizations as well as operating lease

obligations on three manufacturing facilities closed during 2009 These actions were the result of our cost reduction initiatives

The net restructuring accruals included severance benefits for 643 employees Further information regarding our cost reduction

initiatives can be found under Executive Overview These charges were reduced by the reversal of $3.6 million of restructuring

accruals primarily recorded in 2008 as fewer employees received severance benefits than originally estimated The restructuring

charges were reflected as net restructuring charges of $4.6 million within cost of goods sold and net restructuring charges of $7.4

million within operating expenses in the 2009 consolidated statement of income In addition to the amounts reflected in the net

restructuring charges captions in the consolidated statement of income we incurred approximately $2.4 million of other

restructuring-related costs during 2009 such as labor redundancies during the closing of facilities

During 2008 we recorded net restructuring charges of $28.3 million Of this amount $24.0 million related to accruals

primarily for employee severance while the remainder included other expenses related to our restructuring activities including

the write-off of spare parts the acceleration of employee share-based compensation expense equipment moves training and

travel Our restructuring accruals for severance benefits related to the closing of six manufacturing facilities and two customer

call centers as well as employee reductions within our business unit support and corporate shared services functions primarily

sales marketing and fulfillment These actions were the result of the continuous review of our cost structure in response to the

impact weakened U.S economy continued to have on our business as well as our previously announced cost reduction

initiatives The restructuring accruals included severance benefits for 1399 employees The other costs related to our

restructuring activities were expensed as incurred We recorded $3.1 million write-off of the carrying value of spare parts used

on our offset printing presses During review of our cost structure we made the decision to expand our use of the digital

printing process As such portion of the spare parts kept on hand for use on our offset printing presses was written down to

zero as these parts have no future use or market value The spare parts were included in other non-current assets in our

consolidated balance sheet and the write-down was included in restructuring charges within cost of goods sold in our 2008

consolidated statement of income The net restructuring charges were reflected as restructuring charges of $14.9 million within

cost of goods sold and net restructuring charges of $13.4 million within operating expenses in the 2008 consolidated statement

of income In addition to the amounts reflected in the restructuring charges captions in the consolidated statement of income we

incurred approximately $1.3 million of other restructuring-related costs during 2008 such as labor redundancies during the

closing of facilities

One customer call center was closed during the third quarter of 2008 and one manufacturing facility was closed in

December 2008 In total we closed seven manufacturing operations and two customer call centers during 2009 which were

located in five leased facilities and three owned facilities The operations and related assets were relocated to other

locations We have remaining rent obligations for three of the five leased facilities and we are actively marketing the three

owned facilities The remaining payments due under the operating lease obligations will be paid through May 2013

Although we closed the manufacturing operations within our Colorado Springs Colorado facility during 2009 this owned

location also houses administrative functions and two customer call centers one of which we expect to close by the end of

the first quarter of 2010 Once this facility is sold we plan to relocate the remaining employees to another location in the

same area The majority of the employee reductions included in our restructuring accruals is expected to be completed in

2010 We expect most of the related severance payments to be fully paid by mid-2011 utilizing cash from operations

During 2007 we recorded net restructuring charges of $4.3 million related to accruals for severance benefits for

employee reductions across various functional areas which were substantially completed during 2008 These employee

reductions were also the result of our cost reduction initiatives and included severance benefits for 217 employees The net

restructuring charges were reflected as net restructuring reversals of $0.4 million within cost of goods sold and net restructuring

charges of $4.7 million within operating expenses
in the 2007 consolidated statement of income
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As result of our employee reductions and facility closings we estimate that we realized cost savings of

approximately $6 million in cost of goods sold and $24 million in SGA expense in 2009 in comparison to our 2008 results

of operations In 2008 we estimate that we realized cost savings of approximately $14 million in SGA expense in

comparison to our 2007 results of operations We expect to realize additional cost savings of approximately $13 million in

cost of goods sold and $22 million in SGA expense in 2010 relative to 2009 Expense reductions consist primarily of labor

and facility costs

Further information regarding our restructuring charges can be found under the caption Note Restructuring

charges of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report

SEGMENT RESULTS

Additional financial information regarding our business segments appears under the caption Note 17 Business

segment information of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report

Small Business Services

This segment sells personalized printed products which include business checks printed forms promotional

products marketing materials and related services as well as retail packaging supplies and suite of business services

including web design and hosting fraud protection payroll logo design search engine marketing and business networking
to small businesses These products and services are sold through direct response marketing referrals from Financial Services

financial institution clients and Hostopia telecommunications clients independent distributors and dealers the internet and
sales representatives

Change
2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Revenue
785109 851060 921657 7.7% 7.7%

Operating income
60804 90078 132821 32.5% 32.2%

Operating margin 7.7% 10.6% 14.4% 2.9 Pt 3.8 Pt

The decrease in revenue for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due primarily to general economic conditions which we
believe affected our customers buying patterns as well as the continuing decline in check and forms usage In addition there

was an unfavorable exchange rate impact related to our Canadian operations of $4.1 million for 2009 Partially offsetting

these decreases were sales of products and services by businesses acquired in 2008 and 2009 as well as price increases and

growth in revenue from fraud protection services

Revenue per order for Small Business Services decreased for 2009 as compared to 2008 due to the factors discussed

above as well as the impact of sales of products and services by businesses acquired in 2008 and 2009 The acquisitions

reduced revenue per order primarily because we consider each monthly billing generated for web services to be an order

which results in lower revenue per order

The decrease in operating income and operating margin for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due to the revenue

decline an increase of $15.0 million in asset impairment charges in 2009 as well as higher performance-based compensation

expense higher material and delivery rates and higher benefit costs related primarily to workers compensation claims

activity and retiree medical costs These decreases in operating income were partially offset by continued progress on our

cost reduction initiatives and $1.1 million decrease in restructuring and transaction-related costs in 2009 as compared to

2008 Further information regarding the asset impairment charges can be found under Consolidated Results of Operations
and information regarding the restructuring costs can be found under Restructuring Costs

The decrease in revenue for 2008 as compared to 2007 was due primarily to general economic conditions which we
believe affected our customers buying patterns mainly in our core checks and forms products as well as discretionary

products such as holiday cards imaging and apparel Additionally 2007 included $3 million of revenue generated by our

industrial packaging product line which was sold in January 2007 as well as higher non-recurring check sales in Canada due

to the introduction of new check format required by the Canadian Payments Association Partially offsetting these decreases

34



were sales of products and services by businesses acquired in 2008 as well as growth in revenue from fraud protection

services

Revenue per order for Small Business Services decreased for 2008 as compared to 2007 due to the factors discussed

above as well as the impact of sales of products and services by businesses acquired in 2008 The acquisitions reduced

revenue per order primarily because we consider each monthly billing generated for web services to be an order which

results in lower revenue per order

The decrease in operating income and operating margin for 2008 as compared to 2007 was due to the impact of the

revenue decrease an increase of $12.3 million in restructuring charges and related costs in 2008 asset impairment charges of

$9.9 million in 2008 higher materials costs due to an unfavorable product mix and investments made in 2008 to drive

revenue growth opportunities including increased marketing costs and information technology investments Results in 2007

also included pre-tax gain of $3.8 million on the sale of our industrial packaging product line These decreases were

partially offset by continued progress on our cost reduction initiatives lower performance-based employee compensation and

reduced employee benefit costs due to lower workers compensation and medical claims activity Further information

regarding restructuring charges and related costs can be found under Restructuring Costs and information regarding the asset

impairment charges can be found under Consolidated Results of Operations

Financial Services

Financial Services sells personal and business checks check-related products and services customer loyalty and

retention programs fraud monitoring and protection services and stored value gift cards to banks and other financial

institutions primarily through direct sales force As part of our check programs we also offer enhanced services such as

customized reporting file management and expedited account conversion support

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Revenue 396353 430018 457292 7.8% 6.0%

Operating income 75091 65540 74305 14.6% 11.8%

Operating margin 18.9% 15.2% 16.2% 3.7 pt 1.0 Pt

The decrease in revenue for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due primarily to decrease in order volume resulting

from the continuing decline in check usage turmoil in the financial services industry including higher number of bank

failures and continued economic softness Our experience indicates that the recent failures and consolidation of companies

within the financial services industry has caused some larger financial institutions to lose customers This reduces our order

volume when those customers move their accounts to financial institutions that are not our clients or they reduce or delay

their check purchases Revenue per order increased as compared to 2008 as price increases implemented in the third quarter

of 2009 and the fourth quarter of 2008 more than offset the effects of continuing competitive pricing pressure

Operating income and operating margin increased for 2009 as compared to 2008 due to the benefit of our various

cost reduction initiatives $10.1 million less in restructuring and related costs in 2009 and increased revenue per order The

increases in operating income and margin were reduced by the volume decline higher performance-based compensation

expense higher material and delivery rates and higher benefit costs related primarily to workers compensation claims

activity and retiree medical costs Further information regarding the restructuring charges and related costs can be found

under Restructuring Costs

The decrease in revenue for 2008 as compared to 2007 was due to decrease in order volume resulting from the

continuing decline in check usage as well as non-recurring client conversion activity in 2007 Conversion activity is driven

by the need to replace obsolete checks after one financial institution merges with or acquires another Order volume for 2008

was down 2.9% from 2007 excluding the impact of conversion activity Additionally revenue per order was down for 2008

despite price increases in 2007 and 2008 due to this segments competitive pricing environment

Operating income and operating margin decreased for 2008 as compared to 2007 primarily due to the revenue

decrease an increase of $10.5 million in restructuring charges and related costs in 2008 as well as higher delivery-related

costs from postal rate increases in mid-2007 and 2008 and fuel surcharges in 2008 Partially offsetting these decreases were
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various cost reduction initiatives lower performance-based employee compensation and reduced employee benefit costs
related to lower workers compensation and medical claims activity Further information regarding the restructuring charges
and related costs can be found under Restructuring Costs

Direct Checks

Direct Checks sells personal and business checks and related products and services directly to consumers using direct

response marketing and the internet We use variety of direct marketing techniques to acquire new customers in the direct-

to-consumer channel including newspaper inserts in-package advertising statement stuffers and
co-op advertising We also

use c-commerce strategies to direct traffic to our websites Direct Checks sells under the Checks Unlimited Designer Checks
and Checks.com brand names

Change
2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007
Revenue

162733 187584 209936 13.2% 10.6%
Operating income

54694 53616 62778 2.0% 14.6%
Operating margin 33.6% 28.6% 29.9% 5.0 pt 1.3 Pt

The decrease in revenue for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due to reduction in orders stemming from the decline in

check
usage and our planned lower advertising levels as well as the weak economy which negatively impacted our ability to

sell additional products Partially offsetting the volume decline was higher revenue per order resulting from price increases
and increased sales of fraud protection services

The increase in operating income and margin for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due primarily to our cost reduction

initiatives increased revenue per order and decrease of $1.5 million in restructuring charges and related costs in 2009
Further information regarding the restructuring charges and related costs can be found under Restructuring Costs These
increases in operating income were partially offset by the lower order volume increased performance-based compensation
expense and increased material and delivery rates

The decrease in revenue for 2008 as compared to 2007 was due to reduction in orders stemming from the decline in

check usage advertising response rates and advertising spending as well as the weak economy which negatively impacted
our ability to sell additional products Additionally $3 million weather-related

backlog from the last week of 2006 shifted

revenue into 2007 Partially offsetting these declines was higher revenue per order resulting from price increases and
increased sales of fraud protection services

The decrease in operating income and operating margin for 2008 as compared to 2007 was primarily due to the lower

order volume higher delivery-related costs from postal rate increases in mid-2007 and 2008 and an increase of $2.4 million
in restructuring charges and related costs in 2008 Further information regarding the restructuring charges and related costs
can be found under Restructuring Costs These decreases in operating income were partially offset by lower advertising

expense lower performance-based employee compensation and our cost reduction initiatives
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CASH FLOWS

As of December 31 2009 we held cash and cash equivalents of $12.8 million The following table shows our cash

flow activity for the last three years and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated statements of cash flows

appearing in Item of this report

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Continuing operations

Net cash provided by operating activities. 206438 198487 245075 7951 46588

Net cash used by investing activities 81788 135773 10929 53985 124844

Net cash used by financing activities 128545 67681 224890 60864 157209

Effect of exchange rate change on cash 1594 2053 1161 3647 3214

Net cash used provided by continuing

operations 2301 7020 10417 4719 17437

Net cash used provided by operating

activities of discontinued operations 470 995 401 1465 1396

Net cash used by investing activities of

discontinued operations 30 30

Net change in cash and cash

equivalents 2801 6025 10016 3224 16041

The $8.0 million increase in cash provided by operating activities for 2009 as compared to 2008 was due primarily to

$23.7 million decrease in 2009 in employee profit sharing and pension contributions related to our 2008 performance as

well as contract termination payment received in the fourth quarter of 2009 and lower interest and income tax payments

Further information regarding the contract settlement can be found in the outlook discussion under Executive Overview and

under Financial Position The impact of these items was partially offset by an increase of $20.2 million in contract

acquisition payments in 2009 the timing of customer rebate payments as compared to 2008 and higher severance payments

related to our cost reduction initiatives

The $46.6 million decrease in cash provided by operating activities for 2008 as compared to 2007 was due to the

lower earnings discussed earlier under Consolidated Results of Operations and $19.4 million increase in 2008 employee

profit sharing and pension contributions related to our 2007 performance These decreases were partially offset by lower

income tax interest and contract acquisition payments in 2008

Included in cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations were the following operating cash outflows

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Income tax payments 56060 59997 89944 3937 29947

Interest payments 43513 50441 57077 6928 6636

Voluntary employee beneficiary

association VEBA trust contributions

to fund medical benefits 40300 36100 34100 4200 2000

Contract acquisition payments 29250 9008 14230 20242 5222

Severance payments 16558 8645 9606 7913 961

Employee profit sharing and pension

contributions 11430 35126 15720 23696 19406
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Net cash used by investing activities for 2009 was $54.0 million lower than 2008 primarily due to lower payments for

acquisitions in 2009 During 2009 we paid $30.8 million to complete the acquisitions of Abacus America Inc and

MerchEngines.com while we paid $104.9 million to acquire Hostopia.com Inc PartnerUp Inc Logo Design Mojo Inc and

Yoffi Digital Press in 2008 Partially offsetting this decrease in cash used by investing activities were increased investments

in capital assets related to e-commerce manufacturing efficiencies and process improvements in all three of our segments
and proceeds of $4.2 million received from the sale of closed facility in 2008

Net cash used by financing activities for 2009 was $60.9 million higher than 2008 due primarily to the net repayment
of $52.0 million borrowed on our committed line of credit and payments of $21.2 million to retire long-term notes in 2009
This compares to net borrowings of $10.8 million on our committed line of credit in 2008 Partially offsetting these increases

in the use of cash were fewer shares repurchased in 2009

Net cash used by investing activities for 2008 was $124.8 million higher than 2007 due primarily to $102.6 million

increase in payments for acquisitions net of cash acquired as well as proceeds in 2007 of $19.2 million from the sale of our

industrial packaging product line

Net cash used by financing activities for 2008 was $157.2 million lower than 2007 due to the pay-off of $325.0

million long-term debt maturity in 2007 and payments on short-term debt of $45.5 million in 2007 These decreases in cash

used by financing activities were partially offset by net proceeds in 2007 from the issuance of $200.0 million of long-term

notes as well as $10.6 million increase in share repurchases in 2008 Additionally proceeds from issuing shares under

employee plans were $13.1 million lower in 2008 due to fewer stock options being exercised and borrowings on short-term

debt were $10.8 million in 2008 as we funded acquisitions and share repurchases

Significant cash inflows excluding those related to operating activities for each year were as follows

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Net proceeds from short-term debt 10800 10800 10800

Proceeds from sales of marketable

securitiesW 914 1057460 914 1057460

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt

net of debt issuance costs 196329 196329

Proceeds from sale of facility and product

line 4181 19214 4181 15033

Proceeds from issuing shares under

employee plans 1972 2801 15923 829 13122

During 2007 we purchased short-term marketable securities using the proceeds from the $200.0 million debt we issued in May 2007 as well as using cash

generated from operating activities On October 12007 we sold these marketable securities to repay debt maturity
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Significant cash outflows excluding those related to operating activities for each year were as follows

Change

2009 vs 2008 vs

in thousands
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007

Net payments on short-term debt 52000 45460 52000 45460

Cash dividends paid to shareholders 51279 51422 52048 143 626

Purchases of capital assets 44266 31865 32286 12401 421

Payments for acquisitions net of cash

acquired 30825 104879 2316 74054 102563

Payments on long-term debt 22627 1755 326582 20872 324827

Purchases of marketable securities1 4581 1057460 4581 1057460

Payments for common shares repurchased 1319 21847 11288 20528 10559

ODuring 2007 we purchased short-term marketable securities using the proceeds from the $200.0 million debt we issued in May 2007 as well as using cash

generated from operating activities On October 2007 we sold these marketable securities to repay debt maturity

We anticipate that net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations will be between $180 million and

$200 million in 2010 compared to $206 million in 2009 We anticipate that higher performance-based compensation payments

in 2010 will be partly offset by higher earnings continued progress on working capital initiatives and lower contract acquisition

payments We anticipate that cash generated by operating activities in 2010 will be utilized for dividend payments of

approximately $50 million capital expenditures of approximately $40 million debt reduction and possibly additional small to

medium-size acquisitions We intend to focus our capital spending on expanding our use of digital printing technology

completing the automation of our flat check packaging process and investing in order fulfillment delivery productivity and

information technology infrastructure We have no maturities of long-term debt until 2012 As of December 31 2009 we had

$239.0 million available for borrowing under our committed line of credit We believe our committed line of credit which

expires in July 2010 along with cash generated by operating activities and replacement line of credit will be sufficient to

support our operations including capital expenditures small to medium-sized acquisitions required debt service and dividend

payments for the next 12 months We anticipate that we will replace our existing committed line of credit well in advance of its

July maturity date As we negotiate replacement line of credit the current unfavorable credit environment and our current

credit profile will result in higher interest rates and/or terms which are not as favorable to us as our existing line of credit

agreement Additionally based on our current credit profile we anticipate that amounts borrowed under new line of credit

agreement will be secured by certain of our assets

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our total debt was $768.8 million as of December 31 2009 decrease of $84.6 million from December 31 2008 During

the first quarter of 2009 we retired $31.2 million of long-term notes realizing pre-tax gain of $9.8 million Our capital

structure for each period was as follows

December 31
2009 2008

Weighted- Weighted-

average average

interest interest

in thousands
Amount rate Amount rate Change

Fixedinterestrate 533399 6.0% 773896 5.7% 240497

Floating interest rate 235354 3.0% 78000 0.9% 157354

Capital lease 1440 10.4% 1440

Total debt 768753 5.1% 853336 5.2% 84583

Shareholders equity 117210 53066 64144

Total capital 885963 906402 20439
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During September 2009 we entered into interest rate swaps with notional amount of $210.0 million to hedge portion
of our notes due in 2012 The carrying amount of long-term debt decreased $0.3 million during 2009 due to the change in fair

value of hedged long-term debt Further information concerning the interest rate swaps and our outstanding debt can be found

under the captions Note Derivative financial instruments and Note 13 Debt of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements appearing in Item of this report Information regarding our debt service obligations can be found under Off-Balance
Sheet Arrangements Guarantees and Contractual Obligations

We have an outstanding authorization from our board of directors to purchase up to 10 million shares of our common
stock This authorization has no expiration date and 6.4 million shares remained available for purchase under this

authorization as of December 31 2009 We repurchased 0.1 million shares during 2009 for $1.3 million we repurchased 1.1

million shares during 2008 for $21.8 million and we repurchased 0.4 million shares during 2007 for $11.3 million Further

information regarding changes in shareholders equity can be found in the consolidated statements of shareholders equity

deficit appearing in Item of this report

We may from time to time consider retiring outstanding debt through open market purchases privately negotiated
transactions or otherwise Any such repurchases or exchanges would depend on prevailing market conditions our liquidity

requirements and other potential uses of cash including acquisitions or share repurchases

As necessary we utilize our committed line of credit to meet our working capital requirements As of December 31
2009 we had $275.0 million committed line of credit The credit agreement governing our committed line of credit contains

customary covenants regarding limits on levels of subsidiary indebtedness and requiring ratio of earnings before interest and

taxes to interest expense of 3.0 times as measured quarterly on an aggregate basis for the preceding four quarters Although

significant unforeseen asset impairment charges in the future could impact our ability to comply with this debt covenant we
were in compliance with all debt covenants as of December 31 2009 and we expect to remain in compliance with our debt

covenants throughout the remaining term of our line of credit See Business Challenges/Market Risks for further information

regarding asset impairments We anticipate that we will replace our existing committed line of credit well in advance of its July
2010 maturity date As we negotiate replacement line of credit the current unfavorable credit environment and our current

credit profile will result in higher interest rates and/or terms which are not as favorable to us as our existing line of credit

agreement Additionally based on our current credit profile we anticipate that amounts borrowed under new line of credit

agreement will be secured by certain of our assets

As of December 31 2009 amounts were available for borrowing under our committed line of credit as follows

Total Expiration Commitment
in thousands available date fee

Five year line of credit 275000 July 2010 0.175%

Amounts drawn on line of credit 26000

Outstanding letters of credit 10025

Net available for borrowing as of

December 31 2009 238975
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FINANCIAL POSITION

Contract acquisition costs Other non-current assets include contract acquisition costs of our Financial Services

segment These costs which are essentially pre-paid product discounts are recorded as non-current assets upon contract

execution and are amortized generally on the straight-line basis as reductions of revenue over the related contract term Cash

payments made for contract acquisition costs were $29.3 million in 2009 $9.0 million in 2008 and $14.2 million in 2007 We

anticipate cash payments of approximately $10 million in 2010 Changes in contract acquisition costs during the last three

years were as follows

in thousands
2009 2008 2007

Balancebeginningofyear 37706 55516 71721

Additions 32545 8808 11984

Amortization 24550 26618 28189

Balance end of year 45701 37706 55516

The number of checks being written has been in decline since the mid-1990s which has contributed to increased

competitive pressure when attempting to retain or acquire clients Both the number of financial institution clients requesting

contract acquisition payments and the amount of the payments increased in the mid-2000s and has fluctuated significantly

from year to year Although we anticipate that we will selectively continue to make contract acquisition payments we cannot

quantify future amounts with certainty The amount paid depends on numerous factors such as the number and timing of

contract executions and renewals competitors actions overall product discount levels and the structure of up-front product

discount payments versus providing higher discount levels throughout the term of the contract When the overall discount

level provided for in contract is unchanged contract acquisition costs do not result in lower net revenue These payments

impact the timing of cash flows An up-front cash payment is made rather than providing higher product discount levels

throughout the term of the contract See Business Challenges/Market Risks for discussion of the recoverability of contract

acquisition costs

Liabilities for contract acquisition payments are recorded upon contract execution These obligations are monitored for

each contract and are adjusted as payments are made Contract acquisition payments due within the next year are included in

accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets These accruals were $2.8 million as of December 31 2009 and $4.3

million as of December 31 2008 Accruals for contract acquisition payments included in other non-current liabilities in our

consolidated balance sheets were $6.0 million as of December 31 2009 and $1.2 million as of December 31 2008

Deferred revenue Deferred revenue of $23.7 million as of December 31 2009 increased $21.8 million from

December 31 2008 due primarily to contract termination settlement in the fourth quarter of 2009 The revenue from the

contract termination settlement is being recognized over the contracts remaining service period which we expect to be six

months In addition to the contract settlement we recorded deferred revenue in conjunction with the acquisition of Abacus

America Inc in July 2009 Further information regarding the determination of the fair value of the acquired deferred revenue

can be found under the caption Note Fair value measurements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

appearing in Item of this report

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS GUARANTEES AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

It is not our general business practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements or to guarantee the performance of

third parties In the normal course of business we periodically enter into agreements that incorporate general indemnification

language These indemnifications encompass such items as product or service defects including breach of security

intellectual property rights governmental regulations and/or employment-related matters Performance under these

indemnities would generally be triggered by our breach of terms of the contract In disposing of assets or businesses we often

provide representations warranties and/or indemnities to cover various risks including for example unknown damage to the

assets environmental risks involved in the sale of real estate liability to investigate and remediate environmental

contamination at waste disposal sites and manufacturing facilities and unidentified tax liabilities and legal fees related to

periods prior to disposition We do not have the ability to estimate the potential liability from such indemnities because they

relate to unknown conditions However we have no reason to believe that any likely liability under these indemnities would

have material adverse effect on our financial position annual results of operations or annual cash flows We have recorded
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liabilities for known indemnifications related to environmental matters Further information can be found under the caption
Note 14 Other commitments and contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of

this report

We are not engaged in any transactions arrangements or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other third

parties that are reasonably likely to have material effect on our liquidity or on our access to or requirements for capital

resources In addition we have not established any special purpose entities

As of December 31 2009 our contractual obligations were as follows

2011 and 2013 and 2015 and

in thousands Total 2010 2012 2014 thereafter

Long-term debt and related

interest 926047 41087 361950 316782 206228
Amounts drawn on line of credit 26000 26000

Operating lease obligations 17433 8530 7147 1756

Purchase obligations 70914 30081 38773 2060

Other long-term liabilities 27560 10153 10382 2827 4198
Total 1067954 115851 418252 323425 210426

Purchase obligations include amounts due under contracts with third-party service providers These contracts are

primarily for information technology services Additionally purchase obligations include amounts due under Direct Checks

direct mail advertising agreements and Direct Checks and Financial Services royalty agreements We routinely issue

purchase orders to numerous vendors for the purchase of inventory and other supplies These purchase orders are not

included in the purchase obligations presented here as our business
partners typically allow us to cancel these purchase

orders as necessary to accommodate business needs Of our total purchase obligations included in the table above $50.3

million allow for early termination upon the payment of early termination fees If we were to terminate these agreements we
would have incurred early termination fees of $45.8 million as of December 31 2009

Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of amounts due for our postretirement benefit plan and liabilities for

uncertain tax positions deferred compensation and workers compensation Of the $83.4 million reported as other long-term
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2009 $66.0 million is excluded from the obligations shown
in the table above The excluded amounts including the current portion of each liability are comprised primarily of the

following

Benefit payments for our postretirement benefit plan We have contributed funds to this plan for the purpose of

funding our obligations Thus we have the option of paying benefits from the assets of the plan or from the

general funds of the company Additionally we expect the plan assets to earn income over time As such we
cannot predict when or if payments from the general funds of the company will be required As of December 31
2009 our postretirement benefit plan was underfunded $48.6 million

Payments for uncertain tax positions Due to the nature of the underlying liabilities and the extended timeframe

often needed to resolve income tax uncertainties we cannot make reliable estimates of the amount or timing of

cash payments that may be required to settle these liabilities Our liability for uncertain tax positions including

accrued interest and penalties was $10.5 million as of December 31 2009 excluding tax benefits of deductible

interest

Insured environmental remediation costs As of December 31 2009 $8.0 million of the costs included in our

environmental accruals are covered by an environmental insurance policy which we purchased in 2002 The

insurance policy does not cover properties acquired subsequent to 2002 The insurance policy covers pre-existing
conditions from third-party claims and cost overruns through 2032 at certain owned leased and divested sites as

well as any new conditions discovered at certain owned or leased sites through 2012 As result we expect to

receive reimbursements from the insurance company for environmental remediation costs we incur for these

insured sites The related receivables from the insurance company are reflected in other current assets and other

non-current assets in our consolidated balance sheets based on the amounts of our environmental accruals for
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insured sites Uninsured environmental accruals of $1.4 million as of December 31 2009 are included in the table

above

portion of the amount due under our deferred compensation plan Under this plan some employees may begin

receiving payments upon the termination of employment or disability and we cannot predict when these events

will occur As such $1.2 million of our deferred compensation liability as of December 31 2009 is excluded from

the obligations shown in the table above

Total contractual obligations do not include the following

Payments to our defined contribution pension and 401k plans The amounts payable under our defined

contribution pension and 401k plans are dependent on the number of employees providing services throughout

the year their wage rates and in the case of the 401k plan whether employees elect to participate in the plan

Profit sharing and cash bonus payments Amounts payable under our profit sharing and cash bonus plans are

dependent on our operating performance

Income tax payments which are dependent upon our earnings

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We have not entered into any
material related party transactions during the past three years

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Managements discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operation is based upon our consolidated

financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles GAAP in the

United States of America Our accounting policies are discussed under the caption Note Significant accounting policies of

the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report We review the accounting policies used in

reporting our financial results on regular basis The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and

judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses and the related disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are

reasonable under the circumstances the result of which forms the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Results may differ from these estimates due to actual outcomes

being different from those on which we based our assumptions The estimates and judgments utilized are reviewed by

management on an ongoing basis and by the audit committee of our board of directors at the end of each quarter prior to the

public release of our financial results

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We consider the estimates discussed below to be critical to an understanding of our financial statements because they

place the most significant demands on managements judgment about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain and

the impact of different estimates or assumptions could be material to our consolidated financial statements
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Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Assets

As of December 31 2009 goodwill was comprised of the following

in thousands

Acquisition of New England Business Service NEBS in June 2004 472082

Acquisition of Designer Checks Inc in February 2000 77970

Acquisition of Hostopia.com Inc in August 2008 68555

Acquisition of Abacus America Inc in July 2009 24225

Acquisition of the Johnson Group in October 2006 7320

Acquisition of Direct Checks in December 1987 4267

Acquisition of Logo Design Mojo Inc in April 2008 1355

Acquisition of MerchEngines.com in July 2009 1140

Acquisition of Dots and Pixels Inc in July 2005 990

Acquisition of All Trade Computer Forms Inc in February 2007 762

Goodwill 658666

Further information regarding acquisitions which occurred during the past three years can be found under the caption
Note Acquisitions and disposition of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report
Goodwill and our indefinite-lived trade name are tested for impairment on an annual basis as of July 31 or more frequently if

events or circumstances occur which could indicate impairment In addition to the required impairment analyses we
regularly evaluate the remaining useful life of our indefinite-lived trade name to determine whether events and circumstances

continue to support an indefinite useful life If we determine that this asset has finite useful life we test the asset for

impairment and then amortize the assets remaining carrying value over its estimated remaining useful life Further

information regarding the fair value measurements completed during 2009 is provided under the caption Note Fair value

measurements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report

During the first quarter of 2009 we completed impairment analyses of goodwill and our indefinite-lived trade name
due to declines in our stock price coupled with the continuing negative impact of the economic downturn on our expected

operating results We also completed our annual impairment analyses during the third quarter of 2009 No impairment

analyses were required during the second or fourth quarters of 2009 as there were no indicators of potential impairment

during the quarters Although there were declines in our revenue and operating income compared to the comparable prior

year periods this was consistent with our operating plan and not indicative of impairment

The estimate of fair value for the indefinite-lived trade name is based on relief from royalty method which calculates

the cost savings associated with owning rather than licensing the trade name An assumed royalty rate is applied to forecasted

revenue and the resulting cash flows are discounted If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value of the asset an

impairment loss is recognized During the first quarter of 2009 we recorded an impairment charge of $4.9 million in our Small

Business Services segment related to our indefinite-lived trade name Our annual impairment analysis completed during the third

quarter of 2009 indicated that the estimated fair value of our indefinite-lived trade name was $23.5 million compared to its

carrying value of $19.1 million In this analysis we assumed discount rate of 13.3% and royalty rate of 2% one-half

percentage point increase in the discount rate would reduce the indicated fair value of the asset by $1.1 million and one-half

percentage point decrease in the royalty rate would reduce the indicated fair value of the asset by $5.9 million

two-step approach is used in evaluating goodwill for impairment First we compare the fair value of the reporting
unit to which the goodwill is assigned to the carrying amount of its net assets In calculating fair value we use the income

approach The income approach is valuation technique under which we estimate future cash flows using the reporting units

financial forecast from the perspective of an unrelated market participant Future estimated cash flows are discounted to their

present value to calculate fair value The discount rate used is the value-weighted average
of our estimated cost of capital

derived using both known and estimated customary market metrics In determining the fair value of our reporting units we
are required to estimate number of factors including projected future operating results terminal growth rates economic

conditions anticipated future cash flows the discount rate and the allocation of shared or corporate items For

reasonableness the summation of our reporting units fair values is compared to our consolidated fair value as indicated by
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our market capitalization plus an appropriate control premium If the carrying amount of reporting units net assets exceeds

its estimated fair value the second step of the goodwill impairment analysis requires us to measure the amount of the

impairment loss An impairment loss is calculated by comparing the implied fair value of the goodwill to its carrying amount

In calculating the implied fair value of the goodwill we measure the fair value of the reporting units assets and liabilities

excluding goodwill The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the amount assigned to its assets and liabilities

excluding goodwill is the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill

During the first quarter of 2009 we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $20.0 million in our Small Business

Services segment related to one of our reporting units The annual impairment analysis completed during the third quarter of

2009 indicated that the calculated fair values of our reporting units net assets exceeded the carrying values of their net assets

by amounts between $18 million and $308 million or by amounts between 46% and 70% above their carrying values If our

stock price declines in the future for sustained period or if we are required to significantly reduce our forecasted operating

results because of continuing downturn in economic conditions it may be indicative of further decline in our fair value

and could require us to record an impairment charge for portion of goodwill and/or our indefinite-lived trade name

As result of the annual impairment analyses completed during the third quarter of 2008 we recorded non-cash asset

impairment charges of $9.3 million related to two indefinite-lived trade names in our Small Business Services segment due to

the impact of the economic downturn on our expected operating results and the broader effects of U.S market conditions on

the fair value of the assets We completed additional impairment analyses as of December 31 2008 based on the continuing

impact of the economic downturn on our expected operating results As result we recorded an additional asset impairment

charge of $0.3 million related to the NEBS trade name during the fourth quarter of 2008 bringing the carrying value of this

asset to $25.8 million as of December 31 2008 The impairment analyses completed as of December 31 2008 indicated no

additional impairment of our other indefinite-lived trade name Because of the further deterioration in our expected operating

results we determined that the NEBS trade name no longer has an indefinite life and thus we began amortizing it over its

estimated economic life of 20 years on the straight-line basis beginning in 2009 Although the use of checks and forms is

declining revenues generated from our Small Business Services strategies have and we expect will continue to offset

portion of the decline in revenues and cash flows generated from the sale of checks and forms As such we believe that the

sale of checks and forms as well as the sale of additional products and services under the NEBS trade name will generate

sufficient cash flows to support our estimated 20-year economic life for this intangible asset This asset is no longer subject to

annual impairment testing but will be tested for impairment in accordance with our policy on impairment of long-lived assets

and amortizable intangibles as outlined under the caption Note Significant accounting policies of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report In addition to the impairment of indefinite-lived trade

names we also recorded $0.4 million non-cash impairment charge during 2008 related to an amortizable trade name due to

change in our branding strategy

The evaluation of asset impairment requires us to make assumptions about future cash flows and revenues over the life

of the asset being evaluated These assumptions require significant judgment and actual results may differ from assumed or

estimated amounts If these estimates and assumptions change we may be required to recognize impairment losses in the

future

Income Taxes

When preparing our consolidated financial statements we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the

jurisdictions in which we operate This process involves estimating our actual current tax obligations based on expected

taxable income statutory tax rates and tax credits allowed in the various jurisdictions in which we operate In interim

reporting periods we use an estimate of our annual effective tax rate based on the facts available at the time Changes in the

mix or estimated amount of annual pre-tax income could impact our estimated effective tax rate in interim periods In the

event there is significant unusual or one-time item recognized in our results of operations the tax attributable to that item is

separately calculated and recorded in the interim period during which the unusual or one-time item occurred The actual

effective tax rate is calculated at year-end

Tax laws require certain items to be included in our tax return at different times than the items are reflected in our

results of operations As result the annual effective tax rate reflected in our results of operations is different than that

reported on our tax return i.e our cash tax rate Some of these differences are permanent such as expenses that are not

deductible in our tax return and some are temporary differences that will reverse over time such as depreciation expense on

capital assets These temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which are included within our
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consolidated balance sheets Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as tax deduction or credit in our

tax return in future
years for which we have already recorded the expense net of the expected tax benefit in our statements

of income We must assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized through future taxable income and to

the extent we believe that realization is not likely we must establish valuation allowance against those deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities generally represent items for which we have already taken deduction in our tax return but we have

not yet recognized the items as expense
in our results of operations Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax

positions and in determining our provision for income taxes our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation

allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets We had deferred tax liabilities in excess of deferred tax assets of $14.0

million as of December 31 2009 including valuation allowances of $0.9 million As of December 31 2008 we had deferred

tax assets in excess of deferred tax liabilities of $8.3 million including valuation allowances of $0.8 million The valuation

allowances relate primarily to Canadian operating loss carryforwards which we do not expect to realize

On regular basis our income tax returns are reviewed by various domestic and foreign taxing authorities As such

we record accruals for items which we believe may be challenged by these taxing authorities The threshold for recognizing
the benefits of tax return positions in the financial statements is that they must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained by
the taxing authorities based solely on the technical merits of the position If the recognition threshold is met the tax benefit is

measured and recognized as the largest amount of tax benefit that in our judgment is greater than 50% likely to be realized

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 2009 was $8.0 million excluding accrued interest and

penalties If the unrecognized tax benefits were recognized in our consolidated financial statements $6.1 million would affect

income tax expense and our related effective tax rate Interest and penalties recorded for uncertain tax positions are included

in our income tax provision As of December 31 2009 we had accrued $2.5 million of interest and penalties excluding the

tax benefit of deductible interest The statute of limitations for federal tax assessments for 2004 and prior years has closed

with the exception of 2000 Our federal income tax returns for 2006 and 2007 are currently being audited by the Internal

Revenue Service IRS and our federal income tax returns for 2005 2008 and 2009 remain subject to IRS examination In

general income tax returns for the years 2005 through 2009 remain subject to examination by major state and city tax

jurisdictions In the event that we have determined not to file tax returns with particular state or city all years remain

subject to examination by the tax jurisdiction The ultimate outcome of tax matters may differ from our estimates and

assumptions Unfavorable settlement of any particular issue would require the use of cash and could result in increased

income tax expense Favorable resolution would result in reduced income tax expense

Changes in unrecognized tax benefits during the last three
years can be found under the caption Note Income tax

provision of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report Within the next 12 months it

is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits will change in the range of decrease of $4.3 million to an increase

of $0.5 million as we attempt to settle certain federal and state matters or as federal and state statutes of limitations expire
We are not able to predict what if any impact these changes may have on our effective tax rate or cash flows

We reduced our income tax provision $3.5 million in 2009 $2.4 million in 2008 and $3.0 million in 2007 for

amendments to prior year tax returns claiming refunds primarily associated with federal and state tax credits and the funding
of medical costs through our VEBA trust as well as the related interest Also during 2008 we reduced our income tax

provision $1.2 million for the settlement of amounts due to us under tax sharing agreement related to the spin-off of our

eFunds business in 2000

Postretirement Benefit Plan

Detailed information regarding our postretirement benefit plan including description of the plan its related future

cash flows plan assets and the actuarial assumptions used in accounting for the plan can be found under the caption Note
12 Pension and other postretirement benefits of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this

report

Our net postretirement benefit expense was $7.2 million for 2009 and $4.8 million for 2008 and 2007 Our business

segments record postretirement benefit
expense in cost of goods sold and SGA expense based on the composition of their

workforces Our postretirement benefit expense and liability are calculated utilizing various actuarial assumptions and

methodologies These assumptions include but are not limited to the discount rate the expected long-term rate of return on

plan assets the expected health care cost trend rate and the
average remaining life expectancy of plan participants We

analyze the assumptions used each year when we complete our actuarial valuation of the plan The effects of changes to our

assumptions are recognized immediately on the consolidated balance sheet but are generally amortized into earnings over
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future periods If the assumptions utilized in determining our postretirement benefit expense and liability differ from actual

events our results of operations for future periods are impacted

Discount rate The discount rate is used to reflect the time value of money It is the assumed rate at which future

postretirement benefits could be effectively settled The discount rate assumption is based on the rates of return on high-

quality fixed-income instruments currently available whose cash flows match the timing and amount of expected benefit

payments In determining the discount rate we utilize the Hewitt Top Quartile and the Citigroup Pension Discount yield

curves to discount each cash flow stream at an interest rate specifically applicable to the timing of each respective cash flow

The present value of each cash flow stream is aggregated and used to impute weighted-average discount rate Prior to 2008

we also considered Moodys high quality corporate bond rates when selecting our discount rate However as the number of

bonds included in this index fell significantly during 2008 and those bonds do not match the timing of our expected cash

flows as well we no longer utilize these rates The discount rate established at year-end for purposes
of calculating our

benefit obligation is also used in the calculation of the interest component of benefit expense for the following year In

measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31 2009 we assumed discount rate of 5.45%

0.25 point change in the discount rate would not impact our annual postretirement
benefit expense but would increase or

decrease our postretirement benefit obligation by approximately $3.1 million

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets The long-term rate of return on plan assets reflects the average rate

of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for expected benefit payments In determining this

rate we utilize our historical returns and then adjust these returns for estimated inflation Our inflation assumption is

primarily based on historical inflation data In measuring net postretirement benefit expense for 2009 we assumed an

expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 8.5% 0.25 point change in this assumption would increase or decrease

our annual postretirement benefit expense by approximately $0.2 million

Expected health care cost trend rate The health care cost trend rate represents the expected annual rate of change in

the cost of health care benefits currently provided due to factors other than changes in the demographics of plan participants

In measuring the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation as of December 31 2009 our initial health care inflation rate

for 2010 was assumed to be 8.0% Our ultimate health care inflation rate was assumed to be 5.0% in 2017 and beyond one

percentage point increase in the health care inflation rate for each year
would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit

obligation by $2.4 million and the service and interest cost components of our annual postretirement benefit expense by $0.1

million one percentage point decrease in the health care inflation rate for each
year

would decrease the accumulated

postretirement benefit obligation by $2.0 million and the service and interest cost components of our annual postretirement

benefit expense by $0.1 million

Average remaining life expectancy of plan participants In determining the average remaining life expectancy of plan

participants our actuaries use mortality table which includes estimated death rates for each age We use the RP-2000

Combined Healthy Participant Table projected to the measurement date with Scale AA in determining this assumption

When actual events differ from our assumptions or when we change the assumptions used an unrecognized actuarial

gain or loss results The gain or loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated balance sheet within accumulated

comprehensive loss and is amortized into postretirement benefit expense Effective April 30 2009 we amended our

postretirement
benefit plan to decrease the minimum age

for eligibility to receive the maximum available benefits from age

58 to age 51 and to decrease the service requirement for maximum retiree cost sharing from 30 years to 25 years Prior to the

April 30 2009 plan amendment and re-measurement unrecognized actuarial gains and losses were being amortized over the

average remaining service period of plan participants which was 8.2 years as of December 31 2008 Because the plan

amendment increased the number of participants currently eligible to receive the maximum available benefits almost all of

the plan participants were classified as inactive subsequent to the plan amendment As such actuarial gains and losses are

required to be amortized over the average remaining life expectancy of inactive plan participants which was 18.8 years as of

April 30 3009 This change resulted in $5.2 million decrease in postretirement benefit expense for 2009 as compared to

the expense we had expected for 2009 prior to the plan amendments

See Business Challenges/Market Risks for discussion of the risks related to our postretirement benefit plan
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Restructuring Accruals

Over the past several years we have recorded restructuring accruals as result of facility closings and other cost

management efforts Cost management is one of our strategic objectives and we are continually seeking ways to lower our
cost structure These accruals primarily consist of employee termination benefits payable under our ongoing severance
benefit plan We record accruals for employee termination benefits when it is probable that liability has been incurred and
the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable As such judgment is involved in determining when it is appropriate to

record restructuring accruals Additionally we are required to make estimates and assumptions in calculating the

restructuring accruals as on some occasions employees choose to voluntarily leave the company prior to their termination
date or they secure another position within the company In these situations the employees do not receive termination
benefits To the extent our assumptions and estimates differ from our actual costs subsequent adjustments to restructuring
accruals have been and will be required We reversed previously recorded restructuring accruals of $3.6 million in 2009 $2.4
million in 2008 and $2.6 million in 2007 primarily as result of fewer employees receiving severance benefits than originally

estimated Further information regarding our restructuring accruals can be found under the caption Note Restructuring
charges of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Information regarding the accounting pronouncements adopted during 2009 can be found under the caption Note
Significant accounting policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item of this report

In January 2010 the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update No 2010-06 Fair
Value Measurements and Disclosures This guidance requires new disclosures and clarifies some existing disclosure

requirements about fair value measurements Any additional disclosures required under this guidance will be included in our

quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31 2010 with the exception of disclosures about purchases
sales issuances and settlements in the roilforward of activity in Level fair value measurements Those disclosures are

effective for our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31 2011 For the year ended December 31
2009 we were not required to present in our consolidated financial statements rollforward of activity in Level fair value

measurements

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 the Reform Act provides safe harbor for forward-looking
statements to encourage companies to provide prospective information We are filing this cautionary statement in connection

with the Reform Act When we use the words or phrases should result believe intend plan are expected to
targeted will continue will approximate is anticipated estimate project or similar expressions in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K in future filings with the Securities and Exchange Conmiission in our press releases and in oral

statements made by our representatives they indicate forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Reform Act

We want to caution you that
any forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf are subject to uncertainties and

other factors that could cause them to be incorrect The material uncertainties and other factors known to us are discussed in Item
of this report and are incorporated into this Item of the report as if fully stated herein Although we have attempted to

compile comprehensive list of these important factors we want to caution you that other factors may prove to be important in

affecting future operating results New factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all of these

factors nor can we assess the impact each factor or combination of factors may have on our business

You are further cautioned not to place undue reliance on those forward-looking statements because they speak only of our
views as of the date the statements were made We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as result of the borrowing activities used to support our capital

structure maintain liquidity and fund business operations We do not enter into financial instruments for speculative or trading

purposes During 2009 we used our committed line of credit to fund working capital acquisitions and debt service

requirements The nature and amount of debt outstanding can be expected to vary as result of future business requirements

market conditions and other factors As of December 31 2009 our total debt was comprised of the following

Weighted-

average

Carrying Fair interest

in thousands
amount value1 rate

Long-term notes maturing December 2012 279533 277793 3.74%

Long-term notes maturing October 2014 263220 245490 5.13%

Long-term notes maturing June 2015 200000 196000 7.38%

Amounts drawn on line of credit 26000 26000 0.67%

Total debt 768753 745283 5.06%

Based on quoted market prices as of December 31 2009 for identical liabilities when traded as assets with the exception of amounts drawn on our line of credit

for which fair value equals carrying value due to its short-term nature

We may from time to time consider retiring outstanding debt through open market purchases privately negotiated

transactions or otherwise Any such repurchases or exchanges would depend on prevailing market conditions our liquidity

requirements and other potential uses of cash including acquisitions or share repurchases

In September 2009 we entered into interest rate swaps with notional amount of $210.0 million to hedge against changes

in the fair value of portion of our ten-year bonds due in 2012 We entered into these swaps which we designated as fair value

hedges to achieve targeted mix of fixed and variable rate debt where we receive fixed rate and pay variable rate based on

the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps and the related long-term debt

are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of income When the changes in fair value of the interest rate

swaps and the hedged debt are not equal i.e hedge ineffectiveness the difference in the changes in fair value affects the

reported amount of interest expense in our consolidated statements of income Hedge ineffectiveness was not material for 2009

The fair value of the interest rate swaps as of December 31 2009 was $0.2 million and is included in other non-current liabilities

on the consolidated balance sheet Based on the outstanding variable rate debt in our portfolio one percentage point change in

interest rates would have resulted in $1.3 million change in interest expense
for 2009 excluding the impact of the interest rate

swaps

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates Investments in loans and advances to foreign subsidiaries

and branches as well as the operations of these businesses are denominated in foreign currencies primarily the Canadian dollar

The effect of exchange rate changes is expected to have minimal impact on our results of operations and cash flows as our

foreign operations represent relatively small portion of our business

See Business Challenges/Market Risks for further discussion of market risks
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Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Deluxe Corporation

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income

comprehensive income shareholders equity deficit and cash flows present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of Deluxe Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31 2009 iii conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion the Company maintained in

all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on criteria established

in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for these financial statements for maintaining effective

internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to

express opinions on these financial statements and on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our

integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial

reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of financial statements included examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal

control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the

risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control

based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the company and iiiprovide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Minneapolis Minnesota

February 19 2010
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DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except share par value

December 31
2009 2008

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12789 15590

Trade accounts receivable-net of allowances for uncollectible accounts 65564 68572

Inventories and supplies 22122 25791

Deferred income taxes 10841 17825

Funds held for customers 26901 26078

Other current assets 21282 13230

Total current assets 159499 167086

Long-Term Investments including $2231 and $1855 respectively of

investments at fair value 39200 36794

Property Plant and Equipment-net of accumulated depreciation 121797 128105

Assets Held for Sale 4527

Intangibles-net of accumulated amortization 145910 154081

Goodwill 658666 653044

Other Non-Current Assets 81611 79875

Totalassets 1211210 1218985

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 60640 61598

Accrued liabilities 156408 142599

Short-term debt 26000 78000

Long-term debt due within one year 1440

Total current liabilities 243048 283637

Long-Term Debt 742753 773896

Deferred Income Taxes 24800 9491

Other Non-Current Liabilities 83399 98895

Commitments and Contingencies Notes 13 14 and 18

Shareholders Equity

Common shares $1 par value authorized 500000 shares

issued200951189 51189 51131

Additional paid-in capital 58071 54207

Retained earnings 60768 12682

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 52818 64954
Total shareholders equity 117210 53066

Total liabilities and shareholders equity 1211210 1218985

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

in thousands except per share amounts

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Revenue 1344195 1468662 1588885
Net restructuring charges reversals 4558 14867 368
Other cost of goods sold 500224 551646 574972

Total cost of goods sold 504782 566513 574604

Gross Profit 839413 902149 1014281

Selling general and administrative expense 616496 670991 743449
Net restructuring charges 7428 13400 4701
Asset impairment charges 24900 9942
Net gain on sale of facility and product line

___________
1418 3773

Operating Income 190589 209234 269904

Gain on early debt extinguishment 9834

Interest expense 46280 50421 55294
Other income 878 1363 5405

Income Before Income Taxes 155021 160176 220015

Income tax provision 55656 54304 74898

Income From Continuing Operations 99365 105872 145117

Net Loss From Discontinued Operations _________ 4238 1602
Net Income 99365 101634 143515

Basic Earnings per
Share

Income from continuing operations 1.94 2.06 2.79

Net loss from discontinued operations 0.08 0.03
Basic earnings per share 1.94 1.97 2.76

Diluted Earnings per Share

Income from continuing operations 1.94 2.05 2.78

Net loss from discontinued operations 0.08 0.03
Diluted earnings per share 1.94 1.97 2.75

Cash Dividends per Share 1.00 1.00 1.00

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Net Income 99365 101634 143515

Other Comprehensive Income

Reclassification of loss on derivative instruments from

other comprehensive income to net income net of tax... 1657 1383 2281

Pension and postretirement benefit plans net of tax

Net actuarial gain loss arising during the period 2190 25540 6094
Reclassification of amounts from other comprehensive

income to net income

Amortization of prior service credit 2368 2447 2468
Amortization of net actuarial loss 5989 5943 6156

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 4668 5247 3263

Other Comprehensive Income Loss 12136 25908 3138

Comprehensive Income 111501 75726 146653

Related Tax Expense Benefit of Other Comprehensive

Income Included in Above Amounts

Reclassification of loss on derivative instruments from

other comprehensive income to net income 967 837 1356

Pension and postretirement benefit plans

Net actuarial loss arising during the period 1348 15757 3659

Reclassification of amounts from other

comprehensive income to net income

Amortization of prior service credit 1447 1512 1491

Amortization of net actuarial loss 3584 3666 3708

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Balance December 31 2006
Net income

Cash dividends

Common shares issued

Tax impact of share-based awards

Common shares repurchased

Other common shares retired

Fair value of share-based compensation

Adoption of measurement date change for

postretirement benefit pians net of tax Note 12

Adoption of uncertain tax position guidance Note

Adoption of the fair value option of accounting for

long-term investment net of tax Note

Amounts related to postretirement benefit plans

net of tax Note 12

Amortization of loss on derivatives net of tax

Currency translation adjustment

Balance December31 2007

Net income

Cash dividends

Common shares issued

Tax impact of share-based awards

Common shares repurchased

Other common shares retired

Fair value of share-based compensation

Amounts related to postretirement benefit plans

net of tax Note 12

Amortization of loss on derivatives net of tax

Currency translation adjustment

Balance December 31 2008

Net income

Cash dividends

Common shares issued

Tax impact of share-based awards

Common shares repurchased

Other common shares retired

Fair value of share-based compensation

Amounts related to postretirement benefit plans

net of tax Note 12

Amortization of loss on derivatives net of tax

Currency translation adjustment

Balance December 31 2009

Retained

Additional earnings

paid-in accumulated

297

10929

1354

11710

deficit

125420

143515

52048

65796 37530

101634

51422

2542

2468

20793

1639

54207 12682

99365

51279

1735

2591

1199

608

6527

equity deficit

65673

143515

52048

16738

297

11288

1394

11710

69 814

3074

2406

2281

3263

41107

101634

51422

2922

2468

21847

1721

10769

22044 22044

1383

_________ 5247

53066

99365

51279

1972

2591

1319

667

6527

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DELUXE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICIT

in thousands

Common shares

Number Par

of shares value capital

51519 51519 50101

Total

shareholders

Accumulated

other

comprehensive

loss

41873

767 767 15971

359

40
359

40

745

3074

242

51887 51887

242

2406

2281

3263

39046

380

1054

82

380

1054

82
10769

51131 51131

237

120

59

237

120

59

1383

5247

64954

5811

1657

4668 4668

51189 51189 58071 60768 52818 117210

5811

1657

54



DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Netincome 99365 101634 143515

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

of continuing operations

Net loss from discontinued operations 4238 1602

Depreciation 22463 21881 21786

Amortization of intangibles 45302 42079 45774

Asset impairment charges 24900 9942

Amortization of contract acquisition costs 24550 26618 28189

Deferred income taxes 12039 790 5280

Employee share-based compensation expense 6663 9683 13533

Gain on early debt extinguishment 9834
Other non-cash items net 15111 21912 14772

Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions product line

disposition and discontinued operations

Trade accounts receivable 1481 10578 6065

Inventories and supplies 2793 321 1264
Other current assets 2109 1807 3719

Non-current assets 5403 5404 1665
Accounts payable 1868 9768 667

Contract acquisition payments 29250 9008 14230
Other accmed and non-current liabilities 11345 34430 22668

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations 206438 198487 245075

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchases of capital assets 44266 31865 32286

Payments for acquisitions net of cash acquired 30825 104879 2316

Purchase of customer list 1639 3637
Purchases of marketable securities 4581 1057460

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 914 1057460

Proceeds from sale of facility and product line 4181 19214

Other 1391 427 4459

Net cash used by investing activities of continuing operations 81788 135773 10929

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net payments proceeds from short-term debt 52000 10800 45460
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt net of debt issuance costs 196329

Payments on long-term debt 22627 1755 326582

Change in book overdrafts 3360 6370 3006
Proceeds from issuing shares under employee plans 1972 2801 15923

Excess tax benefit from share-based employee awards 68 112 1242

Payments for common shares repurchased 1319 21847 11288
Cash dividends paid to shareholders 51279 51422 52048

Net cash used by financing activities of continuing operations 128545 67681 224890

Effect of Exchange Rate Change on Cash 1594 2053 1161

Cash Used Provided by Operating Activities of Discontinued Operations 470 995 401
Cash Used by Investing Activities of Discontinued Operations 30

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2801 6025 10016

Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 15590 21615 11599

EndofYear 12789 15590 21615

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note Significant accounting policies

Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Deluxe Corporation and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries All intercompany accounts transactions and profits have been eliminated

Use of estimates We have prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In this process it is necessary for us to make

certain assumptions and estimates affecting the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and related notes

These estimates and assumptions are developed based upon all available information However actual results can differ from

assumed and estimated amounts

Foreign currency translation The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are measured in the respective

subsidiaries functional currencies primarily Canadian dollars and are translated into U.S dollars Assets and liabilities are

translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date Revenue and
expenses are translated at the average

exchange rates during the year The resulting translation gains and losses are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive
loss in the shareholders equity section of our consolidated balance sheets Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are

recorded in other income in our consolidated statements of income

Cash and cash equivalents We consider all cash on hand and other highly liquid investments with original maturities

of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents As result of our cash management system checks issued by us but

not presented to the banks for payment may create negative book cash balances These book overdrafts are included in

accounts payable and totaled $3.7 million as of December 31 2009 and $7.1 million as of December 31 2008

Marketable securities Marketable securities consist of investments in mutual funds They are classified as available

for sale and are carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet based on quoted prices in active markets for identical

assets The cost of securities sold is determined using the specific identification method

Trade accounts receivable Trade accounts receivable are initially recorded at fair value upon the sale of goods or

services to customers They are stated net of allowances for uncollectible accounts which represent estimated losses resulting

from the inability of customers to make the required payments When determining the allowances for uncollectible accounts

we take several factors into consideration including the overall composition of accounts receivable aging our prior history of

accounts receivable write-offs the type of customer and our day-to-day knowledge of specific customers Changes in the

allowances for uncollectible accounts are included in selling general and administrative SGA expense in our consolidated

statements of income The point at which uncollected accounts are written off varies by type of customer but generally does

not exceed one year from the due date of the receivable

Inventories and supplies Inventories and supplies are stated at the lower of average cost or market Average cost

approximates cost calculated on first-in first-out basis Supplies consist of items not used directly in the production of

goods such as maintenance and janitorial supplies utilized in the production area

Funds held for customers As part of our Canadian payroll services business we collect funds from clients to pay
their payroll and related taxes We hold these funds temporarily until payments are remitted to the clients employees and the

appropriate taxing authorities These funds consisting of cash and mutual fund investment are reported as funds held for

customers in our consolidated balance sheets The corresponding liability for these obligations is included in accrued

liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets

Long-term investments Long-term investments consist primarily of cash surrender values of life insurance contracts

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for these investments approximate fair value Additionally

long-term investments include an investment in domestic mutual funds with fair value of $2.2 million as of December 31
2009 and $1.9 million as of December 31 2008 We have elected to account for this investment under the fair value option

for financial assets and financial liabilities The fair value option provides companies an irrevocable option to measure many
financial assets and liabilities at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings We include changes in the fair

value of this investment in SGA expense in the consolidated statements of income This investment corresponds to
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liability under an officers deferred compensation plan which is not available to new participants and is fully funded by the

investment in mutual funds The liability under the plan equals the fair value of the investment in mutual funds Thus as the

value of the investment changes the value of the liability changes accordingly Changes in the liability are reflected within

SGA expense in the consolidated statements of income Dividends earned by the mutual fund investments as reported by

the funds realized gains and losses and permanent declines in value are also included within SGA expense in the

consolidated statements of income The cost of securities sold is determined using the average cost method Prior to January

2007 the mutual fund investment was classified as an available for sale security and unrealized gains and losses net of

tax were reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the shareholders equity section of our consolidated balance

sheets When we adopted the fair value option of accounting for this investment as of January 2007 the cumulative

unrealized gain related to the mutual fund investment of $0.2 million net of tax was reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive loss to accumulated deficit The unrealized pre-tax gain on this investment as of January 2007 was $0.4

million

Property plant and equipment Property plant and equipment including leasehold and other improvements that

extend an assets useful life or productive capabilities are stated at historical cost Buildings have been assigned 40-year lives

and machinery and equipment are generally assigned lives ranging from one to 11 years with weighted-average life of 8.0

years as of December 31 2009 Buildings machinery and equipment are generally depreciated using accelerated methods

Leasehold and building improvements are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the property

or the life of the lease whichever is shorter Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred Gains or losses resulting from

the disposition of property plant and equipment are included in SGA expense in the consolidated statements of income

with the exception of building sales Such gains and losses are reported separately in the consolidated statements of income

Intangibles Intangible assets are stated at historical cost Amortization expense
is generally determined on the

straight-line basis over periods ranging from one to 20
years

with weighted-average life of 6.4 years as of December 31

2009 Customer lists and distributor contracts are amortized using accelerated methods Each reporting period we evaluate

the remaining useful lives of our amortizable intangibles to determine whether events and circumstances warrant revision to

the remaining period of amortization If our estimate of an assets remaining useful life is revised the remaining carrying

amount of the asset is amortized prospectively over the revised remaining useful life As of December 31 2009 one of our

trade name assets was assigned an indefinite life As such this asset is not amortized but is subject to impairment testing on

at least an annual basis Gains or losses resulting from the disposition of intangibles are included in SGA expense in the

consolidated statements of income

We capitalize costs of software developed or obtained for internal use including website development costs once the

preliminary project stage has been completed management commits to funding the project and it is probable that the project

will be completed and the software will be used to perform the function intended Capitalized costs include only external

direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining internal-use software payroll and payroll-

related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to the internal-use software project and

interest costs incurred when significant while developing internal-use software Costs incurred in populating websites with

information about the company or products are expensed as incurred Capitalization of costs ceases when the project is

substantially complete and ready for its intended use The carrying value of internal-use software is reviewed in accordance

with our policy on impairment of long-lived assets and amortizable intangibles

Impairment of long-lived assets and amortizable intangibles We evaluate the recoverability of property plant

equipment and amortizable intangibles not held for sale whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset

carrying amount may not be recoverable Such circumstances could include but are not limited to significant decrease

in the market value of an asset significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or in its

physical condition or an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the

acquisition or construction of an asset We measure the carrying amount of the asset against the estimated undiscounted

future cash flows associated with it If the sum of the expected future net cash flows is less than the carrying value of the

asset being evaluated an impairment loss would be recognized The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by

which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset As quoted market prices are not available for the

majority of our assets the estimate of fair value is based on various valuation techniques including the discounted value of

estimated future cash flows

We evaluate the recoverability of property plant equipment and intangibles held for sale by comparing the assets

carrying amount with its fair value less costs to sell Should the fair value less costs to sell be less than the carrying value of

57



the long-lived asset an impairment loss would be recognized The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by

which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset less costs to sell

The evaluation of asset impairment requires us to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the asset

being evaluated These assumptions require significant judgment and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated

amounts

Impairment of non-amortizable intangibles and goodwill We evaluate the carrying value of non-amortizable

intangibles and goodwill on July of each year and between annual evaluations if events occur or circumstances change
that would indicate possible impairment Such circumstances could include but are not limited to significant adverse

change in legal factors or in business climate unanticipated competition an adverse action or assessment by

regulator or an adverse change in market conditions which are indicative of decline in the fair value of the assets

When evaluating whether our indefinite-lived trade name is impaired we compare the carrying amount of the asset to

its estimated fair value The estimate of fair value is based on relief from royalty method which calculates the cost savings

associated with owning rather than licensing the trade name An assumed royalty rate is applied to forecasted revenue and the

resulting cash flows are discounted Should the estimated fair value be less than the carrying value of the asset being

evaluated an impairment loss would be recognized The impairment loss is calculated as the amount by which the carrying

value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset The impairment analyses completed during 2009 and 2008 indicated

impairment of trade names in our Small Business Services segment See Note for further information regarding these

impairment charges and Note 18 for related information regarding market risks The impairment analysis completed during

2007 indicated no impairment of our indefinite-lived trade names In addition to the required impairment analyses we

regularly evaluate the remaining useful life of our indefinite-lived asset to determine whether events and circumstances

continue to support an indefinite useful life If we determine that the asset has finite useful life we test the asset for

impairment and then amortize the assets remaining carrying value over its estimated remaining useful life

two-step approach is used in evaluating goodwill for impairment First we compare the fair value of the reporting

unit to which the goodwill is assigned to the carrying amount of its net assets In calculating fair value we use the income

approach The income approach is valuation technique under which we estimate future cash flows using the reporting units

financial forecast from the perspective of an unrelated market participant Future estimated cash flows are discounted to their

present value to calculate fair value The discount rate used is the value-weighted average of our estimated cost of capital

derived using both known and estimated
customary market metrics In determining the fair value of our reporting units we

are required to estimate number of factors including projected future operating results terminal growth rates economic

conditions anticipated future cash flows the discount rate and the allocation of shared or corporate items For

reasonableness the summation of our reporting units fair values is compared to our consolidated fair value as indicated by

our market capitalization plus an appropriate control premium If the carrying amount of reporting units net assets exceeds

its estimated fair value the second step of the goodwill impairment analysis requires us to measure the amount of the

impairment loss An impairment loss is calculated by comparing the implied fair value of the goodwill to its carrying amount

In calculating the implied fair value of the goodwill we measure the fair value of the reporting units assets and liabilities

excluding goodwill The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the amount assigned to its assets and liabilities

excluding goodwill is the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill We recorded goodwill impairment charge

during the first quarter of 2009 See Note for further information The impairment analyses completed during 2008 and

2007 indicated no goodwill impairment See Note 18 for related information regarding market risks

Contract acquisition costs We record contract acquisition costs when we sign or renew certain contracts with our

financial institution clients These costs which are essentially pre-paid product discounts consist of cash payments or

accruals related to amounts owed to financial institution clients by our Financial Services segment Contract acquisition costs

are generally amortized as reductions of revenue on the straight-line basis over the related contract term Currently these

amounts are being amortized over periods ranging from one to 10 years with weighted-average life of 5.7 years as of

December 31 2009 Whenever events or changes occur that impact the related contract including significant declines in the

anticipated profitability we evaluate the carrying value of the contract acquisition costs to determine if impairment has

occurred Should financial institution cancel contract prior to the agreements termination date or should the volume of

orders realized through financial institution fall below contractually-specified minimums we generally have contractual

right to refund of the remaining unamortized contract acquisition costs These costs are included in other non-current assets

in the consolidated balance sheets See Note 18 for related information regarding market risks
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Advertising costs Deferred advertising costs include materials printing labor and postage costs related to direct

response advertising programs of our Direct Checks and Small Business Services segments These costs are amortized as

SGA expense over periods not exceeding 18 months that correspond to the estimated revenue streams of the individual

advertisements The actual revenue streams are analyzed at least annually to monitor the propriety of the amortization

periods Judgment is required in estimating the future revenue streams especially with regard to check re-orders which can

span an extended period of time Significant changes in the actual revenue streams would require the amortization periods to

be modified thus impacting our results of operations during the period in which the change occurred and in subsequent

periods Within our Direct Checks segment approximately 81% of the costs of individual advertisements are expensed within

six months of the advertisement The majority of the deferred advertising costs of our Small Business Services segment are

fully amortized within six months of the advertisement Deferred advertising costs are included in other non-current assets in

the consolidated balance sheets as portions are amortized over periods in excess of one year

Non-direct response advertising projects are expensed the first time the advertising takes place Catalogs provided to

financial institution clients of the Financial Services segment are accounted for as prepaid assets until they are shipped to

financial institutions The total amount of advertising expense for continuing operations was $83.1 million in 2009 $110.5

million in 2008 and $120.0 million in 2007

Restructuring charges Over the past several years we have recorded restructuring accruals as result of facility

closings and other cost management efforts These accruals primarily consist of employee termination benefits payable under

our ongoing severance benefit plan We record accruals for employee termination benefits when it is probable that liability

has been incurred and the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable As such judgment is involved in determining when

it is appropriate to record restructuring accruals Additionally we are required to make estimates and assumptions in

calculating the restructuring accruals as on some occasions employees choose to voluntarily leave the company prior to their

termination date or they secure another position within the company In these situations the employees do not receive

termination benefits To the extent our assumptions and estimates differ from our actual costs subsequent adjustments to

restructuring accruals have been and will be required Restructuring accruals are included in accrued liabilities and other non

current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets In addition to severance benefits we also typically incur other costs

related to restructuring activities including but not limited to equipment moves training and travel These costs are

expensed as incurred

Deferred income taxes Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the financial reporting

basis of assets and liabilities and their respective tax reporting bases Current deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted in

the consolidated balance sheets as are long-term deferred tax assets and liabilities Future tax benefits are recognized to the

extent that realization of such benefits is more likely than not

Derivative financial instruments Information regarding our derivative financial instruments is found in Note We
do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes All derivative transactions must be linked to

an existing balance sheet item or firm commitment and the notional amount cannot exceed the value of the exposure being

hedged

We recognize all derivative financial instruments in the consolidated financial statements at fair value regardless of the

purpose or intent for holding the instrument Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognized

periodically either in income or in shareholders equity as component of accumulated other comprehensive loss depending

on whether the derivative financial instrument qualifies for hedge accounting and if so whether it qualifies as fair value

hedge or cash flow hedge Generally changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges are recorded in

income along with the portion of the change in the fair value of the hedged items that relate to the hedged risk Changes in

fair values of derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges to the extent they are effective as hedges are recorded in

accumulated other comprehensive loss net of tax We present amounts used to settle cash flow hedges as financing activities

in our consolidated statements of cash flows Changes in fair values of derivatives not qualifying as hedges are reported in

income

Revenue recognition We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists delivery has

occurred or services have been rendered the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably

assured The majority of our revenues are generated from the sale of products for which revenue is recognized upon shipment

or customer receipt based upon the transfer of title Our services which account for the remainder of our revenue consist

primarily of fraud prevention web hosting and applications services and payroll services We recognize these service
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revenues as the services are provided In some situations our web hosting and applications services are billed on quarterly

semi-annual or annual basis When customer pays in advance for services we defer the revenue and recognize it as the

services are performed Up-front set-up fees related to our web hosting and applications services are deferred and recognized

as revenue on the straight-line basis over the term of the customer relationship Deferred revenue is included in accrued

liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets

Revenue includes amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling and pass-through costs such as marketing

materials for which our financial institution clients reimburse us Costs incurred for shipping and handling and pass-through

costs are reflected in cost of goods sold For sales with right of return we record reserve for estimated sales returns based

on significant historical experience

At times financial institution client may terminate its contract with us prior to the end of the contract term In many

of these cases the financial institution is contractually required to remit contract termination payment Such payments are

recorded as revenue when the termination agreement is executed provided that we have no further service or contractual

obligations and collection of the funds is assured If we have continuing service obligation following the execution of

contract termination agreement we record the related revenue over the remaining service period

Revenue is presented in the consolidated statements of income net of rebates discounts amortization of contract

acquisition costs and sales tax We enter into contractual agreements with financial institution clients for rebates on certain

products we sell We record these amounts as reductions of revenue in the consolidated statements of income and as accrued

liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets when the related revenue is recorded At times we may also sell products at

discounted prices or provide free products to customers when they purchase specified product Discounts are recorded as

reductions of revenue when the related revenue is recorded The cost of free products is recorded as cost of goods sold when

the revenue for the related purchase is recorded Additionally reported revenue for our Financial Services segment does not

reflect the full retail price paid by end-consumers to their financial institutions Revenue reflects the amounts paid to us by

our financial institution clients

Employee share-based compensation Our share-based compensation consists of non-qualified stock options

restricted stock units restricted stock and an employee stock purchase plan The fair value of stock options is measured on

the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model The related compensation expense is recognized on the straight-

line basis net of estimated forfeitures over the options vesting period The fair value of restricted stock and portion of our

restricted stock unit awards is measured on the grant date based on the market value of our common stock The related

compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures is recognized over the applicable service period Certain of our restricted

stock unit awards may be settled in cash if an employee voluntarily chooses to leave the company These awards are included

in accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and are re-measured at fair value as of each balance sheet date

Compensation expense for the 15% discount provided under our employee stock purchase plan is recognized over the six-

month purchase period

Earnings per share Basic earnings per
share is based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding

during the year Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the

year adjusted to give effect to potential common shares such as stock options and shares to be issued under our employee stock

purchase plan When determining the denominator for the diluted earnings per share calculation under the treasury stock

method we exclude from assumed proceeds the impact of pro forma deferred tax assets As of January 2009 we adopted

authoritative guidance requiring earnings per share to be calculated using the two-class method when there are unvested share-

based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalent payments The two-class method is

an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of common stock and participating security

according to dividends declared and participation rights in undistributed earnings We restated earnings per share for previous

periods to comply with this new guidance

Comprehensive income Comprehensive income includes charges and credits to shareholders equity that are not the

result of transactions with shareholders Our total comprehensive income consists of net income gains and losses on

derivative instruments changes in the funded status and amortization of amounts related to our pension and postretirement

benefit plans and foreign currency
translation adjustments The items of comprehensive income with the exception of net

income are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheets and statements of

shareholders equity deficit
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Recently adopted accounting pronouncements In December 2007 the Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB revised the authoritative guidance regarding the accounting for business combinations This guidance applies to all

transactions or other events in which an entity the acquirer obtains control of one or more businesses the acquiree

including those sometimes referred to as true mergers or mergers of equals The revised accounting treatment for

business acquisitions impacts financial statements at the acquisition date and in subsequent periods We are required to apply

the new guidance to business combinations completed after December 31 2008 Under the new standard acquisition-related

costs must be expensed as incurred Previously these costs were capitalized as part of the acquisition purchase price As

discussed in Note we completed two acquisitions in July 2009 Acquisition-related costs included in our 2009 consolidated

statement of income were not significant For acquisitions completed prior to January 2009 the new standard requires that

changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and acquired income tax uncertainties after the measurement period must

be recognized in earnings rather than as adjustments to the cost of the acquisition This new guidance did not significantly

impact our 2009 consolidated financial statements

In March 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance which changed the disclosure requirements for derivative

instruments and hedging activities This guidance was effective for us on January 2009 Disclosures required under this

guidance are presented in Notes and

In April 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance addressing the determination of the useful life of intangible

assets which have legal regulatory or contractual provisions that potentially limit companys use of an asset Under the new

guidance company should consider its own historical experience in renewing or extending similararrangements We are

required to apply the new guidance to intangible assets acquired after December 31 2008 We did not acquire any limited use

intangibles during 2009 and we are not able to predict the impact of this guidance if any on the accounting for assets we

may acquire in future periods As of January 2009 we had an intangible asset for distributor contracts which was recorded

in conjunction with the acquisition of New England Business Service Inc NEBS in June 2004 The distributor Contract

asset had carrying value of $6.3 million as of December 31 2009 and is being amortized over nine years In general the

distributor contracts have an initial five-year term and may be renewed for successive five-year periods upon mutual

agreement of both parties At the time the original fair value of these contracts was determined an annual 90% contract

retention rate was assumed based on historical experience As of December 31 2009 the average period remaining to the

next contract renewal for our recognized distributor contracts was 2.5 years Costs related to renewing or extending these

contracts are not material and are expensed as incurred

In June 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance stating that unvested share-based payment awards that contain

nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalent payments are participating securities and should be included in the

computation of earnings per
share using the two-class method The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that

determines earnings per share for each class of common stock and participating security according to dividends declared and

participation rights in undistributed earnings The terms of our restricted stock unit and restricted stock awards provide

nonforfeitable right to receive dividend equivalent payments on unvested awards As such these awards are considered

participating securities under the new guidance Effective January 2009 we began reporting earnings per share under the

two-class method and we restated our historical earnings per share accordingly see Note The impact on previously

reported earnings per share was not significant

In December 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance regarding an employers disclosures about plan assets of

defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan Any additional disclosures required under the new guidance are

presented in Note 12

In April 2009 the FASB issued authoritative guidance which amends and clarifies the initial recognition and

measurement subsequent measurement and accounting and related disclosures arising from contingencies in business

combination We are required to apply the new guidance to business combinations completed after December 31 2008 This

new guidance did not significantly impact our 2009 consolidated financial statements

In April 2009 the FASB issued authoritative guidance requiring disclosures about the fair value of financial

instruments for interim reporting periods as well as in annual financial statements The disclosures required under this

guidance are presented in Note

In May 2009 the FASB issued authoritative guidance which establishes general standards of accounting for and

disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be
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issued We adopted the new guidance during the quarter ended June 30 2009 We evaluated subsequent events through

February 19 2010 the date our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2009 were filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission SEC We determined there were no subsequent events which required recognition or

disclosure in these consolidated financial statements

Accounting pronouncements not yet adopted In January 2010 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No
20 10-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures This guidance requires new disclosures and clarifies some existing

disclosure requirements about fair value measurements Any additional disclosures required under this guidance will be

included in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31 2010 with the exception of disclosures about

purchases sales issuances and settlements in the rollforward of activity in Level fair value measurements Those

disclosures are effective for our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31 2011 For the year ended

December 31 2009 we were not required to present in our consolidated financial statements rollforward of activity in

Level fair value measurements

Note Supplementary balance sheet and cash flow information

Trade accounts receivable Net trade accounts receivable was comprised of the following at December 31

in thousands 2009 2008

Trade accounts receivable 70555 74502

Allowances for uncollectible accounts 4991 5930

Trade accounts receivable net 65564 68572

Changes in the allowances for uncollectible accounts were as follows

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Balance beginning of
year 5930 6877 7915

Bad debt expense 5842 7756 8233

Write-offs net of recoveries 6781 8703 9271

Balance end of year 4991 5930 6877

Inventories and supplies Inventories and supplies were comprised of the following at December 31

in thousands 2009 2008

Raw materials 4048 4047

Semi-finished goods 8750 10807

Finished goods 5602 6608

Total inventories 18400 21462

Supplies primarily production 3722 4329

Inventories and supplies 22122 25791
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Property plant and equipment Property plant and equipment was comprised of the following at December 31

in thousands

Land and land improvements

Buildings and building improvements

Machinery and equipment

Total

Accumulated depreciation

Property plant and equipment net

2009

33917

120222

303073

457212

335415

121797

2008

35097

133865

300029

468991

340886

128105

Intangibles During 2009 we retired $85.4 million of fully amortized customer lists/relationships Intangibles were

comprised of the following at December 31

in thousands

Indefinite-lived

Trade name 19100

Amortizable intangibles

Internal-use software 341822 285181

Customer lists/relationships 55745 25777
Distributor contracts 30900 24594
Trade names 51861 20375
Other 8683 6274 __________ __________ _____________

Amortizable intangibles 489011 362201 __________ _________ ____________

Intangibles 508111 362201
__________ __________ _____________

55173

28567

8108

34941

_________ _____________ __________ __________ _____________ 3292

_________ _____________ __________ __________ _____________
130081

_________ _____________ __________ _____________
154081

Total amortization of intangibles was $45.3 million in 2009 $42.1 million in 2008 and $45.8 million in 2007 Of these

amounts amortization of internal-use software was $25.2 million in 2009 $17.5 million in 2008 and $16.6 million in 2007

Based on the intangibles in service as of December 31 2009 estimated amortizationexpense for each of the next five years

ending December 31 is as follows

in thousands

2010 36355

2011 27309

2012 14094

2013 7808

2014 4791

Gross

carrying

amount

2009 2008

Accumulated

amortization

Net

carrying

amount

Gross

carrying

amount

Accumulated

amortization

19100 24000

Net

carrying

amount

24000

56641

29968

6306

31486

2409

126810

145910

315493 260320

125530 96963

30900 22792

54861 19920

8505 5213

535289 405208

559289 405208
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We acquire internal-use software in the normal course of business In conjunction with acquisitions see Note we

also acquired certain other amortizable intangible assets The following intangible assets were acquired during the years

indicated

2009 2008 2007

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

average average average

amortization amortization amortization

in thousands Amount period Amount period Amount period

Internal-use software 24911 years 39418 years 17394 years

Customer lists/relationships 13943 years 19292 11 years

Trade names 900 10 years 1016 years

Other 900 years __________

Acquired intangibles 39754 years 60626 years 17394 years

Goodwill As of December 31 2009 goodwill was comprised of the following

in thousands

Acquisition of NEBS in June 2004 472082

Acquisition of Designer Checks Inc in February
20001 77970

Acquisition of Hostopia.com Inc in August 2008 see Note 68555

Acquisition of Abacus America Inc in July 2009 see Note 24225

Acquisition of the Johnson Group in October 20061 7320

Acquisition of Direct Checks in December 1987 4267

Acquisition of Logo Design Mojo Inc in April 2008 see Note 1355

Acquisition of MerchEngines.com in July 2009 see Note 41 1140

Acquisition of Dots and Pixels Inc in July 2005 990

Acquisition of All Trade Computer Forms Inc in February 2007 see Note 4. 762

Goodwill 658666

This goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes

Changes in goodwill were as follows

Small

Business Direct

in thousands Services Checks Total

Balance December 31 2007 502686 82237 584923

Acquisition of Hostopia.com Inc see Note 68555 68555

Acquisition of Logo Design Mojo Inc see Note 1359 1359

Adjustment to NEBS acquisition uncertain tax positions 1436 1436

Currency translation adjustment 357
____________

357

Balance December 31 2008 570807 82237 653044

Impairment charge see Note 20000 20000

Acquisition of Abacus America Inc see Note 24225 24225

Acquisition of MerchEngines.com see Note 1140 1140

Currency translation adjustment 257 257

Balance December 31 2009

Goodwill 596429 82237 678666

Accumulated impairment charges 20000 20000

576429 82237 658666
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Other non-current assets Other non-current assets as of December 31 were comprised of the following

in thousands 2009 2008

Contract acquisition costs net of accumulated

amortization of $107971 and $99502

respectively 45701 37706

Deferred advertising costs 14455 20189

Other 21455 21980

Other non-current assets 81611 79875

See Note 18 for discussion of market risks related to contract acquisition costs Changes in contract acquisition costs

were as follows

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Balance beginning of year 37706 55516 71721

Additions
32545 8808 11984

Amortization 24550 26618 28189

Balanceendofyear 45701 37706 55516

Contract acquisition costs are accrued upon contract execution Cash payments made for contract acquisition costs were $29250 in 2009 $9008 in 2008

and $14230 in 2007

Accrued liabilities Accrued liabilities as of December 31 were comprised of the following

in thousands 2009 2008

Employee profit sharing and pension 36594 15061

Funds held for customers 26901 26078

Deferred revenue 23720 1889

Customerrebates 21861 29113

Restructuring due within one year see Note 11151 20379

Wages including vacation 5272 12176

Interest 5227 5394

Contract acquisition costs due within one year 2795 4326

Other 22887 28183

Accrued liabilities 156408 142599

Deferred revenue as of December 31 2009 increased $21.8 million from December 31 2008 due primarily to

contract termination settlement in the fourth quarter of 2009 and the acquisition of Abacus America Inc in July 2009 see
Note The revenue from the contract termination settlement is being recognized over the contracts remaining service

period which we expect to be six months

Supplemental cash flow disclosures Cash payments for interest and income taxes were as follows for the years ended

December 31

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Interestpaid 43513 50441 57077

Income taxes paid 56060 59997 89944

Proceeds from sales of available for sale marketable securities were $0.9 million for 2009 Purchases of and proceeds

from sales of available for sale marketable securities were $1057.5 million for 2007 We did not hold marketable securities
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during 2008 Marketable securities purchased and sold during 2009 consisted of investments in mutual funds comprised

primarily of short-term investments including treasury bills and other money market instruments Marketable securities

purchased and sold during 2007 consisted primarily of investments in tax-exempt mutual funds The funds were comprised of

variable rate demand notes municipal bonds and notes and commercial paper For the investments in both years cost

equaled fair value due to the short-term duration of the underlying investments No realized or unrealized gains or losses on

marketable securities were generated during 2009 or 2007

For 2007 other investing activities reported on the consolidated statement of cash flows was primarily comprised of

cash proceeds of $1.6 million from mortgage note receivable benefits of $1.2 million received under life insurance policies

and cash proceeds of $1.1 million received from the sale of miscellaneous fixed assets

Note Earnings per share

As discussed in Note as of January 2009 we adopted authoritative guidance requiring earnings per share to be

calculated using the two-class method when there are unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights

to dividends or dividend equivalent payments As result we have restated earnings per share for 2008 and 2007 to comply

with this new guidance The impact on previously reported earnings per
share was not significant

The following table reflects the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations During

each period certain options as noted below were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per
share because their

effect would have been antidilutive

in thousands except per share amounts 2009 2008 2007

Earnings per share basic

Income from continuing operations 99365 105872 145117

Income allocated to participating securities 751 1231 1614

Income available to common shareholders 98614 104641 143503

Weighted-average shares outstanding 50837 50905 51436

Earnings per share basic 1.94 2.06 2.79

Earnings per share diluted

Income from continuing operations 99365 105872 145117

Income allocated to participating securities 751 1231 1611

Re-measurement of share-based awards

classified as liabilities 18 362 10

Income available to common shareholders 98596 104279 143496

Weighted-average shares outstanding 50837 50905 51436

Dilutive impact of options and employee stock

purchase plan 88 15 156

Weighted-average shares and potential dilutive

shares outstanding 50925 50920 51592

Earnings per share diluted 1.94 2.05 2.78

Average antidilutive options excluded from

calculation 2446 3505 2124

Earnings per share amounts for continuing operations discontinued operations and net income as presented on the

consolidated statements of income are calculated individually and may not sum due to rounding differences
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Note Acquisitions and disposition

2009 acquisitions During July 2009 we purchased all of the common stock of Abacus America Inc wholly-

owned subsidiary of Aplus Holdings Inc and web hosting and internet services provider in cash transaction for $27.6

million net of cash acquired We acquired this company for its large number of small business subscribers of shared web

hosting hosted e-commerce stores managed e-mail services domain name registration and variety of website management

applications The acquisition was funded using availability on our existing credit facility The allocation of the purchase price

based upon the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed resulted in goodwill of $24.2 million We believe this

acquisition resulted in the recognition of goodwill as we have expanded our customer base and expect to provide the acquired

customers upgraded offerings and enhanced web services The net assets acquired consisted principally of customer

relationships with an estimated fair value of $11.9 million and liability for deferred revenue of $7.3 million The customer

relationship asset is being amortized over seven years using an accelerated method Further information regarding the

calculation of the estimated fair values of the customer relationship asset and the liability for deferred revenue can be found

in Note The results of this business were included in our Small Business Services segment from its acquisition date

Also during July 2009 we purchased substantially all of the assets of MerchEngines.com search engine marketing

firm in cash transaction for $3.2 million net of cash acquired MerchEngines.com provides ad agencies traditional media

companies online publishers and local aggregators hosted and fully managed search engine marketing solution The

allocation of the purchase price based upon the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed resulted in tax

deductible goodwill of $1.1 million We believe this acquisition resulted in the recognition of goodwill as it increases the

product offerings we provide to our existing small business customers The results of this business were included in our

Small Business Services segment from its acquisition date

2008 acquisitions In August 2008 we acquired all of the common shares of Hostopia.com Inc Hostopia in cash

transaction for $99.4 million net of cash acquired We utilized availability under our existing lines of credit to fund the

acquisition Hostopia is provider of web services that enable small businesses to establish and maintain an internet

presence It also provides email marketing fax-to-email mobility synchronization and other services The allocation of the

purchase price based upon the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed resulted in goodwill of $68.6 million

We believe this acquisition resulted in the recognition of goodwill as Hostopia provides unified scaleable services delivery

technology platform which we are utilizing as we strive to obtain greater portion of our revenue from business services

Hostopia technology architecture is the primary delivery platform for these business services offerings The results of this

business were included in our Small Business Services segment from its acquisition date

The following illustrates our allocation of the Hostopia purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed

in thousands

Cash and cash equivalents 23747

Other current assets 5011

Intangibles 35000

Goodwill 68555

Other non-current assets 4104

Current liabilities 3583
Non-current liabilities 9737

Total purchase price 123097

Less cash acquired 23747
Purchase price net of cash acquired 99350

Acquired intangible assets included internal-use software valued at $17.9 million with useful lives ranging from to

years customer lists/relationships valued at $16.2 million with useful life of 12 years and trade name valued at $0.9 million

with useful life of 10 years The software and trade name assets are being amortized using the straight-line method while the

customer lists/relationships are being amortized using an accelerated method Further information regarding the calculation of

the estimated fair values of the internal-use software and the customer lists/relationships can be found in Note
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We also acquired the assets of PartnerUp Inc PartnerUp Logo Design Mojo Inc Logo Mojo and Yoffi Digital Press

Yoffi during 2008 for an aggregate cash amount of $5.5 million The PartnerUp transaction includes contingent compensation

payments through 2012 based on PartnerUps revenue and operating margin provided the sellers remain employed by the

company PartnerUp is an online community that is designed to connect small businesses and entrepreneurs with resources and

contacts to build their businesses Logo Mojo is Canadian-based online logo design firm and Yoffi is commercial digital

printer specializing in custom marketing material The results of all three businesses were included in Small Business Services

from their acquisition dates The allocation of the purchase price based upon the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed resulted in tax deductible goodwill of $1.4 million related to the Logo Mojo acquisition We believe this acquisition

resulted in goodwill primarily due to Logo Mojos web-based workflow which we expected to incorporate into our processes

and which increased our product offerings for small businesses The assets acquired consisted primarily of internal-use software

which is being amortized on the straight-line basis over years

2007 acquisition In February 2007 we acquired all of the common stock of All Trade Computer Forms Inc All

Trade for cash of $2.3 million net of cash acquired All Trade is custom form printer based in Canada The results of this

business were included in our Small Business Services segment from its acquisition date The allocation of the purchase price

to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed resulted in goodwill of $0.7 million We believe this acquisition resulted in

goodwill due to All Trades expertise in custom printing which we expected to expand our core printing capabilities and

product offerings for small businesses

As our acquisitions are immaterial to our operating results both individually and in the aggregate in the year of the

transactions pro
forma results of operations are not provided

2007 disposition In January 2007 we completed the sale of the assets of our Small Business Services industrial

packaging product line for $19.2 million realizing pre-tax gain of $3.8 million This sale had an insignificant impact on diluted

earnings per share because the effective tax rate specifically attributable to the gain was higher since the goodwill written-off is

not deductible for tax purposes This product line generated approximately $51 million of revenue in 2006 The disposition of

this product line did not qualify to be reported as discontinued operations in our consolidated financial statements

Note Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

Discontinued operations Discontinued operations consisted of our Russell Miller RMSM retail packaging and

signage business which we sold in January 2009 We evaluate our businesses and product lines periodically for strategic fit

within our operations In December 2008 we determined that this non-strategic business met the criteria to be classified as

discontinued operations in our consolidated financial statements Based on the estimated fair value of this business we

reduced the carrying value of its long-lived assets and inventories and recorded pre-tax charge of $3.4 million which was

included in net loss from discontinued operations in our 2008 consolidated statement of income On January 31 2009 we

completed the sale of this business for gross cash proceeds of $0.3 million plus note receivable Assets of discontinued

operations were included in our Small Business Services segment and consisted of the following

December 31

in thousands 2008

Trade accounts receivable 852

Inventories and supplies 36

Other current assets 120

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 330

Net assets of discontinued operations 678
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Revenue and income from discontinued operations were as follows

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Revenue 816 14378 17482

Loss from operations 155 3031 2360
Gain loss on disposal 155 3416
Income tax benefit

________ 2209 758

Net loss from discontinued operations 4238 1602

Assets held for sale Assets held for sale as of December 31 2009 consisted of our facility located in Thorofare New
Jersey which was closed in April 2009 and our facility located in Greensboro North Carolina which was closed in July

2009 Both facilities previously housed manufacturing operations while the Thorofare location also housed customer call

center We are actively marketing both properties and expect their selling prices to exceed their carrying values

During 2008 we completed the sale of our Flagstaff Arizona facility which was closed in August 2008 Proceeds from

the sale were $4.2 million resulting in pre-tax gain of $1.4 million

Note Derivative financial instruments

In September 2009 we entered into interest rate swaps with notional amount of $210.0 million to hedge against changes
in the fair value of portion of our ten-year bonds due in 2012 We entered into these swaps which we designated as fair value

hedges to achieve targeted mix of fixed and variable rate debt where we receive fixed rate and pay variable rate based on
the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps and the related long-term debt

are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of income When the change in the fair value of the interest rate

swaps and the hedged debt are not equal i.e hedge ineffectiveness the difference in the changes in fair value affects the

reported amount of interest
expense in our consolidated statements of income Hedge ineffectiveness was not significant for

2009 The fair value of the interest rate swaps as of December 31 2009 was $0.2 million and is included in other non-current

liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet See Note for further information regarding the fair value of these instruments

During 2004 we entered into $225.0 million of forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge or lock-in the interest rate

on portion of the debt we issued in October 2004 see Note 13 The termination of the lock agreements in 2004 yielded

deferred pre-tax loss of $17.9 million During 2002 we entered into two forward rate lock agreements to effectively hedge the

annual interest rate on $150.0 million of the $300.0 million notes issued in December 2002 see Note 13 The termination of the

lock agreements in December 2002 yielded deferred pre-tax loss of $4.0 million These losses are reflected net of tax in

accumulated other comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheets and are being reclassified ratably to our statements of

income as increases to interest expense over the term of the related debt We expect to recognize $2.1 million of the deferred

pre-tax losses in interest expense during 2010

Note Fair value measurements

2009 asset impairment analyses We evaluate the carrying value of our indefinite-lived trade name and goodwill on July
1St of each year and between annual evaluations if events occur or circumstances change that would indicate possible

impairment During the quarter ended March 31 2009 we experienced continued declines in our stock price as well as

continuing negative impact of the economic downturn on our expected operating results Based on these indicators of potential

impairment we completed impairment analyses of our indefinite-lived trade name and goodwill as of March 31 2009 No such

impairment analyses were required during the quarters ended June 30 2009 or December 31 2009 as there were no indicators

of potential impairment during these periods

The estimate of fair value of our indefinite-lived trade name is based on relief from royalty method which calculates the

cost savings associated with owning rather than licensing the trade name An assumed royalty rate is applied to forecasted

revenue and the resulting cash flows are discounted If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value of the asset an

69



impairment loss is recognized During the quarter ended March 31 2009 we recorded non-cash asset impairment charge in

our Small Business Services segment of $4.9 million related to our indefinite-lived trade name

two-step approach is used in evaluating goodwill for impairment First we compare the fair value of the reporting unit

to which the goodwill is assigned to the carrying amount of its net assets In calculating fair value we use the income approach

The income approach is valuation technique under which we estimate future cash flows using the reporting units financial

forecast from the perspective of an unrelated market participant Future estimated cash flows are discounted to their present

value to calculate fair value During the quarter ended March 31 2009 the carrying value of the net assets of one of our

reporting units exceeded the estimated fair value As such the second step of the goodwill impairment analysis required that we

compare the implied fair value of the goodwill to its carrying amount In calculating the implied fair value of the goodwill we

measured the fair value of the reporting units assets and liabilities excluding goodwill The excess of the fair value of the

reporting unit over the amount assigned to its assets and liabilities excluding goodwill is the implied fair value of the reporting

units goodwill Significant intangible assets of the reporting unit identified for purposes of this impairment analysis included

the indefinite-lived trade name discussed above and distributor contract intangible asset The fair value of the distributor

contract was measured using the income approach including adjustments for an estimated distributor retention rate based on

historical experience As result of our analysis we recorded non-cash asset impairment charge in our Small Business

Services segment of $20.0 million related to goodwill

During the quarter ended September 30 2009 we completed the annual impairment analyses of our indefinite-lived trade

name and goodwill The calculated fair value of the indefinite-lived trade name was estimated to be $23.5 million as of the

measurement date compared to its carrying value of $19.1 million In our analysis of goodwill the estimated fair value of each

reporting unit as of the measurement date exceeded its carrying amount As such no impairment charges were recorded as

result of our 2009 annual impairment analyses

2008 asset impairment analyses During the quarter ended September 30 2008 we completed the annual impairment

analyses of our indefinite-lived trade names and goodwill We recorded impairment charges of $9.3 million related to the

indefinite-lived trade names as result of the effects of the economic downturn on our expected revenues and the broader

effects of U.S market conditions on the fair value of the assets In addition to the impairment analysis of indefinite-lived trade

names we completed fair value analysis of an amortizable trade name with carrying value of $0.4 million and recorded an

impairment charge of $0.4 million related to this asset This impairment resulted from change in our branding strategy

As of December 31 2008 we completed additional impairment analyses of our indefinite-lived trade names and goodwill

based on the continuing impact of the economic downturn on our expected operating results As result of these analyses we

recorded an asset impairment charge of $0.3 million related to our NEBS trade name bringing the carrying value of this asset

to $25.8 million as of December 31 2008 The impairment analysis completed as of December 31 2008 indicated no

impairment of our other indefinite-lived trade name which had carrying value of $24.0 million as of December 31 2008

Because of the further deterioration in our expected operating results we determined that the NEBS trade name no longer had

an indefinite life and thus we began amortizing it over its estimated economic life of 20 years on the straight-line basis

beginning in 2009 Although the use of checks and forms is declining revenues generated from our Small Business Services

strategies have and we expect will continue to offset portion of the decline in revenues and cash flows generated from the

sale of checks and forms As such we believe that the sale of checks and forms as well as the sale of additional products and

services under the NEBS trade name will generate sufficient cash flows to support our estimated 20-year economic life for this

intangible asset

2007 asset impairment analyses During the quarter ended September 30 2007 we completed the annual impairment

analyses of our indefinite-lived trade names and goodwill These analyses did not indicate impairment

2009 acquisitions During 2009 we completed two business combinations see Note With the exception of

goodwill and deferred income taxes we were required to measure the fair value of the net identifiable tangible and

intangible assets and liabilities acquired The identifiable net assets acquired excluding goodwill were comprised primarily

of customer relationships and deferred revenue related to the acquisition of Abacus America Inc The fair value of the

customer relationships was estimated using the multi-period excess earnings method Assumptions used in this calculation

included same-customer revenue growth rate and an estimated annual customer retention rate The same-customer growth

rate was based on expected pricing and the customer retention rate was based on the business historical attrition as well as

managements estimate of customer retention the effort required to obtain customer customer costs to change suppliers

and the effort required to renew contracts The calculated fair value of the customer relationships was $11.9 million which
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is being amortized over seven years using an accelerated method The calculated fair value of deferred revenue was $7.3

million based on the direct and incremental costs to provide the services required plus an estimated market-based profit

margin

2008 acquisitions During 2008 we completed four business combinations see Note The identifiable net assets

acquired excluding goodwill were comprised primarily of internal-use software and customer lists/relationships related to

the acquisition of Hostopia The fair value of the internal-use software was estimated using cost of reproduction method

The primary components of the software were identified and the estimated cost to reproduce the software was calculated

using estimated time and labor rates The calculated fair value of Hostopias internal-use software was $17.9 million which

is being amortized on the straight-line basis over periods ranging from to years The fair value of the customer

lists/relationships was estimated using the multi-period excess earnings method The calculated fair value of the customer

lists/relationships was $16.2 million which is being amortized over 12 years using an accelerated method

Discontinued operations As discussed in Note during 2008 we measured the net assets of discontinued operations at

fair value Based on the estimated fair value of the business sold we reduced the carrying value of its long-lived assets and

inventories and recorded pre-tax charge of $3.4 million which was included in net loss from discontinued operations in our

2008 consolidated statement of income Our estimate of the fair value of this business as of December 31 2008 was considered

Level fair value measurement as it was based upon the estimated realizable proceeds from the sale less selling costs

Information regarding the nonrecurring fair value measurements completed in each period was as follows

Fair value measurements using

Quoted prices

Fair value in active Significant Significant

as of markets for other unobservable

measurement identical assets observable inputs Impairment

in thousands date Level inputs Level Level charge

2009

Goodwill 20245 20245 20000

Indefinite-lived trade 19100 19100 4900
Total impairment charges 24900

2008

Indefinite-lived trade names3. 50100 50100 9300

Indefinite-lived trade 25845 25845 255

Amortizable trade name 387

Total impairment charges 9942

Discontinued operations 678 678 3416

Represents the implied fair value of the goodwill assigned to the reporting unit for which we were required to calculate this amount

Represents the event-driven impairment analysis completed during the
quarter

ended March 31 2009 This asset was reassessed during the
quarter

ended

September 30 2009 as part of our annual impairment analysis at which time the fair value of the asset was estimated to be $23500

Represents the annual impairment analysis completed during the quarter ended September 30 2008 which included two indefinite-lived trade names

Represents the event-driven impairment analysis completed during the
quarter ended December 31 2008 which resulted in an impairment charge related

to one indefinite-lived trade name As of December 31 2008 we determined that this trade name no longer had an indefinite life and we began

amortizing it over 20 years on the straight-line basis beginning in 2009

Recurring fair value measurements During 2009 we purchased investments in mutual funds of $4.6 million These

available-for-sale marketable securities are included in other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet The fair value of

these assets is determined based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets Because of the short-term nature of the
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underlying investments the cost of these securities approximates their fair value The cost of securities sold is determined using

the specific identification method No gains or losses on sales of marketable securities were realized during 2009

We have elected to account for long-term investment in domestic mutual funds under the fair value option for financial

assets and financial liabilities Information regarding the accounting for this investment is provided in our long-term investments

policy in Note We recognized net unrealized gain on the investment in mutual funds of $0.4 million during 2009 During

2008 we recognized net unrealized loss of $1.3 million on the investment and during 2007 we recognized net unrealized

loss of $0.1 million

The fair value of interest rate swaps see Note is determined at each reporting date by means of pricing model utilizing

readily observable market interest rates During 2009 we recognized loss on these derivative instruments of $0.2 million which

was offset by gain of $0.3 million related to decrease in the fair value of the hedged long-term debt These changes in fair

value are both included in interest expense
in the 2009 consolidated statements of income

Information regarding recurring fair value measurements completed during each period was as follows

Fair value measurements using

Quoted prices

Fair value in active Significant Significant

as of markets for other unobservable

December 31 identical assets observable inputs

in thousands
2009 Level inputs Level Level

Marketable securities 3667 3667

Long-term investment in

mutual funds 2231 2231

Derivative liabilities 152 152

Excludes $9522 of Level marketable securities included in funds held for customers on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2009

Fair value measurements using

Quoted prices

Fair value in active Significant Significant

as of markets for other unobservable

December 31 identical assets observable inputs

in thousands 2008 Level inputs Level Level

Long-term investment in

mutual funds 1855 1855

Fair value measurements ofotherfinancial instruments The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate

the fair value of each class of financial instrument for which it is practicable to estimate fair value

Cash and cash equivalents funds held for customers and short-term debt The carrying amounts reported in the

consolidated balance sheets approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these items

Long-term debt The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted prices for identical liabilities when traded as assets

in an active market Level fair value measurement with the exception of capital lease obligation which matured in

September 2009 The fair value of long-term debt included in the table below does not reflect the impact of hedging activity The

carrying amount of long-term debt includes the change in fair value of hedged long-term debt
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The estimated fair values of these financial instruments were as follows at December 31

2009 2008

Carrying Carrying

in thousands amount Fair value amount Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents ... 12789 12789 15590 15590

Funds held for customers 26901 26901 26078 26078

Short-term debt 26000 26000 78000 78000

Long-term debt 742753 719283 773896 375500

Note Restructuring charges

Net restructuring charges for the years ended December 31 consisted of the following components

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Severance accruals 10625 26183 6891

Severance reversals 3523 2401 2082
Operating lease obligations 1177 209

Operating lease obligation reversals 32 551
Net restructuring accruals 8247 23990 4258

Write-off of spare parts inventory 3059

Other costs 3739 1218 75

Net restructuring charges 11986 28267 4333

2009 restructuring charges During 2009 the net restructuring accruals included severance charges related to employee
reductions in various functional areas as we continue our cost reduction initiatives including the planned closing of Small

Business Services customer call center located in Colorado Springs Colorado in the first quarter of 2010 and further

consolidation in the sales marketing and fulfillment organizations Net restructuring accruals also included operating lease

obligations on three manufacturing facilities closed during 2009 The restructuring accruals included severance benefits for 643

employees These charges were reduced by the reversal of previously recorded restructuring accruals as fewer employees

received severance benefits than originally estimated The majority of the employee reductions are expected to be completed by
the end of 2010 We expect most of the related severance payments to be fully paid by mid-2011 utilizing cash from operations

The remaining payments due under the operating lease obligations will be paid through May 2013 Other restructuring costs

which were expensed as incurred included items such as equipment moves training and travel related to our restructuring

activities The net restructuring charges were reflected as net restructuring charges of $4.6 million within cost of goods sold and

net restructuring charges of $7.4 million within operating expenses in the 2009 consolidated statement of income

2008 restructuring charges During 2008 the net restructuring accruals included severance charges related to the closing

of six manufacturing facilities and two customer call centers as well as employee reductions within our business unit support
and

corporate shared services functions primarily sales marketing and fulfillment These actions were the result of the

continuous review of our cost structure in response to the impact weakened U.S economy continued to have on our business

as well as our previously announced cost reduction initiatives The restructuring accruals included severance benefits for 1399

employees One of the customer call centers was closed during the third quarter of 2008 and one manufacturing facility was

closed in December 2008 The other facilities were closed during 2009 The other remaining employee reductions and related

severance payments will be completed during 2010 These charges were reduced by the reversal of previously recorded

restructuring accruals as fewer employees received severance benefits than originally estimated Also during 2008 we recorded

$3.1 million write-off of the carrying value of spare parts used on our offset printing presses During third quarter review of

our cost structure we made the decision to expand our use of digital printing technology As such portion of the spare parts

kept on hand for use on our offset printing presses was written down to zero as these parts have no future use or market value

The spare parts were included in other non-current assets in our consolidated balance sheet Other restructuring costs which

were expensed as incurred included items such as the acceleration of employee share-based compensation expense equipment

moves training and travel The net restructuring charges were reflected as net restructuring charges of $14.9 million within cost
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of goods sold and net restructuring charges of $13.4 million within operating expenses in the 2008 consolidated statement of

income

2007 restructuring charges During 2007 net restructuring accruals included severance charges related to employee

reductions across various functional areas resulting from our cost reduction initiatives The restructuring accruals included

severance benefits for 217 employees These employee reductions were substantially completed during 2008 with most of the

severance payments made by the end of 2009 utilizing cash from operations These charges were reduced by the reversal of

previously recorded restructuring accruals as fewer employees received severance benefits than originally estimated and we re

negotiated certain operating lease obligations The net restructuring charges were reflected as net restructuring reversals of $0.4

million within cost of goods sold and net restructuring charges of $4.7 million within operating expenses in the 2007

consolidated statement of income

In addition we recorded accruals for employee severance benefits of $0.2 million which reduced the gain recognized on

the sale of our industrial packaging product line see Note in the 2007 consolidated statement of income

Acquisition-related restructuring In conjunction with the NEBS acquisition in June 2004 we recorded restructuring

accruals of $30.2 million related to NEBS activities which we decided to exit The restructuring accruals included severance

benefits and $2.8 million due under noncancelable operating leases on facilities which were vacated as we consolidated

operations The severance accruals included payments due to 701 employees All severance benefits were fully paid by the

end of 2007 and the remaining payments due under the operating lease obligations were settled in early 2009

Restructuring accruals of $11.5 million as of December 31 2009 are reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as

accrued liabilities of $11.2 million and other non-current liabilities of $0.3 million Restructuring accruals of $20.4 million as

of December 31 2008 are reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as accrued liabilities As of December 31 2009 586

employees had not yet started to receive severance benefits By company initiative our restructuring accruals were as

follows

NEBS

acquisition 2006 2007 2008 2009

in thousands related initiatives initiatives initiatives initiatives Total

Balance December 31 2006 1825 9386 11211

Restructuring charges 158 6928 7086

Restructuring reversals 656 1415 562 2633

Payments primarily severance 1133 7804 1677 10614

Balance December 31 2007 36 325 4689 5050

Restructuring charges 253 26134 26392

Restructuring reversals 27 843 1531 2402

Payments primarily severance 16 108 3764 4773 8661

Balance December 31 2008 19 195 335 19830 20379

Restructuring charges
886 10916 11802

Restructuring reversals 19 34 3354 148 3555

Payments primarily severance
__________

195 237 15187 1515 17134

Balance December 31 2009 $__________ $__________
64 2175 9253 11492

Cumulative amounts

Restructuring charges 30243 10864 7181 27020 10916 86224

Restructuring reversals 859 1671 1439 4885 148 9002

Payments primarily severance 29384 9193 5678 19960 1515 65730

Balance December 31 2009 $_________ $_________ 64 2175 9253 11492
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The components of our restructuring accruals by segment were as follows

Operating

lease

Employee severance benefits obligations

Small Small

Business Financial Direct Business

in thousands Services Services Checks Corporate1 Services Total

Balance December 31 2006 2304 2703 128 4481 1595 11211

Restructuring charges 2625 1049 3412 7086

Restructuring reversals 233 471 142 1236 551 2633

Inter-segment transfer 633 378 32 1043

Payments 3328 2706 18 3554 1008 10614

Balance December 31 2007 2001 953 2060 36 5050

Restructuring charges 7076 3579 341 15187 209 26392

Restructuring reversals 637 405 1357 2402

Inter-segment transfer 378 739 61 1178

Payments 4844 1249 249 2303 16 8661

Balance December 31 2008 3974 3617 151 12409 228 20379

Restructuring charges 5310 1063 134 4118 1177 11802

Restructuring reversals 672 674 2170 32 3555

Inter-segment transfer 1174 1174

Payments 5041 2953 162 8402 576 17134

Balance December 31 2009 4745 1053 116 4781 797 11492

Cumulative amounts

Restructuring charges 44699 8952 603 27666 4304 86224

Restructuring reversals 1729 1715 151 4823 584 9002

Inter-segment transfer 2185 1117 93 3395

Payments 40410 7301 429 14667 2923 65730

BalanceDecember3l2009 4745 1053 116 4781 797 11492

As discussed in Note 17 Business segment information corporate costs are allocated to our business segments As such the net Corporate restructuring

charges are reflected in the business segment operating income presented in Note 17 in accordance with our allocation methodology
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Note Income tax provision

The components of the income tax provision for continuing operations were as follows

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Current tax provision

Federal 39294 47714 60454

State 4323 7380 9164

Total 43617 55094 69618

Deferred tax provision benefit 12039 790 5280

Provision for income taxes 55656 54304 74898

The effective tax rate on pre-tax
income from continuing operations differed from the U.S federal statutory tax rate of

35% as follows

2009 2008 2007

Income tax at federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State income tax expense net of federal income

tax benefit 3.5% 2.7% 2.7%

Non-deductible portion of goodwill impairment

charge see Note 2.9%

Change in unrecognized tax benefits including

interest and penalties 0.1% 1.1% 0.2%

Receivables for prior year tax returns1 2.2% 1.5% 1.4%

Qualified production activity deduction 1.8% 1.7% 1.8%

Other 1.6% 1.7% 0.7%

Income tax provision 35.9% 33.9% 34.0%

Relates to amendments to prior year income tax returns claiming refunds primarily associated with federal and state income tax credits as well as related

interest

On January 2007 we adopted new accounting guidance which defines the threshold for recognizing the benefits of

tax return positions in the financial statements as more-likely-than-not to be sustained by the taxing authorities based solely

on the technical merits of the position If the recognition threshold is met the tax benefit is measured and recognized as the

largest amount of tax benefit that in our judgment is greater than 50% likely to be realized The total amount of unrecognized

tax benefits as of January 2007 was $16.2 million excluding accrued interest and penalties As of January 2007 $4.7

million of interest and penalties was accrued excluding the tax benefits of deductible interest Interest and penalties recorded

for uncertain tax positions were included in our provision for income taxes in the consolidated statements of income prior to

our adoption of the new accounting guidance and we continue this classification subsequent to adoption
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reconciliation of the beginning arid ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits excluding accrued interest and

penalties is as follows

in thousands

Balance January 2007 16202

Additions for tax positions of current year 898

Additions for tax positions of prior years 979

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 1159
Settlements 2131
Lapse of statutes of limitations 394

Balance December 31 2007 14395

Additions for tax positions of current year 975

Additions for tax positions of prior years 3136

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 2845
Settlements 2291
Lapse of statutes of limitations 1913

Balance December 31 2008
11457

Additions for tax positions of current year 606

Additions for tax positions of prior years 2316

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 2152
Settlements 3186
Lapse of statutes of limitations 1063

Balance December 31 2009 7978

If the unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 2009 were recognized in our consolidated financial statements $6.1

million would affect income tax expense and our related effective tax rate Accruals for interest and penalties excluding the tax

benefits of deductible interest were $2.5 million as of December 31 2009 $4.0 million as of December 31 2008 and $4.8

million as of December 31 2007 Our income tax provision included expense for interest and penalties of $0.4 million in 2009
$0.2 million in 2008 and $0.9 million in 2007

The statute of limitations for federal tax assessments for 2004 and prior years has closed with the exception of 2000 Our
federal income tax returns for 2006 and 2007 are currently being audited by the Internal Revenue Service IRS and our federal

income tax returns for 2005 2008 and 2009 remain subject to IRS examination In general income tax returns for the years 2005

through 2009 remain subject to examination by major state and city jurisdictions In the event that we have determined not to file

income tax returns with particular state or city all years remain subject to examination by the tax jurisdiction

Within the next 12 months it is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits will change in the
range of

decrease of $4.3 million to an increase of $0.5 million as we attempt to settle certain federal and state tax matters or as federal

and state statutes of limitations expire We are not able to predict what if any impact these changes may have on our

effective tax rate

The ultimate outcome of tax matters may differ from our estimates and assumptions Unfavorable settlement of any
particular issue would require the use of cash and could result in increased income tax expense Favorable resolution would
result in reduced income tax expense
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Tax-effected temporary differences which gave rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 were as

follows

2009 2008

Deferred Deferred

Deferred tax Deferred tax

in thousands tax assets liabilities tax assets liabilities

Goodwill 29766 26627

Intangible assets 25693 26657

Deferred advertising costs 5342 7664

Early extinguishment of debt see Note 13 3798

Property plant and equipment 2489 781

Employee benefit plans 35106 44164

Reserves and accruals 8191 13393

Interest rate lock agreements see Note 3512 4535

Inventories 2565 3168

Federal benefit of state uncertain tax positions 2493 4080

All other 5159 2971 4445 2953

Total deferred taxes 57026 70059 73785 64682

Valuation allowance 926 769
____________

Net deferred taxes 56100 70059 73016 64682

Deferred U.S and state income taxes have not been recognized on unremitted earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as

these amounts are intended to be reinvested indefinitely in the operations of those subsidiaries

The valuation allowances primarily relate to the portion of our Canadian operating loss carryforwards which we do not

expect to fully realize As of December 31 2009 we had foreign operating loss carryforwards of $9.2 million primarily in

Canada which expire at various dates between 2010 and 2016 We also had state net operating loss carryforwards of $2.0

million which expire at various dates up to 2028

Note 10 Share-based compensation plans

Our employee share-based compensation plans consist of our employee stock purchase plan and our stock incentive

plan Effective April 30 2008 our shareholders approved new stock incentive plan simultaneously terminating our

previous plan Under the new plan 4.0 million shares of common stock were reserved for issuance with 2.9 million shares

remaining available for issuance as of December 31 2009 Under the plan full value awards such as restricted stock

restricted stock units and share-based performance awards reduce the number of shares available for issuance by factor of

2.29 or if such an award were forfeited or terminated without delivery of the shares the number of shares that again become

eligible for issuance would be multiplied by factor of 2.29 We currently have non-qualified stock options restricted stock

units and restricted share awards outstanding under our current and previous plans See the employee share-based

compensation policy in Note for our policies regarding the recognition of compensation expense for employee share-based

awards

The following amounts were recognized in our consolidated statements of income for share-based compensation awards

in thousands
2009 2008 2007

Stock options 3213 4296 2766

Restricted shares and restricted stock units 3135 4987 10425

Employee stock purchase plan 315 400 342

Total share-based compensation expense 6663 9683 13533

Income tax benefit 2375 3475 $4709
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As of December 31 2009 the total compensation expense for unvested awards not yet recognized in our consolidated

statements of income was $3.9 million net of the effect of estimated forfeitures This amount is expected to be recognized over

weighted-average period of 1.4 years

Non-qualified stock options All options allow for the purchase of shares of common stock at prices equal to the stocks

market value at the date of grant Options become exercisable beginning one year after the grant date with one-third vesting

each year over three years Options may be exercised up to seven years following the date of grant In the case of qualified

retirement death disability or involuntary termination without cause options vest immediately and the period over which the

options can be exercised is shortened Employees forfeit unvested options when they voluntarily terminate their employment
with the company and they have up to three months to exercise vested options before they are cancelled In the case of

involuntary termination with cause the entire unexercised portion of the award is cancelled All options may vest immediately

upon change of control as defined in the award agreement The following weighted-average assumptions were used in the

Black-Scholes option pricing model in determining the fair value of stock options granted

2009 2008 2007

Risk-free interest rate 1.6 3.0 4.8

Dividend yield 3.4 3.8 4.4

Expected volatility 44.2 33.2 26.1

Weighted-average option life years 4.6 4.6 4.5

The risk-free interest rate for periods within the expected option life is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at

the grant date Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock Prior to January 2008 we utilized the

simplified method to determine the expected option life based upon the vesting and original contractual terms of the option

Beginning in 2008 we utilized more detailed calculation of the expected option life based on our historical option exercise

data This change did not have significant impact on the compensation expense recognized for stock options granted in 2008

Information regarding options issued under the current and all previous plans was as follows

Weighted-

Aggregate average

Weighted- intrinsic remaining

Number of average exercise value in contractual

option shares price thousands term years

Outstanding at December 31 2006 3066958 37.27

Granted 914425 32.73

Exercised 425777 31.36

Forfeited or expired 271377 37.89

Outstanding at December 31 2007 3284229 36.85

Granted 662164 22.15

Exercised 19164 20.24

Forfeited or expired 821834 38.05

Outstanding at December 31 2008 3105395 33.50

Granted 789462 9.75

Exercised 2700 9.73

Forfeited or expired 1050870 39.68

Outstanding at December 31 2009 2841287 24.64 3609 4.0

Exercisable at December 31 2007 1988907 40.78

Exercisable at December 31 2008 1977119 37.43

Exercisable at December 31 2009 1642766 30.60 63 2.8
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The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted was $2.82 per share for 2009 $4.92 per
share for 2008 and

$6.01 per share for 2007 The intrinsic value of stock award is the amount by which the fair value of the underlying stock

exceeds the exercise price of the award The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $16000 for 2009 $0.1 million for

2008 and $3.5 million for 2007

Restricted stock units Certain management employees have the option to receive portion of their bonus payment in the

form of restricted stock units When employees elect this payment method we provide an additional matching amount of

restricted stock units equal to one-half of the restricted stock units earned under the bonus plan These awards vest two years

from the date of grant In the case of approved retirement death disability or change of control the units vest immediately In

the case of involuntary termination without cause or voluntary termination employees receive cash payment for the units

earned under the bonus plan but forfeit the company-provided matching amount

In addition to awards granted to employees non-employee members of our board of directors can elect to receive all or

portion of their fees in the form of restricted stock units Directors are issued shares in exchange for the units upon the earlier of

the tenth anniversary of February 1st of the year following the year
in which the non-employee director ceases to serve on the

board or such other objectively determinable date pre-elected by the director

Each restricted stock unit is convertible into one share of common stock upon completion of the vesting period

Information regarding our restricted stock units was as follows

Weighted-

Aggregate average

Weighted- intrinsic remaining

Number of average grant value in contractual

units date fair value thousands term years

Outstanding at December 31 2006 79857 33.31

Granted 10743 34.71

Vested 37490 34.53

Outstanding at December 31 2007 53110 32.73

Granted 102991 23.42

Vested 10720 25.79

Outstanding at December 31 2008 145381 26.65

Granted 17248 12.27

Vested 39685 24.04

Forfeited 2636 25.57

Outstanding at December 31 2009 120308 25.48 1779 3.9

Of the awards outstanding as of December 31 2009 45737 restricted stock units were classified as liabilities in our

consolidated balance sheet at value of $0.7 million As of December 31 2009 these units had fair value of $14.79 per
unit

and weighted-average remaining contractual term of 0.1 year

The total intrinsic value of restricted stock units vesting was $0.6 million for 2009 $0.1 million for 2008 and $1.1 million

for 2007 We made cash payments to settle share-based liabilities of $2000 in 2008 and $0.1 million in 2007 During 2009 we

did not settle any share-based liabilities in cash

Restricted shares We currently have two types of restricted share awards outstanding Certain of these awards have

set vesting period at which time the restrictions on the shares lapse The vesting period on these awards currently ranges
from

two to three years We have also granted performance-accelerated restricted shares The restrictions on these awards lapse three

years from the grant date However if the performance criteria are met the restrictions on one-half of the awards will lapse one

year
from the grant date For both types of restricted share awards the restrictions lapse immediately in the case of qualified

retirement death or disability In the case of involuntary termination without cause or change of control restrictions on pro

rata portion of the shares lapse based on how much of the vesting period has passed In the case of voluntary termination of

employment or termination with cause the unvested restricted shares are forfeited
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Information regarding unvested restricted shares was as follows

Weighted-

Number of average grant

shares date fair value

Unvested at December 31 2006 378093 27.52

Granted
250150 33.00

Vested 87133 29.09

Forfeited
36977 30.10

Unvested at December 31 2007
504133 29.78

Granted
242993 22.08

Vested
245331 30.46

Forfeited 48866 27.48

Unvested at December 31 2008 452929 25.53

Granted 44257 14.81

Vested
205685 25.19

Forfeited
23292 25.82

Unvested at December 31 2009 268209 24.00

The total fair value of restricted shares vesting was $2.5 million for 2009 $5.2 million for 2008 and $3.3 million for

2007

Employee stock purchase plan During 2009 173568 shares were issued under this plan at prices of $9.80 and $13.30

During 2008 156157 shares were issued under this plan at prices of $20.69 and $12.16 During 2007 90452 shares were issued

under this plan at prices of $25.44 and $32.10

Note 11 Employee benefit plans

Profit sharing defined contribution and 401k plans We maintain profit sharing plan defined contribution pension

plan and plan established under section 401k of the Internal Revenue Code to provide retirement benefits for certain

employees These plans cover substantially all full-time and some part-time employees Employees are eligible to participate in

the plans on the first day of the quarter following their first full year of service We also provide cash bonus programs under

which employees may receive cash bonus payments based on our operating performance

Contributions to the profit sharing and defined contribution plans are made solely by Deluxe and are remitted to the

plans respective trustees Benefits provided by the plans are paid from accumulated funds of the trusts In 2009 2008 and

2007 contributions to the defined contribution pension plan equaled 4% of eligible compensation Contributions to the profit

sharing plan vary
based on the companys performance Under the 40 1k plan employees under the

age
of 50 could

contribute up to the lesser of $16500 or 50% of eligible wages during 2009 Employees 50 years of age or older could make

contributions of up to $22000 during 2009 Beginning on the first day of the quarter following an employees first full year

of service we match 100% of the first 1% of wages contributed by employees and 50% of the next 4% of wages contributed

All employee and employer contributions are remitted to the plans respective trustees and benefits provided by the plans are

paid from accumulated funds of the trusts Payments made under the cash bonus programs vary based on the companys
performance and are paid in cash directly to employees

Employees are provided broad range of investment options to choose from when investing their profit sharing

defined contribution and 40 1k plan funds Investing in our common stock is not one of these options although funds

selected by employees may at times hold our common stock
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Expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income for these plans was as follows

in thousands
2009 2008 2007

Profit sharing/cash bonus plans 22751 623 23081

Defined contribution pension plan 9953 11614 10761

401k plan 6312 7936 6426

Deferred compensation plan We have non-qualified deferred compensation plan that allows eligible employees to

defer portion of their compensation Participants can elect to defer up to maximum of 100 percent of their base salary plus

up to 50 percent of their bonus for the year The compensation deferred under this plan is credited with earnings or losses

measured by the mirrored rate of return on phantom investments elected by plan participants which are similar to the

investments available in our defined contribution pension plan Each participant is fully vested in all deferred compensation

and earnings participant may elect to receive deferred amounts in one payment or in monthly installments upon

termination of employment or disability Our total liability under this plan was $3.5 million as of December 31 2009 and

$3.9 million as of December 31 2008 These amounts are reflected in accrued liabilities and other non-current liabilities in

the consolidated balance sheets We fund this liability through investments in company-owned life insurance policies These

investments are included in long-term investments in the consolidated balance sheets and totaled $15.0 million as of

December 31 2009 and $14.1 million as of December 31 2008

Voluntary employee beneficiary association VEBA trust We have formed VEBA trust to fund employee and

retiree medical costs and severance benefits Contributions to the VEBA trust are tax deductible subject to limitations

contained in the Internal Revenue Code VEBA assets primarily consist of fixed income investments We made contributions

to the VEBA trust of $40.3 million in 2009 $36.1 million in 2008 and $34.1 million in 2007 Our liability for incurred but

not reported medical claims exceeded the prepaid balance in the VEBA trust by $0.1 million as of December 31 2009 and

$1.2 million as of December 31 2008 These amounts are reflected in accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets

Note 12 Pension and other postretirement benefits

We have historically provided certain health care benefits for large number of retired employees Employees hired prior

to January 2002 become eligible for benefits if they attain the appropriate years
of service and age prior to retirement

Employees hired on January 2002 or later are not eligible to participate in our retiree health care plan In addition to our retiree

health care plan we also have supplemental executive retirement plan SERP in the United States Additionally we had

pension plan that covered certain Canadian employees which was settled during the quarter ended March 31 2009 and we had

Canadian SERP which was settled during 2008

On January 2007 new accounting guidance required us to change the measurement date for our plans This guidance

requires companies to measure the funded status of plan as of the date of its year-end balance sheet We historically used

September 30 measurement date To transition to December 31 measurement date we completed plan measurements for our

postretirement benefit and pension plans as of December 31 2006 Postretirement benefit expense for the period from October

2006 through December 31 2006 as calculated based on the September 30 2006 measurement date was recorded as an

increase to accumulated deficit of $0.7 million net of tax as of January 2007 Additionally we adjusted our postretirement

assets and liabilities to reflect the funded status of the plans as calculated based on the December 31 2006 measurement date

This adjustment along with the postretirement benefit expense for the period from October 2006 through December 31 2006

resulted in an increase in other comprehensive loss of $0.1 million net of tax as of January 2007 Postretirement benefit

expense
reflected in our 2007 consolidated statement of income is based on the December 31 2006 measurement date

Effective April 30 2009 we amended our postretirement benefit plan to decrease the minimum age for eligibility to

receive the maximum available benefits from age 58 to age 51 and to decrease the service requirement for maximum retiree cost

sharing from 30 years to 25 years As result of this amendment the plan assets and liabilities were re-measured as of April 30

2009 reducing the underfunded amount of the plan from $60.4 million as of December 31 2008 to $55.9 million as of April 30

2009 The reduction in the underfunded amount was primarily due to change in the discount rate assumption from 6.6% as of

December 31 2008 to 7.25% as of April 30 2009 The other actuarial assumptions were consistent with those utilized in our

determination of the benefit obligation and funded status as of December 31 2008 Prior to the April 30 2009 plan amendment

and re-measurement unrecognized actuarial gains and losses were being amortized over the average remaining service period of
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plan participants which was 8.2 years as of December 31 2008 Because the plan amendment increased the number of

participants currently eligible to receive the maximum available benefits almost all of the plan participants were classified as

inactive subsequent to the plan amendment As such actuarial gains and losses are required to be amortized over the average

remaining life expectancy of inactive plan participants which was 18.8 years as of April 30 2009 This change resulted in $5.2

million decrease in postretirement benefit expense for 2009 as compared to the
expense we had expected for 2009 prior to the

plan amendments

Obligations and funded status The following tables summarize the change in benefit obligation plan assets and

funded status during 2009 and 2008

Postretirement

in thousands benefit plan Pension plans

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation December 31 2007 133305 11328

Service cost 94

Interest cost 7955 497

Actuarial gain loss net 1945 248

Benefits paid from plan assets the VEBA
trust see Note 11 and company funds 10936 543

Settlement 902
Medicare Part reimbursements 692

Currency translation adjustment 1367
Benefit obligation December 31 2008 129165 9261

Interest cost 8560 261

Actuarial loss gain net 7741 252

Benefits paid from plan assets the VEBA
trust see Note 11 and company funds 11320 368

Plan amendments 4065

Settlement 5252
Medicare Part reimbursements 704

Currency translation adjustment 195
Benefit obligation December 31 2009 138915 3455
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in thousands

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets December 31 2007.

Actual loss on plan assets

Company contributions

Benefits and expenses paid

Settlement

Currency translation adjustment

Fair value of plan assets December 31 2008

Actual gain on plan assets

Company contributions

Benefits and expenses paid

Settlement

Currency translation adjustment

Fair value of plan assets December 31 2009

Postretirement

benefit plan

102747

34019

68728

21592

90320

Pension plans

7362

113

299

219

902

1215

5212

172

84

44

5252

172

Funded status December 31 2008 60437 4049

Funded status December 31 2009 48595 3455

Plan assets of our postretirement medical plan do not include the assets of the VEBA trust discussed in Note 11 Plan

assets consist only of those assets invested in trust established under section 401h of the Internal Revenue Code These

assets can be used only to pay retiree medical benefits whereas the assets of the VEBA trust may be used to pay medical and

severance benefits for both active and retired employees

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 were as follows

Postretirement benefit

Amounts included in other comprehensive loss that have not been recognized as components of postretirement benefit

expense were as follows

in thousands

Unrecognized prior service credit

Unrecognized net actuarial loss gain

Tax effect

Amount recognized in accumulated

other comprehensive loss net of tax
..

Postretirement benefit

plan

in thousands 2009 2008 2009 2008

Accrued liabilities 324 1126

Other non-current liabilities 48595 60437 3131 2923

Pension plans

plan --
Pension plans

2009 2008 2009 2008

28182 36062

111748 128062 36 825

31201 34403 21 261

52365 57597 15 564

The unrecognized prior service credit for our postretirement benefit plan resulted from 2003 curtailment and other

plan amendments These changes resulted in reduction of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation This reduction
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was first used to reduce any existing unrecognized prior service cost then to reduce any remaining unrecognized transition

obligation The excess is the unrecognized prior service credit The prior service credit is being amortized on the straight-line

basis over weighted-average period of 16 years Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are being amortized over the

average remaining life expectancy of inactive plan participants which is currently 18.1
years

The unrecognized net actuarial

loss for our postretirement benefit plan resulted from experience different from that assumed and from changes in

assumptions

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31 2009 which we expect to recognize in

postretirement benefit expense during 2010 are as follows

in thousands

Prior service credit

Net actuarial loss

Total

Postretirement

benefit plan

3742

5406

1664

As of December 31 2009 the United States SERP had an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets As

of December 31 2008 both the United States SERP and the Canadian pension plan had accumulated benefit obligations in

excess of plan assets as follows

in thousands

Projected benefit obligation

Accumulated benefit obligation

Fair value of plan assets

Net pension and postretirement benefit expense Net pension and postretirement benefit expense for the years ended

December 31 consisted of the following components

Pension plans

2008

497

265

214 240 482

402 221

616 461 482

Actuarial assumptions In measuring benefit obligations as of December 31 the following discount rate assumptions

Pension plans

2009 2008

5.45% 4.06% 6.60%

were used

The discount rate assumption is based on the rates of return on high-quality fixed-income instruments currently

available whose cash flows match the timing and amount of expected benefit payments In determining the discount rate we
utilize the Hewitt Top Quartile and the Citigroup Pension Discount yield curves to discount each cash flow stream at an

interest rate specifically applicable to the timing of each respective cash flow The present value of each cash flow stream is

aggregated and used to impute weighted-average discount rate

2009 2008

3455 9261

3455 9261

5212

Postretirement_benefit_plan

in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2009

Service cost

Interest cost

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of prior service credit...

Amortization of net actuarial loss

Total periodic benefit expense

Settlement loss

Net periodic benefit
expense

8560

5919

3815

8383

7209

94

7955

8732

3959

9477

4835

2007

262

57

156

7011

8264

3959

9857

4801

223

514

262

7209 4835 4801

Discount rate

Postretirement benefit plan

2009 2008

5.45% 6.60%
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In measuring net periodic benefit expense for the years ended December 31 the following assumptions were used

Postretirement benefit plan Pension plans

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Discount rate 7.25% 6.20% 5.75% 4.06% 6.60% 4.43% 6.20% 4.43% 5.75%

Expected return on plan assets 8.50% 8.50% 8.75% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%

Subsequent to the 2009 plan amendments to our postretirement benefit plan we used discount rate of 7.25% for the period from April 30 2009 through

December 31 2009 discount rate of 6.60% was used for the period from January 12009 through April 30 2009

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets we utilize our historical returns and then adjust

these returns for estimated inflation Our inflation assumption is primarily based on analysis of historical inflation data

In measuring the benefit obligation for our postretirement benefit plan the following assumptions for health care cost

trend rates were used

2009 2008 2007

All Participants Participants Participants Participants

participants under age 65 over age
65 under age 65 over age 65

Health care cost trend rate

assumed for next year 8.00% 7.50% 8.50% 8.25% 9.25%

Rate to which the cost trend

rate is assumed to decline the

ultimate trend rate 5.00% 5.25% 5.25% 5.25% 5.25%

Year that the rate reaches the

ultimate trend rate 2017 2012 2014 2012 2014

Assumed health care cost trend rates have significant effect on the amounts reported for health care plans one-

percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects

One- One-

percentage- percentage-

point point

in thousands increase decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost 131 106

Effect on benefit obligation 2432 1960

Plan assets The allocation of plan assets by asset category as of December31 was as follows

Postretirement benefit Pension

plan plans

2009 2008 2008

U.S large capitalization equity securities 33% 42%

International equity securities 18% 18%

U.S corporate debt securities 14% 13%

Mortgage-backed securities 14% 12%

Other debt securities 14% 6% 100%

U.S small and mid-capitalization equity

securities 7% 9%

Total 100% 100% 100%
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Our postretirement benefit plan has assets that are intended to meet long-term obligations In order to meet these

obligations we employ total return investment approach which considers cash flow needs and balances long-term projected

returns against expected asset risk as measured using projected standard deviations Risk tolerance is established through

consideration of projected plan liabilities the plans funded status projected liquidity needs and current corporate financial

condition

We adopted new asset allocation percentages for our postretirement benefit plan in August 2009 based on our liability

and asset projections This allocation of plan assets is 33% large capitalization equity securities 42% fixed income securities

18% international equity securities and 7% small and mid-capitalization equity securities Prior to August 2009 our asset

allocation target was 80% equity securities and 20% fixed income securities Plan assets are not invested in real estate

private equity or hedge funds and are not leveraged beyond the market value of the underlying investments Investment risk

is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through quarterly investment portfolio reviews annual liability

measurements and periodic asset/liability studies As we planned to settle our Canadian pension plan this plans assets were

invested in fixed income securities as of December 31 2008 This plan was fully settled during the quarter ended March 31
2009

Information regarding fair value measurements of plan assets as of December 31 2009 was as follows

Fair value measurements using

Quoted prices

Fair value in active Significant Significant

as of markets for other unobservable

December 31 identical assets observable inputs

in thousands 2009 Level inputs Level Level

U.S large capitalization equity securities. 29941 29941

International equity securities 16219 16219

U.S corporate debt securities 12845 9347 3498

Mortgage-backed securities 12647 12647

Other debt securities 12184 10144 2040

U.S small and mid-capitalization equity

securities 6484 6484 _______________

Total 90320 72135 18185

Investments in general are subject to various risks including credit interest and overall market volatility risks

During 2008 the equity and bond markets experienced significant decline in value As such the fair values of our plan

assets decreased significantly during the year See Note 18 for discussion of market risks related to our plan assets

Cash flows We are not contractually obligated to make contributions to the assets of our postretirement benefit plan
and we do not anticipate making any such contributions during 2010 However we do anticipate that we will pay net retiree

medical benefits of $10.6 million during 2010

We have fully funded the United States SERP obligation with investments in company-owned life insurance policies

The cash surrender value of these policies is included in long-term investments in the consolidated balance sheets and totaled

$6.0 million as of December 31 2009 and $5.6 million as of December 31 2008 We plan to pay pension benefits of $0.3

million during 2010
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The following benefit payments are expected to be paid during the years
indicated

Pension

Postretirement benefit plan plan

Gross Expected Net

benefit Medicare benefit Gross benefit

in thousands payments subsidy payments payments

2010 11600 1000 10600 320

2011 12200 1100 11100 310

2012 12900 1200 11700 310

2013 13500 1200 12300 310

2014 13700 1300 12400 300

20152019 65600 7600 58000 1450

Note 13 Debt

Debt outstanding as of December 31 was as follows

in thousands
2009 2008

5.0% senior unsecured notes due December 15 2012 net of discount 279533 299250

5.125% senior unsecured notes due October 2014 net of discount 263220 274646

7.375% senior unsecured notes due June 2015 200000 200000

Long-term portion of debt 742753 773896

Amounts drawn on credit facilities 26000 78000

Capital lease obligation due within one year 1440

Short-term portion of debt 26000 79440

Total debt 768753 853336

Our senior unsecured notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt the execution

of certain sale-leaseback agreements and limitations on certain liens Discounts from par value are being amortized ratably as

increases to interest expense over the term of the related debt

In May 2007 we issued $200.0 million of 7.375% senior unsecured notes maturing on June 12015 The notes were

issued via private placement under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933 These notes were subsequently registered with

the SEC via registration statement which became effective on June 29 2007 Interest payments are due each June and

December The notes place limitation on restricted payments including increases in dividend levels and share repurchases

This limitation does not apply if the notes are upgraded to an investment-grade credit rating Principal redemptions may be

made at our election at any time on or after June 2011 at redemption prices ranging from 100% to 103.688% of the

principal amount We may also redeem up to 35% of the notes at price equal to 107.375% of the principal amount plus

accrued and unpaid interest using the proceeds of certain equity offerings completed before June 2010 In addition at any

time prior to June 2011 we may redeem some or all of the notes at price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus

accrued and unpaid interest and make-whole premium If we sell certain of our assets or experience specific types of

changes in control we must offer to purchase the notes at 101% of the principal amount Proceeds from the offering net of

offering costs were $196.3 million These proceeds were used to repay amounts drawn on our line of credit and to invest in

marketable securities On October 2007 we liquidated all of these marketable securities and used the proceeds as part of

our repayment of $325.0 million of unsecured notes plus accrued interest The fair value of the notes issued in May 2007 was

$196.0 million as of December 31 2009 based on quoted prices for identical liabilities when traded as assets

In October 2004 we issued $275.0 million of 5.125% senior unsecured notes maturing on October 12014 The notes

were issued via private placement under Rule l44A of the Securities Act of 1933 These notes were subsequently registered

with the SEC via registration statement which became effective on November 23 2004 Interest payments are due each

April and October Proceeds from the offering net of offering costs were $272.3 million These proceeds were used to repay

88



commercial paper borrowings used for the acquisition of NEBS in 2004 During the quarter ended March 31 2009 we
retired $11.5 million of these notes realizing pre-tax gain of $4.1 million As of December 31 2009 the fair value of the

$263.5 million remaining notes outstanding was $245.5 million based on quoted prices for identical liabilities when traded as

assets

In December 2002 we issued $300.0 million of 5.0% senior unsecured notes maturing on December 15 2012 These

notes were issued under our shelf registration statement covering up to $300.0 million in medium-term notes thereby

exhausting that registration statement Interest payments are due each June and December Principal redemptions may be

made at our election prior to the stated maturity Proceeds from the offering net of offering costs were $295.7 million These

proceeds were used for general corporate purposes including funding share repurchases capital asset purchases and working

capital During the quarter ended March 31 2009 we retired $19.7 million of these notes realizing pre-tax gain of $5.7

million As of December 31 2009 the fair value of the $280.3 million remaining notes outstanding was $277.8 million

based on quoted prices for identical liabilities when traded as assets As discussed in Note during September 2009 we
entered into interest rate swaps with notional amount of $210.0 million to hedge portion of these notes The fair value of

long-term debt disclosed here does not reflect the impact of these fair value hedges The carrying amount of long-term debt

was reduced $0.3 million during 2009 due to the change in fair value of the hedged long-term debt

We have operating leases on certain facilities and equipment As of December 31 2009 future minimum lease

payments under noncancelable operating leases with an initial term in excess of one year were as follows

Operating

in thousands leases

2010 8530

2011 5022

2012 2125

2013 1272

2014 484

2015 and thereafter

Total minimum lease payments 17433

Total future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases have not been reduced by minimum
sublease rentals due under noncancelable subleases As of December 31 2009 minimum future sub-lease rental income was

$0.5 million

The composition of rent expense the years ended December 31 was as follows

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Minimumrentals 8180 9811 9143

Sublease rentals 1677 2028 2058
Net rental

expense 6503 7783 7085

In September 2009 we had capital lease obligation which expired and we relinquished the leased asset Depreciation

of the asset under the capital lease is included in depreciation expense in the consolidated statements of cash flows The

balance of the leased asset as of December 31 2008 was as follows

in thousands 2008

Buildings and building improvements 11574

Accumulated depreciation 10823
Net assets under capital lease 751

As of December 31 2009 we had $275.0 million committed line of credit The credit agreement governing the line of

credit contains customary covenants regarding limits on the levels of subsidiary indebtedness as well as requiring ratio of

89



earnings before interest and taxes to interest expense of 3.0 times as measured quarterly on an aggregate basis for the preceding

four quarters We anticipate that we will replace our existing committed line of credit well in advance of its July 2010 maturity

date The daily average amount outstanding under our line of credit during 2009 was $69.3 million at weighted-average

interest rate of 0.76% As of December 31 2009 $26.0 million was outstanding at an average
interest rate of 0.67% The daily

average amount outstanding under our lines of credit during 2008 was $82.6 million at weighted-average interest rate of

3.05% As of December 31 2008 $78.0 million was outstanding at an average interest rate of 0.91% As of December 31 2009

amounts were available for borrowing under our committed line of credit as follows

Total Expiration Commitment

in thousands available date fee

Five year line of credit 275000 July 2010 0.175%

Amounts drawn on line of credit 26000

Outstanding letters of credit 10025

Net available for borrowing as of

December31 2009 238975

Absent certain defined events of default under our debt instruments and as long as our ratio of earnings before

interest taxes depreciation and amortization to interest expense is in excess of two to one our debt covenants do not restrict

our ability to pay cash dividends at our current rate

Note 14 Other commitments and contingencies

Indemnfications In the normal course of business we periodically enter into agreements that incorporate general

indemnification language These indemnifications encompass such items as product or service defects including breach of

security intellectual property rights governmental regulations and/or employment-related matters Performance under these

indemnities would generally be triggered by our breach of the terms of the contract In disposing of assets or businesses we

often provide representations warranties and/or indemnities to cover various risks including for example unknown damage

to the assets environmental risks involved in the sale of real estate liability to investigate and remediate environmental

contamination at waste disposal sites and manufacturing facilities and unidentified tax liabilities and legal fees related to

periods prior to disposition We do not have the ability to estimate the potential liability from such indemnities because they

relate to unknown conditions However we have no reason to believe that any likely liability under these indemnities would

have material adverse effect on our financial position annual results of operations or annual cash flows We have recorded

liabilities for known indemnifications related to environmental matters

Environmental matters We are currently involved in environmental compliance investigation and remediation

activities at some of our current and former sites primarily printing facilities of our Financial Services and Small Business

Services segments which have been sold Remediation costs are accrued on an undiscounted basis when the obligations are

either known or considered probable and can be reasonably estimated Remediation or testing costs that result directly from

the sale of an asset and which we would not have otherwise incurred are considered direct costs of the sale of the asset As

such they are included in our measurement of the carrying value of the asset sold

Accruals for environmental matters were $9.4 million as of December 31 2009 and $8.3 million as of December 31

2008 primarily related to facilities which have been sold These accruals are included in accrued liabilities and other long-

term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets Accrued costs consist of direct costs of the remediation activities primarily

fees which will be paid to outside engineering and consulting firms Although recorded accruals include our best estimates

our total costs cannot be predicted with certainty due to various factors such as the extent of corrective action that may be

required evolving environmental laws and regulations and advances in environmental technology Where the available

information is sufficient to estimate the amount of the liability that estimate is used Where the information is only sufficient

to establish range of probable liability and no point within the range is more likely than any other the lower end of the

range is recorded We do not believe that the range of possible outcomes could have material effect on our financial

condition results of operations or liquidity Expense reflected in our consolidated statements of income for environmental

remediation costs was $1.3 million in 2009 $0.3 million in 2008 and $0.2 million in 2007
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As of December 31 2009 $8.0 million of the costs included in our environmental accruals were covered by an

environmental insurance policy which we purchased during 2002 The insurance policy covers up to $12.9 million of

remediation costs of which $4.9 million had been paid through December 31 2009 The insurance policy does not cover

properties acquired subsequent to 2002 However costs included in our environmental accruals for such properties were not

material as of December 31 2009 We do not anticipate significant net cash outlays for environmental matters in 2010 The

insurance policy also covers up to $10.0 million of third-party claims through 2032 at certain owned leased and divested

sites as well as any new conditions discovered at certain owned or leased sites through 2012 We consider the realization of

recovery under the insurance policy to be probable based on the insurance contract in place with reputable and financially-

sound insurance company As our environmental accruals include our best estimates of these costs we have recorded

receivables from the insurance company within other current assets and other non-current assets based on the amounts of our

environmental accruals for insured sites

During 2009 we purchased an additional environmental site liability insurance policy providing coverage on facilities

which we acquired as part of the NEBS acquisition in 2004 and the Johnson Group acquisition in 2006 This policy covers

liability for claims of bodily injury or property damage arising from pollution events at the covered facilities The policy also

provides remediation
coverage should we be required by governing authority to perform remediation activities at the

covered sites The policy provides coverage of up to $15 million through April 2019 No accruals have been recorded in our

consolidated financial statements for any of the events contemplated in this insurance policy

Self-insurance We are self-insured for certain costs primarily workers compensation claims and medical and dental

benefits The liabilities associated with these items represent our best estimate of the ultimate obligations for reported claims

plus those incurred but not reported The liability for workers compensation which totaled $5.8 million as of December 31
2009 and $5.6 million as of December 31 2008 is accounted for on present value basis The difference between the

discounted and undiscounted workers compensation liability was $0.1 million as of December 31 2009 and December 31
2008 We record liabilities for medical and dental benefits for active employees and those employees on long-term disability
Our liability for active employees is not accounted for on present value basis as we expect the benefits to be paid in

relatively short period of time Our liability for those employees on long-term disability is accounted for on present value

basis Our total liability for these medical and dental benefits totaled $4.7 million as of December 31 2009 and $5.7 million

as of December 31 2008 The difference between the discounted and undiscounted medical and dental liability was $0.6

million as of December 31 2009 and $1.0 million as of December 31 2008

Our self-insurance liabilities are estimated in part by considering historical claims experience demographic factors

and other actuarial assumptions The estimated accruals for these liabilities could be significantly affected if future events and

claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends

Litigation We are party to legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business We record accruals for

legal matters when the expected outcome of these matters is either known or considered probable and can be reasonably

estimated Our accruals do not include related legal and other costs expected to be incurred in defense of legal actions Based

upon information presently available we believe that it is unlikely that
any identified matters either individually or in the

aggregate will have material adverse effect on our annual results of operations financial position or liquidity

Note 15 Common stock purchase rights

In February 1988 we adopted shareholder rights plan under which common stock purchase rights automatically

attach to each share of common stock we issue The rights plan is governed by rights agreement between us and Wells

Fargo Bank National Association as rights agent This agreement most recently was amended and restated as of December

20 2006 Restated Agreement

Pursuant to the Restated Agreement upon the occurrence of certain events each right will entitle the holder to

purchase one share of common stock at an exercise price of $100 The exercise price may be adjusted from time to time upon
the occurrence of certain events outlined in the Restated Agreement In certain circumstances described in the Restated

Agreement if any person becomes the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the companys common stock ii the

company is acquired in merger or other business combination or iii upon the occurrence of other events each right will

entitle its holder to purchase number of shares of common stock of the company or the acquirer or the surviving entity if

the company is not the surviving corporation in such transaction The number of shares purchasable at the then-current
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exercise price will be equal to the exercise price of the right divided by 50% of the then-current market price of one share of

common stock of the company or other surviving entity subject to adjustments provided in the Restated Agreement The

rights expire December 31 2016 and may be redeemed by the company at price of $.01 per right at any
time prior to the

occurrence of the circumstances described above The Restated Agreement requires an independent director review of the

plan at least once every three years The most recent review was completed in December 2009

Note 16 Shareholders equity

We have an outstanding authorization from our board of directors to purchase up to 10 million shares of our common

stock This authorization has no expiration date and 6.4 million shares remained available for purchase under this authorization

as of December 31 2009 We repurchased 0.1 million shares during 2009 for $1.3 million 1.1 million shares during 2008 for

$21.8 million and 0.4 million shares during 2007 for $11.3 million

Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31 was comprised of the following

in thousands
2009 2008 2007

Postretirement and defined benefit pension plans

Unrealized prior service credit 17978 22858 25305

Unrealized net actuarial losses 70328 81019 61422

Postretirement and defined benefit pension

plans net of tax 52350 58161 36117

Loss on derivatives net of tax1 5841 7498 8881

Currency translation adjustment 5373 705 5952

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 52818 64954 39046

Relates to interest rate locks executed in 2004 and 2002 See Note for further information regarding these financial instruments

Note 17 Business segment information

We operate three reportable business segments Small Business Services Financial Services and Direct Checks Small

Business Services sells personalized printed products which include business checks printed forms promotional products

marketing materials and related services as well as retail packaging supplies and suite of business services including web

design and hosting fraud protection payroll logo design search engine marketing and business networking to small

businesses These products and services are sold through direct response marketing referrals from financial institutions and

telecommunications companies independent distributors and dealers the internet and sales representatives Financial Services

sells personal and business checks check-related products and services customer loyalty and retention programs fraud

monitoring and protection services and stored value gift cards to financial institutions primarily through direct sales force

Direct Checks sells personal and business checks and related products and services directly to consumers through direct response

marketing and the internet All three segments operate primarily in the United States Small Business Services also has

operations in Canada and Europe No single customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue in 2009 2008 or 2007

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note We allocate corporate costs for our

shared services functions to our business segments including costs of our executive management human resources supply

chain finance information technology and legal functions Generally where costs incurred are directly attributable to business

segment primarily within the areas of information technology supply chain and finance those costs are reported in that

segments results Because we use shared services approach for many of our functions certain costs are not directly

attributable to business segment These costs are allocated to our business segments based on segment revenue as revenue is

measure of the relative size and magnitude of each segment and indicates the level of corporate shared services consumed by

each segment Corporate assets are not allocated to the segments and consist primarily of property plant and equipment

internal-use software inventories and supplies related to our corporate shared services functions of manufacturing information

technology and real estate as well as long-term investments and deferred income taxes Depreciation and amortization expense

related to corporate assets which was allocated to the segments was $37.1 million in 2009 and $31.9 million in 2008 and 2007
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We are an integrated enterprise characterized by substantial intersegment cooperation cost allocations and the sharing of

assets Therefore we do not represent that these segments if operated independently would report the operating income and

other financial information shown

The following is our segment information as of and for the years ended December 31

2009

2008

2007

1211210

1218985

1210755

44266

31865

32286

During 2009 we modified the manner in which we classify our revenue by product line to present services separately

Previously the majority of our service revenues were included within the packaging supplies services and other caption All

three of our business
segments generate revenue classified as services

Revenue by product for each year was as follows

2007

1032304

374138

30639

118181

33623

1588885

Reportable business segments

Small

Business Financial Direct

in thousands Services Services Checks Corporate Consolidated

Revenue from external customers 2009 785109 396353 162733 1344195
2008 851060 430018 187584 1468662
2007 921657 457292 209936 1588885

Operating income 2009 60804 75091 54694 190589

2008 90078 65540 53616 209234
2007 132821 74305 62778 269904

Depreciation and amortization 2009 52507 10946 4312 67765
expense 2008 49947 9664 4349 63960

2007 52830 9936 4794 67560
Asset impairment charges 2009 24900 24900

2008 9942 9942
2007

Total assets 2009 778191 57716 96288
2008 785555 47872 100535

2007 750483 66475 102452

Capital asset purchases

279015

285023

291345

44266

31865

32286

in thousands 2009

Checks 851558

Other printed products including forms

Services primarily business

Accessories and promotional products

293172

90918

89163

Packaging supplies and other 19384

Total revenue 1344195

2008

948032

328990

57711

109773

24156

1468662
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The following information is based on the geographic locations of our subsidiaries

in thousands
2009 2008 2007

Revenue from external customers

United States 1275885 1397759 1517322

Foreign primarily Canada 68310 70903 71563

Totairevenue 1344195 1468662 1588885

Long-lived assets

United States 1035705 1036140 1005145

Foreign primarily Canada 16006 15759 13665

Total long-lived assets 1051711 1051899 1018810

Note 18 Market risks

Due to failures and consolidations of companies within the financial services industry in 2008 and 2009 as well as the

downturn in the broader U.S economy including the liquidity crisis in the credit markets we have identified certain market

risks which may affect our future operating performance

Economic conditions As discussed in Note during the quarter ended March 31 2009 we completed impairment

analyses of goodwill and our indefinite-lived trade name due to indicators of potential impairment and we completed our

annual impairment analyses during the quarter ended September 30 2009 No impairment analyses were required during the

quarters ended June 30 2009 or December 31 2009 as there were no indicators of potential impairment during these

quarters As result of the impairment analyses completed during the quarter ended March 31 2009 we recorded goodwill

impairment charge of $20.0 million in our Small Business Services segment related to one of our reporting units as well as

an impairment charge of $4.9 million in our Small Business Services segment related to an indefinite-lived trade name The

impairment analysis completed during the quarter ended September 30 2009 indicated that the calculated fair values of our

reporting units net assets exceeded their carrying values by amounts between $18 million and $308 million or by amounts

between 46% and 70% above the carrying values of their net assets The calculated fair value of our indefinite-lived trade

name exceeded its carrying value of $19.1 million by $4.4 million based on the analysis completed during the quarter ended

September 30 2009 Due to the ongoing uncertainty in market conditions which may continue to negatively impact our

expected operating results or share price we will continue to monitor whether additional impairment analyses are required

with respect to the carrying value of goodwill and the indefinite-lived trade name

Postretirement benefit plan The fair value of the plan assets of our postretirement benefit plan is subject to various

risks including credit interest and overall market volatility risks During 2008 the equity markets experienced significant

decline in value As such the fair value of our plan assets decreased significantly during the year resulting in $29.9 million

increase in the unfunded status of our plan as compared to the end of the previous year This affected the amounts reported in

the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2008 and also contributed to an increase in postretirement benefit expense

of $2.4 million in 2009 as compared to 2008 As of December 31 2009 the fair value of our plan assets had partially

recovered contributing to an $11.8 million improvement in the unfunded status of our plan as compared to December 31

2008 If the equity and bond markets decline in future periods the funded status of our plan could again be materially

affected This could result in higher postretirement benefit expense
in the future as well as the need to contribute increased

amounts of cash to fund the benefits payable under the plan although our obligation is limited to funding benefits as they

become payable We did not use plan assets to make benefit payments during 2009 and 2008 Rather we used cash provided

by operating activities to make these payments

Financial institution clients Continued turmoil in the financial services industry including further bank failures and

consolidations could have significant impact on our consolidated results of operations if we were to lose significant

contract and/or we were unable to recover the value of an unamortized contract acquisition cost or accounts receivable As of

December 31 2009 unamortized contract acquisition costs totaled $45.7 million while liabilities for contract acquisition

costs not paid as of December 31 2009 were $8.8 million The inability to recover amounts paid to one or more of our larger
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financial institution clients could have significant negative impact on our consolidated results of operations Additionally if

two of our financial institution clients were to consolidate the increase in general negotiating leverage possessed by the

consolidated entities could result in new contract which is not as favorable to us as those historically negotiated with the

clients individually We may also lose significant business if one of our financial institution clients were taken over by
financial institution which is not one of our clients However in this situation we may be able to collect contract

termination payment Conversely further bank consolidations could positively impact our results of operations if we were to

obtain business from non-client financial institution that merges with one of our clients We may also generate non
recurring conversion revenue when obsolete checks have to be replaced after one financial institution merges with or acquires

another We presently do not have specific information that indicates that we should expect to generate significant income

from conversions
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DELUXE CORPORATION

SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

in thousands except per share amounts

Revenue

Gross profit

Net income

Earnings per share

Basic

Diluted

Cash dividends per share

2009 Quarter Ended

June 30 September 302

332069 332297

205105 210386

27776 28555

December 31
340309

213661

30530

March 31

377077

234139

27317

2008 Quarter Ended

June September

363992 362714

226832 212624

32617 13760

December 31
364879

228554

27940

On January 2009 we adopted authoritative guidance requiring that we calculate earnings per
share using the two-

class method when there are unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend

equivalent payments As result we have restated earnings per share for 2008 to comply with this guidance

2009 first quarter results include pre-tax asset impairment charges of $24.9 million related to goodwill and trade name in our Small

Business Services segment Results also include tax expense of $3.5 million for discrete items primarily the non-deductible portion of the

asset impairment charges

2009 third quarter results include net pre-tax restructuring charges of $2.2 million related to our cost reduction initiatives

2009 fourth quarter results include net pre-tax restructuring charges of $12.0 million related to our cost reduction initiatives Results also

include $1.6 million reduction in income tax expense
for discrete items primarily the settlement of state income tax audit and number

of statute expirations

2008 second quarter results include net pre-tax restructuring charges of $2.0 million related to our cost reduction initiatives Results also

include $1.1 million reduction in income tax expense for discrete items primarily adjustments to uncertain tax positions

2008 third quarter results include net pre-tax restructuring charges of $21.6 million related to our cost reduction initiatives as well as

asset impairment charges of $9.7 million related to trade names in our Small Business Services segment Results also include $1.8 million

reduction in income tax expense for discrete items primarily related to the settlement of amounts due to us under tax sharing agreement

related to the spin-off of our eFunds business in 2000 as well as receivables related to amendments to prior year tax returns

2008 fourth quarter results include net pre-tax restructuring charges of $5 million related to our cost reduction initiatives as well as an

asset impairment charge of $0.3 million related to trade name in our Small Business Services segment

March

339520

210261

12504

0.24 0.54 0.56 0.60

0.24 0.54 0.56 0.59

0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25

Revenue

Gross profit

Net income

Earnings per share

Basic

Diluted

Cash dividends per share

0.53 0.63 0.27 0.55

0.52 0.63 0.27 0.54

0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures As of the end of the period covered by this report the Evaluation Date we
carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of management including the Chief Executive

Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15e of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the 1934 Act Based upon that

evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the Evaluation Date our

disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file

or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in

applicable rules and forms and ii accumulated and communicated to our management including our Chief Executive Officer

and Chief Financial Officer to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting

identified in connection with our evaluation during the quarter ended December 31 2009 which have materially affected or

are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Management of Deluxe Corporation is

responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting Internal control over

financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and

the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in

the United States of America

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 In

making this assessment it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission COSO in Internal Control Integrated Framework Based on this assessment we have concluded that as of

December 31 2009 our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria The attestation report on

our internal control over financial reporting issued by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
appears in Item of this report

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Except where otherwise noted the information required by Items 10 through 14 is incorporated by reference from our

definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of our fiscal year-end
with the exception of the executive officers section of Item 10 which is included in Part Item of this report

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

See Part Item of this report Executive Officers of the Registrant The sections of the proxy statement entitled

Item Election of Directors Board Structure and GovernanceAudit Committee Expertise Complaint-Handling

Procedures Board Structure and GovernanceMeetings and Committees of the Board of DirectorsAudit Committee
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Stock Ownership and ReportingSection 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance and Board Structure and

GovernanceCode of Ethics and Business Conduct are incorporated by reference to this report

The full text of our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Code of Ethics is posted on the Investor Relations page of

our website at www.deluxe.com under the Corporate Governance caption We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement

under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to or waiver from provision of the Code of Ethics that applies to

our principal executive officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing

similar functions by posting such information on our website at the address and location specified above

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The sections of the proxy statement entitled Compensation Committee Report Executive Compensation Non-

Employee Director Compensation and Board Structure and GovernanceCompensation Committee Interlocks and Insider

Participation are incorporated by reference to this report

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The section of the proxy statement entitled Stock Ownership and ReportingSecurity Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners and Management is incorporated by reference to this report

The following table provides information concerning all of our equity compensation plans as of December 31 2009

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities

remaining available

for future issuance

Number of securities under equity

to be issued upon Weighted-average compensation plans

exercise of exercise price of excluding securities

outstanding options outstanding options reflected in the first

Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights column

2961595w $23.64 69132322
Equity compensation plans

approved by shareholders

Equity compensation plans not

approved by shareholders

Total

None None None

2961595 $23.64 6913232

Includes awards granted under our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan and our previous stock incentive plans adopted in 2000 as amended and in 1994 The

number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options warrants and rights includes outstanding stock options of 2841287 and restricted

stock unit awards of 120308 The restricted stock unit awards require no consideration upon vesting Therefore restricted stock units outstanding reduce the

total weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options wanants and rights presented in the table The weighted-average exercise price excluding

restricted stock units is $24.64

Includes 4027623 shares reserved for issuance under our Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Of the total available for future

issuance 2885609 shares remain available for issuance under our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan Under this plan full value awards such as restricted stock

restricted stock units and share-based performance awards reduce the number of shares available for issuance by factor of 2.29 or if such an award were

forfeited or terminated without delivery of the shares the number of shares that again become eligible for issuance would be multiplied by factor of 2.29
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

None of our directors or officers nor any known person who beneficially owns directly or indirectly five percent of

our common stock nor any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons has any material interest direct

or indirect in any transaction since January 2009 or in any presently proposed transaction which in either case has

affected or will materially affect us None of our directors or officers is indebted to us

The sections of the proxy entitled Board Structure and GovernanceBoard Oversight and Director Independence
and Board Structure and GovernanceRelated Party Transaction Policy and Procedures are incorporated by reference to

this report

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The sections of the proxy statement entitled Fiscal Year 2009 Audit and Independent Registered Public Accounting
FirmFees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and Fiscal Year 2009 Audit and Independent

Registered Public Accounting FirmPolicy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Accounting Firm Fees and Services are

incorporated by reference to this report

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Schedules

The financial statements are set forth under Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K Financial statement schedules

have been omitted since they are either not required or are not applicable or the required information is shown in the

consolidated financial statements or notes

Exhibit Listing

The following exhibits are filed as part of or are incorporated in this report by reference

Exhibit Method of

Number Description Filing

1.1 Purchase Agreement dated September 28 2004 by and among us and J.P

Morgan Securities Inc and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC as

representatives of the several initial purchasers listed in Schedule of the

Purchase Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 2004

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of May 17 2004 by and among us

Hudson Acquisition Corporation and New England Business Service Inc

incorporated by reference to Exhibit to the Deluxe Corporation

Schedule TO-T filed with the Commission on May 25 2004

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 18 2008 by and among us
Deluxe Business Operations Inc Helix Merger Corp and Hostopia.com Inc

excluding schedules which we agree to furnish to the Commission upon

request incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 23 2008
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3.1 Articles of Incorporation incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 1990

3.2 Bylaws incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 23 2008

4.1 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of December 20 2006 by

and between us and Wells Fargo Bank National Association as Rights

Agent which includes as Exhibit thereto the Form of Rights Certificate

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Commission on December 21 2006

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 2002 by and between

us and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota N.A formerly Norwest Bank

Minnesota National Association as trustee incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 2002

4.3 Indenture dated as of April 30 2003 by and between us and Wells Fargo

Bank Minnesota N.A formerly Norwest Bank Minnesota National

Association as trustee incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the

Registration Statement on Form S-3 Registration No 333-104858 filed with

the Commission on April 30 2003

4.4 Form of Officers Certificate and Company Order authorizing the 2014

Notes series incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Registration

Statement on Form S-4 Registration No 333-12038 filed with the

Commission on November 12 2004

4.5 Specimen of 1/8% notes due 2014 series incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 Registration No
333-12038 filed with the Commission on November 12 2004

4.6 Indenture dated as of May 14 2007 by and between us and The Bank of

New York Trust Company N.A as trustee including form of 7.375% Senior

Notes due 2015 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 15 2007

4.7 Registration Rights Agreement dated May 14 2007 by and between us and

J.P Morgan Securities Inc as representative of the several initial purchasers

listed in Schedule Ito the Purchase Agreement related to the 7.375% Senior

Notes due 2015 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 15 2007

4.8 Specimen of 7.375% Senior Notes due 2015 included in Exhibit 4.6

10.1 Deluxe Corporation 2008 Annual Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Appendix of our definitive proxy statement filed with the Commission

on March 13 2008

10.2 First Amendment to the Deluxe Corporation 2008 Annual Incentive Plan

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Commission on December 14 2009
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10.3 Deluxe Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Appendix of our definitive proxy statement filed with the Commission

on March 13 2008

10.4 First Amendment to the Deluxe Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Commission on December 14 2009

10.5 First Amendment to Deluxe Corporation Non-employee Director Stock and

Deferral Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31 2008

10.6 Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2001

10.7 Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan 2008 Restatement

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Annual Report on Form 10-

for the year ended December 31 2008

10.8 First Amendment to the Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Commission on December 14 2009

10.9 Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan Trust incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Form S-8 filed with the Commission on

January 2002

10.10 Deluxe Corporation Executive Deferred Compensation Plan for Employee
Retention and Other Eligible Arrangements incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.24 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

June 30 2000

10.11 Deluxe Corporation Supplemental Benefit Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10B to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 1995

10.12 First Amendment to the Deluxe Corporation Supplemental Benefit Plan 2001
Restatement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31 2001

10.13 Description of modification to the Deluxe Corporation Non-Employee

Director Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 1997

10.14 Description of Non-Employee Director Compensation Arrangements updated

April 30 2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2008
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10.15 Form of Severance Agreement entered into between Deluxe and the following

executive officers Anthony Scarfone Terry Peterson Lynn Koldenhoven

Pete Godich Julie Loosbrock Malcolm McRoberts Tom Morefield and

Laura Radewald incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2000

10.16 Employment Agreement dated as of April 10 2006 between Deluxe and Lee

Schram incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 17 2006

10.17 Form of Executive Retention Agreement entered into between Deluxe and

Lee Schram incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 10 2007

10.18 Form of Executive Retention Agreement entered into between Deluxe and

each Senior Vice President incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 10

2007

10.19 Form of Executive Retention Agreement entered into between Deluxe and

each Vice President designated as an executive officer incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on August 10 2007

10.20 Form of Addendum to Executive Retention and Severance Agreements

Relating to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2008

10.21 Form of Agreement for Awards Payable in Restricted Stock Units rev

12/08 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008

10.22 Form of Non-Employee Director Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Annual Report on Form 10-

for the year ended December 31 2004

10.23 Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement ver

4/07 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2007

10.24 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.21 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2004

10.25 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement as amended February 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Commission on February 21 2006

10.26 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement version 2/07 incorporated

by reference to exhibit 10.28 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2006
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10.27 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement version 2/09 incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended March 31 2009

10.28 Form of Performance Accelerated Restricted Stock Award Agreement

version 2/07 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31 2006

10.29 Form of Cash Performance Award Agreement version 2/09 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended March 31 2009

10.30 Form of Cash Performance Award Agreement version 2/10 Filed

herewith

10.31 Separation Agreement dated as of October 30 2009 between Deluxe and Filed

Richard Greene herewith

12.1 Statement re Computation of Ratios Filed

herewith

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed

herewith

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Filed

herewith

24.1 Power of Attorney Filed

herewith

31.1 CEO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 302 of the Filed

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 herewith

31.2 CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 302 of the Filed

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 herewith

32.1 CEO and CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Furnished

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 herewith

Incorporated by reference

Denotes compensatory plan or management contract

Note to recipients of Form 10-K Copies of exhibits will be furnished upon written request and payment of

reasonable expenses in furnishing such copies
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

DELUXE CORPORATION

Date February 19 2010 By Is Lee Schram

Lee Schram

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 19 2010

Signature Title

By Is Lee Schram

Lee Schram

Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

By Is Terry Peterson

Terry Peterson

Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer

Mary Ann ODwyer

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Ronald Baldwin

Charles Haggerty

Isaiah Harris Jr

Don McGrath

Cheryl Mayberry McKissack

Neil Metviner

Stephen Nachtsheim
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Martyn Redgrave Director

By Is Lee Schram

Lee Schram

Attorney-in-Fact
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Deluxe Corporation

3680 Victoria Street

Shoreview MN 55126-2966

P.O Box 64235

DELUXE St Paul MN 551 64-0235

www.deluxe.com

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD APRIL 28 2010

To the Shareholders of Deluxe Corporation

The 2010 annual meeting of shareholders will be held at the Deluxe Corporation headquarters

located at 3680 Victoria Street North Shoreview Minnesota on Wednesday April 28 2010 at 200 p.m
Central Time for the following purposes

To elect ten directors to hold office until the 2011 annual meeting of shareholders

To consider and act upon proposal to ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31 2010

To take action on any other business that may properly come before the meeting and any

adjournment thereof

Shareholders of record at the close of business on March 2010 are entitled to vote at the

meeting and at any adjournment thereof

Once again we are furnishing proxy materials to our shareholders over the Internet This

process expedites the delivery of proxy materials reduces paper waste and saves the company
expense In addition these materials remain easily accessible and shareholders receive clear

instructions for voting and requesting paper copies of the materials if they so desire

We are mailing the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials Internet Notice to

shareholders on or about March 15 2010 The Internet Notice contains instructions on how to

access our Proxy Statement and Annual Report and how to vote online In addition the Internet

Notice contains instructions on how you may receive paper copy of the Proxy Statement and
Annual Report if you received only an Internet Notice this year or ii elect to receive your Proxy
Statement and Annual Report only over the Internet if you received them by mail this year

It is important that your shares be represented at the annual meeting Whether or not you
plan to attend the annual meeting in person please vote as soon as possible to ensure the

presence of quorum and save Deluxe further expense You may vote your shares over the

Internet If you received paper copy of the proxy card by mail you may sign date and mail the

proxy card in the envelope provided Instructions regarding the methods of voting are contained

in the Internet Notice and in the Proxy Statement Voting over the Internet or by mailing proxy
card will not limit your right to vote in person or to attend the annual meeting

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Anthony Scarfone

Corporate Secretary

March 112010
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DELUXE CORPORATION

3680 Victoria Street Shoreview Minnesota 551 26-2966

Proxy Statement

2010 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD APRIL 28 2010
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INFORMATION CONCERNING SOLICITATION AND VOTING

What is the purpose of the annual meeting
At our annual meeting shareholders will act on the matters disclosed in the Notice of Annual

Meeting of Shareholders that preceded this proxy statement The two proposals scheduled to be voted

on at the meeting are to

Elect ten directors and

Ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxes independent registered

public accounting firm

We will also consider any other business that may be properly presented at the meeting although

we are not expecting any other matters to be presented and management will report on Deluxes

performance during the last fiscal year and respond to questions from shareholders

The Board of Directors of Deluxe is asking you to vote on the proposed items of business

How does the Board recommend that vote
The Board of Directors recommends vote

FOR all of the nominees for director and

FOR the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxes

independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31 2010

Who is entitled to vote at the meeting
The Board has set March 2010 as the record date for the meeting If you were shareholder

of record at the close of business on March 2010 you are entitled to vote at the meeting You have

one vote for each share of common stock you held on the record date

As of the record date 51320869 shares of Deluxe common stock were outstanding Deluxe

does not have any other class of capital stock outstanding

How many shares must be present to hold the meeting

quorum is necessary to hold the meeting and conduct business The presence of shareholders

who can direct the vote of at least majority of the outstanding shares of common stock as of the record

date is considered quorum shareholder is counted present at the meeting if

the shareholder is present and votes in person at the meeting or

the shareholder has properly submitted proxy or voted by telephone or the Internet

What is the difference between shareholder of record and street name holder

If your shares are registered directly in your name you are considered the shareholder of record

with respect to those shares

If your shares are held in stock brokerage account or by bank or other nominee you are still

considered the beneficial owner of the shares but your shares are held in street name

How do vote my shares
We are mailing the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials the Internet Notice to

shareholders of record on or about March 15 2010 You will not receive printed copy of these proxy

materials unless you request to receive these materials in hard copy by following the instructions provided

in the Internet Notice Instead the Internet Notice will instruct you how you may access and review all of

the important information contained in these proxy materials The Internet Notice also instructs you how

you may vote by the Internet If you received an Internet Notice by mail and would like to receive



printed copy of these proxy materials you should follow the instructions for requesting such materials

included in the Internet Notice

Voting by the Internet You can simplify your voting by voting your shares using the Internet as

instructed in the Internet Notice The Internet procedures are designed to authenticate your identity to

allow you to vote your shares and confirm that your instructions have been property recorded Internet

voting facilities for shareholders of record are available 24 hours day and will close at 1159 p.m CT
on April 27 2010 You may access this proxy statement and related materials by going to

http//www.investoreconnect.com and entering the control number as shown on your Internet Notice You

will then be directed to select link to www.proxyvote.com where you will be able to vote on the

proposals presented here

Voting by Mail Shareholders who receive paper proxy card may elect to vote by mail instead

of by Internet or telephone and should complete sign and date their proxy card and mail it in the pre
addressed envelope that accompanies the paper proxy card Proxy cards submitted by mail must be

received by the time of the annual meeting in order for your shares to be voted Shareholders who hold

shares beneficially in street name may vote by mail by requesting paper proxy card according to the

instructions contained in the Internet Notice received from your broker or other agent and then

completing signing and dating the voting instructions card provided by the broker or other agent and

mailing it in the pre-addressed envelope provided

Voting by Telephone Shareholders also may elect to vote over the telephone by calling 800-

690-6903 toll-free The telephone voting procedures have been set up for your convenience The

procedures have been designed to verify your identity to allow you to give voting instructions and to

confirm that those instructions have been recorded properly

What does it mean if receive more than one Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials

It means you hold shares registered in more than one account To ensure that all of your shares

are voted if you vote by telephone or the Internet vote once for each Internet Notice you receive If you

wish to consolidate your accounts please contact our stock transfer agent Wells Fargo Bank N.A at

P.O Box 64854 St Paul Minnesota 55164 or by telephone at 800-468-9716 toll-free

You may also receive voting instructions card which looks very similar to proxy card Voting

instructions are prepared by brokers banks or other nominees for shareholders who hold shares in street

name

Can vote my shares in person at the meeting
Yes If you are shareholder of record you may vote your shares at the meeting by completing

ballot at the meeting However even if you currently plan to attend the meeting we recommend that

you submit your proxy ahead of time so that your vote will be counted if for whatever reason you later

decide not to attend the meeting or are otherwise unable to attend

If you hold your shares in street name you may vote your shares in person at the meeting only if

you obtain signed proxy from your broker bank or other nominee giving you the right to vote such

shares at the meeting

What vote is required to elect directors

In accordance with Minnesota law directors are elected by plurality of votes cast This means
that the ten nominees receiving the highest number of votes will be elected provided that quorum is

present at the meeting

What vote is required on proposals other than the election of directors

With respect to each item of business to be voted on at the meeting other than the election of

directors the affirmative vote of majority of the shares present and entitled to vote with respect to that

item is required for the approval of the item provided that the total number of shares voted in favor of the

proposal constitutes more than 25 percent of the outstanding shares



How are votes counted

Shareholders may either vote FOR or WITHHOLD authority to vote for the nominees for the

Board of Directors Shareholders may also vote FOR AGAINST or ABSTAIN on the other

proposals

If you vote WITHHOLD or ABSTAIN your shares will be counted as present at the meeting for

the purposes of determining quorum

If you WITHHOLD authority to vote for one or more of the directors this has the same effect as

vote against the director or directors for which you WITHHOLD your authority If you ABSTAIN from

voting on proposal your abstention has the same effect as vote against the proposal

What if do not specify how want my shares voted
If you hold your shares through brokerage account bank or other nominee and do not provide

voting instructions to your broker bank or nominee your shares will be counted as present at the meeting

for purposes of determining quorum but in accordance with applicable law and the rules of the New

York Stock Exchange may not be voted on Item Election of Directors Shares for which you do not

provide voting instructions may however be voted on Item Ratification of Appointment of Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm at the discretion of your broker bank or nominee

If you vote your shares directly as opposed to voting through broker or other intermediary and

do not specify on your proxy card or when giving your proxy by telephone or the Internet how you want

to vote your shares we will vote them

FOR the election of all of the nominees for director and

FOR the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxes

independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31 2010

What is the effect of not casting my vote
If you hold your shares in brokerage or other financial institution account i.e in street name it

is critical that you cast your vote if you want it to count in the election of directors Item of this proxy

statement In the past if you held your shares in street name and you did not indicate how you wanted

your shares voted in the election of directors your bank or broker was allowed to vote those shares on

your behalf in the election of directors as they thought appropriate Recent changes in regulation were

made to take away the ability of your bank or broker to vote your uninstructed shares in the election of

directors on discretionary basis Thus if you hold your shares in street name and you do not instruct

your bank or broker how to vote in the election of directors no votes will be cast on your behalf Your

bank or broker will however continue to have discretion to vote any uninstructed shares on the

ratification of the appointment of the Companys independent registered public accounting firm Item of

this proxy statement

Can change my vote
Yes You can change your vote and revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the

meeting in any of the following ways

by sending written notice of revocation to Deluxes Corporate Secretary

by submitting another properly signed proxy card at later date to the Corporate Secretary

by submitting another proxy by telephone or the Internet at later date or

by voting in person at the meeting

Who pays the cost of proxy preparation and solicitation

Deluxe pays for the cost of proxy preparation and solicitation including the charges and

expenses of brokerage firms or other nominees for forwarding proxy materials to beneficial owners We
have retained Georgeson Inc proxy solicitation firm to assist in the solicitation of proxies for fee of

approximately $7500 plus associated costs and expenses



We are soliciting proxies primarily by use of the Internet In addition proxies may be solicited by

mail telephone or facsimile or personally by directors officers and regular employees of Deluxe These

individuals receive no additional compensation for these services

STOCK OWNERSHIP AND REPORTING

Director and Executive Officer Stock Ownership and Sale Guidelines

The Board has established stock ownership guidelines for directors and executive officers

These guidelines set ownership targets for each director and executive officer with the expectation that

the target be achieved within five years of the later of the date the ownership guidelines were

implemented or the individual first became director or executive officer whichever is applicable The

Board also maintains guidelines restricting directors or executive officers ability to sell shares received

upon the exercise of options or vesting of other stock-based awards until they have achieved their

ownership targets The ownership target for non-employee directors is shares having value of at least

five times the current Board retainer Executive officers have targets based on multiple of their annual

base salary The ownership target for the Chief Executive Officer CEO is five times his annual base

salary the target for the Companys Senior Vice Presidents is two times their annual base salary and the

target for the Companys Vice Presidents who are members of the Companys Executive Leadership

Team is one-and-one-half times their annual base salary

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table shows as of March 2010 unless otherwise noted the number of shares of

common stock beneficially owned by each person who is known by Deluxe to beneficially own more

than five percent of Deluxes outstanding common stock each executive officer named in the

Summary Compensation Table that appears in the EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION section of this proxy

statement each Named Executive Officer each director and nominee for director and all of

the current directors and executive officers of Deluxe as group Except as otherwise indicated in the

footnotes below the shareholders listed in the table have sole voting and investment powers with respect

to the common stock owned by them

Amount and

Nature of

Beneficial

Name of Beneficial Owner Ownership Percent of Class

Blackrock Inc 6114280 11.94

FMR LLC Fidelity 3203800 6.26

Lee Schram 674771 .30

Anthony Scarfone 232266

Terry Peterson 52415

Thomas Morefield 49600

Malcolm McRoberts 28537

Richard Greene 0708

Ronald Baldwin 15308

Charles Haggerty
10

57518



Less than percent

Based on Schedule 3G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 2010

reporting beneficial ownership as of December 31 2009

Based on Schedule 130 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 12
2010 reporting beneficial ownership as of December 31 2009 The power to vote or direct the vote

of these shares generally resides within funds managed or advised by the reporting person and/or its

subsidiaries

Includes 508701 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days and 26400 shares of restricted stock

Includes 167759 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days and 35200 shares of restricted stock

Includes 41650 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days and 2600 shares of restricted stock

Includes 40764 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days and 3500 shares of restricted stock

Includes 12238 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days and 10363 shares of restricted stock

Shares reflect ownership as of Mr Greenes October 31 2009 resignation date

Includes 4723 shares of restricted stock

10 Includes 3000 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days 4723 shares of restricted stock 32727 shares held by the

Haggerty Family Trust and 10184 restricted stock units received in lieu of directors fees pursuant to

the deferral option under the Deluxe Corporation Non-Employee Director Stock and Deferral Plan

the Director Plan

11 Includes 1000 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days 4723 shares of restricted stock and 3173 restricted stock units

received in lieu of directors fees pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan

12 Includes 4723 shares of restricted stock 2000 shares held in trust and 10177 restricted stock units

received in lieu of directors fees pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan

13 Includes 3000 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days and 4723 shares of restricted stock

14 Includes 4723 shares of restricted stock

II directors nominees and executive officers

qroup 19 persons
18



15 Includes 3000 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days 4723 shares of restricted stock 12000 shares held by the

Nachtsheim Family Trust and 9966 restricted stock units received in lieu of directors fees pursuant

to the deferral option under the Director Plan

16 Includes 2000 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days 4723 shares of restricted stock and 8029 restricted stock units

received in lieu of directors fees pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan

17 Includes 3000 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days 4723 shares of restricted stock and 9360 restricted stock units

received in lieu of directors fees pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan

18 Includes 894065 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable within 60 days 129695 shares of restricted stock and 50889 restricted stock

units received in lieu of directors fees pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act and

related regulations require Deluxes directors and executive officers and any persons holding more than

ten percent of Deluxes common stock collectively Reporting Persons to report their initial ownership

of Deluxe securities and any subsequent changes in that ownership to the Securities and Exchange
Commission Based on our review of the reports filed and written representations submitted by the

Reporting Persons we believe that all Reporting Persons timely filed all required Section 16a reports for

the most recent fiscal year

ITEM ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Nominees for Election

There are currently ten individuals serving on the Board of Directors As of the date of the

meeting the Board has set the size of the Board at ten directors and recommends that the ten individuals

presented on the following pages be elected to serve on the Board until the 2011 annual meeting of

shareholders All of the nominees are current directors In addition with the exception of Mr Schram
who serves as Deluxes CEO and therefore cannot be deemed independent all nominees have been

determined by the Board to meet the independence standards of the New York Stock Exchange see the

discussion of Director Independence in the BOARD STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE section of this

proxy statement

Each of the ten individuals listed has consented to being named as nominee in this proxy

statement and has indicated willingness to serve if elected However if any nominee becomes unable

to serve before the election the shares represented by proxies may be voted for substitute designated

by the Board unless contrary instruction is indicated on the proxy



RONALD BALDWIN Age 63

Director since June 2007

Vice Chairman Retired Huntington Bancshares Inc

Mr Baldwin served as Vice Chairman of Huntington Bancshares Inc regional bank

holding company from April 2001 until his retirement in December 2006 Mr Baldwin was

responsible for overseeing Huntingtons regional banking line of business which provided

both commercial and retail financial products and services through nearly 400 regional

banking offices Mr Baldwin is 35-year veteran of the banking and financial services

industry As such he is able to provide Deluxe with unique insight into the challenges

faced by financial institutions particularly within the community bank sector where the

Company believes it has the opportunity to expand the business services and solutions

offered to these financial institutions The experience acquired by Mr Baldwin throughout

his career also makes him adept in offering counsel on matters related to financial and

capital structure all of which serve the needs of Deluxe and its shareholders as the

Company seeks to maintain financial discipline while pursuing growth opportunities

CHARLES HAGGERTY Age 68

Director since December 2000

Chairman Retired Western Digital Corporation

Mr Haggerty was Chairman of the Board of Western Digital Corporation manufacturer of

hard disk drives from July 1993 until his retirement in June 2000 Mr Haggerty was also

Chief Executive Officer of Western Digital from July 1993 to January 2000 and was

President from June 1992 to July 1993 Prior to joining Western Digital Mr Haggerty

spent more than 28 years with IBM Mr Haggerty also serves as director of Beckman

Coulter Inc Pentair Inc Imation Corp and LSI Corporation Aside from Mr Haggertys

strong background in business operations and management he is seasoned public

company director having served for more than decade on public company boards

During his tenure as public company director he has chaired range of board

committees and has served as lead independent director all of which allows him to bring

broad-based set of corporate governance perspectives and experience to the Deluxe

Board



ISAIAH HARRIS JR Age 57

Director since August 2004

President Retired BellSouth Advertising Publishing Group

From December 2004 until December 2006 when BellSouth Corporation BellSouth was

acquired by ATT Corp Mr Harris served as President of BellSouth Advertising Publishing

Group which was responsible for marketing and publishing The Real Yellow Pages from

BellSouth and included multiple BellSouth subsidiaries Mr Harris also was responsible for

BellSouths Asian and South American wireless telecommunications operations at this time

Prior to retiring in 2007 following the ATT acquisition Mr Harris had spent nearly ten years
with BellSouth in various other executive positions including President of BellSouth

Enterprises President of Consumer Services Vice President of Finance and Chief Financia

Officer of BellSouth Telecommunications Mr Harris currently serves as the Non-Executive

Chairman of the Board of CIGNA Corporation and also is member of the Board of Trustees of

Wells Fargo Advantage Funds With 19 years of combined senior finance and operations

experience including leading three multi-billion dollar organizations within BellSouth Mr Harris

brings high level of financial and business acumen to our Board His years working in the

telecommunications industry has presented him with the challenge of transforming mature

product lines and service offerings which are similar to issues being addressed by Deluxe in

some of its markets and also bring to the Deluxe Board experience in dealing with

technological innovation an area of focus for Deluxe His experience serving on public

company boards also provides strong foundation for supporting the Boards governance

practices

DON McGRATH Age 61

Director since June 2007

Managing Partner Diamond Bear Partners LLC

Diamond Bear Partners LLC is an investment company co-founded by Mr
McGrath in December 2009 In January 2010 Mr McGrath retired as Chairman
of BancWest Corporation $70 billion bank holding company serving nearly

four million households and businesses Mr McGrath served as BancWests

Chairman and CEO from January 2005 to January 2010 and as director since

1998 Prior to becoming CEO he served as BancWests President and Chief

Operating Officer from November 1998 to December 2004 Mr McGrath

currently serves as director of Bank of the West subsidiary of BancWest In

2008 he received Presidential appointment to the Presidents Council on

Financial Literacy He has nearly 40 years of experience in the banking and

financial services industry particularly within the large bank sector enabling

him to provide the Company with valuable insight into this important portion of

Deluxes customer base He also led BancWest through an era of significant

growth and therefore is well-suited for the Deluxe Board as the Company
continues to execute its transformational growth strategies
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CHERYL MAYBERRY McKISSACK Age 54

Director since December 2000

President and Chief Executive Officer Nia Enterprises LLC

Nia Enterprises LLC is an on-line research and marketing services company
specializing in women and ethnic markets which Ms Mayberry McKissack

founded in 2000 From November 1997 to November 2000 Ms Mayberry

McKissack served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of worldwide

sales and marketing for Open Port Technology Inc provider of Internet

infrastructure messaging solutions In 2005 she was named an Associate

Adjunct Professor of Entrepreneurship at the Kellogg School of Business

Northwestern University Ms Mayberry McKissack also serves as director of

Private Bancorp Inc As successful entrepreneur Ms Mayberry McKissack

brings unique perspective to the Board as the Company pursues its growth

strategies within the Small Business Services segment In addition given that

key component of Deluxes strategy for growing this segment involves Internet-

based marketing and e-commerce solutions Ms Mayberry McKissacks

experience in these areas is valuable complement to the skills and experience

she brings to the Board as business operator

NEIL METVINER Age 51

Director since June 2007

Vice President and President Global Mailstream Europe Retired Pitney Bowes Inc

Pitney Bowes is global mailstream technology company serving one million

businesses in North America and over two million customers worldwide Mr

Metviner joined Pitney Bowes in 2000 as President of Pitney Bowes Direct

having management responsibility for serving the companys U.S small

business customer base together with various international markets From

September 2007 until leaving the company at the end of December 2009 Mr
Metviner assumed full oversight responsibility for the companys European

mailstream operations As President of Pitney Bowes Direct Mr Metviner

acquired extensive knowledge in marketing to and otherwise serving small

business customers This knowledge is particularly relevant to Deluxes

strategic growth initiatives within the Small Business Services segment from

where it is expected that significant portion of the Companys growth will be

derived In addition Mr Metviner has spent more than 20 years in senior

leadership positions responsible for new product development management
and marketing all of which areas also are key components of Deluxes

enterprise-wide growth strategies
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STEPHEN NACHTSHEIM Age 65

Director since November 1995

Non-Executive Chairman of Deluxe and Vice President Retired Intel Corporation

In November 2005 Mr Nachtsheim was appointed Non-Executive Chairman of

the Board of Deluxe Prior to that he served as the Boards Lead Independent

Director role he had assumed in December 2003 Mr Nachtsheim was

Corporate Vice President of Intel Corporation designer and manufacturer of

integrated circuits microprocessors and other electronic components and the

co-director of Intel Capital from 1998 until his retirement in August 2001 As the

longest tenured member of the Deluxe Board Mr Nachtsheim brings an

historical perspective to the Boards role in guiding strategic discussions In

addition the Board believes Mr Nachtsheim has been particularly effective in

the role of Non-Executive Chairman acting as liaison between the Board and

management and mentor to the CEO To ensure continuity in this leadership

sfrtwtiire this juncture in Deluxes trensfermetion the Boerd determined thet it

would be in the best interests of Deluxe and its shareholders to ask Mr

Nachtsheim to stand for re-election to another term notwithstanding his previous

plans to retire from the Board

MARY ANN ODWYER Age 54

Director since October 2003

Senior Vice President Finance and Operations and Chief Financial Officer Wheels Inc

Wheels Inc is leading provider of fleet management services to Fortune 1000

companies with more than 300000 vehicles under management Ms ODwyer

joined Wheels in 1991 and has served as Chief Financial Officer since 1994

As Senior Vice President Finance and Operations since 1999 she is also

responsible for all Vehicle Operations and Customer Service functions Ms
ODwyer also serves as director of Wheels Inc and its parent company
Frank Consolidated Enterprises In addition to the strong financial acumen and

operational background she brings to the Board Ms ODwyers experience at

Wheels has included analyzing the strength of companys financial condition

assessing credit risks accessing capital markets and implementing internal

control systems and risk mitigation strategies These qualifications serve

Deluxe and its shareholders not only by helping to oversee the integrity of

Deluxes financial statements but also in supporting the Companys strategies

to ensure access to capital and in evaluating potential acquisition candidates as

part of the Companys growth strategies
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MARTYN REDG RAVE Age 57

Director since August 2001

Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer Limited Brands Inc

Mr Redgrave has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative

Officer of Limited Brands Inc since March 2005 and also served as Chief

Financial Officer from January 2006 to May 2007 Limited Brands is one of the

worlds leading personal care beauty intimate apparel and apparel specialty

retailers Prior to joining Limited Brands Mr Redgrave served for eleven years

as the Executive Vice President-Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Carison

Companies Inc worldwide provider of hospitality travel and marketing

services Also bringing extensive financial and accounting acumen to the

Board Mr Redgraves background in overseeing the financial systems

operations and controls of complex business operations is particularly relevant

to the work of the Deluxe Board At Limited Brands Mr Redgrave has day-to

day involvement with matters similar to those encountered by Deluxe such as

financial reporting and controls enterprise risk management information

technology systems data management and protection and access to capital

markets His background also includes MA financial analysis continuing

area of importance for Deluxe

LEE SCHRAM Age 48

Director since May 2006

Chief Executive Officer of Deluxe

Mr Schram became CEO of Deluxe Corporation on May 2006 Prior to

joining Deluxe Mr Schram served as Senior Vice President of NCR

Corporations Retail Solutions Division with responsibilities for NCRs global

retail store automation and point-of-sale solutions business including

development engineering marketing sales and support functions Mr

Schram began his professional career with NCR Corporation in 1983 where he

held variety of positions of increasing responsibility that included both

domestic and international assignments From September 2000 to January

2002 he served as Chief Financial Officer for the Retail and Financial Group

Thereafter he became Vice President and General Manager of Payment and

Imaging Solutions in NCRs Financial Services Division position he held until

March 2003 when he became Senior Vice President of the Retail Solutions

Division He is the sole member of the Companys management represented

on the Board

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the election of each nominee

named on the preceding pages
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BOARD STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE

Board Oversight and Director Independence

Deluxes business property and affairs are managed under the general direction of our Board of

Directors In providing this oversight the Board adheres to set of Corporate Governance Guidelines

designed to ensure that the Board has access to relevant information and is structured and operates in

manner allowing it to exercise independent business judgment

critical component of our corporate governance philosophy is that majority of our directors

and preferably substantial majority be individuals who meet strict standards of independence meaning
that they have no relationship with Deluxe directly or indirectly that could impair their ability to make

objective and informed judgments regarding all matters of significance to Deluxe and its shareholders

The listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange NYSE require that majority of our directors be

independent and that our Corporate Governance Audit and Compensation Committees be comprised

entirely of independent directors In order to be deemed independent director must be determined by
the Board to have no material relationship with Deluxe other than as director In accordance with the

NYSE listing standards our Board has adopted formal Director Independence Standards setting forth the

specific criteria by which the independence of our directors will be determined including restrictions on

the nature and extent of any affiiiations directors and their immediate famiiy members may have with

Deluxe its independent registered public accounting firm or any commercial or not-for-profit entity with

which Deluxe has relationship Consistent with regulations of the SEC our Director Independence
Standards also prohibit Audit Committee members from accepting directly or indirectly any consulting

advisory or other compensatory fee from Deluxe other than in their capacity as Board or committee

members The complete text of our Director Independence Standards is posted on the Corporate

Governance page of the News and investor Relations section of our website at www.deluxe.com under

the Corporate Governance caption

The Board has determined that every director and nominee with the exception of Mr Schram
satisfies our Director Independence Standards The Board also has determined that every member of its

Corporate Governance Audit and Compensation Committees is independent

Corporate Governance Principles

As indicated above our Board has adopted set of Corporate Governance Guidelines to assist it

in carrying out its oversight responsibilities These Guidelines address broad range of topics including

director qualifications director nomination processes term limits Board and committee structure and

processes Board evaluations director education CEO evaluation management succession planning

and conflicts of interest The complete text of the Guidelines is posted on the Corporate Governance

page of the News and Investor Relations section of our website at www.deluxe.com under the Corporate
Governance caption copy of the Guidelines is available in print free of charge to any shareholder who
submits request to Corporate Secretary Deluxe Corporation 3680 Victoria Street North Shoreview
Minnesota 55126

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

All of our directors and employees including our CEO Chief Financial Officer and other

executives are required to comply with our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Code of Ethics to

help ensure that our business is conducted in accordance with legal and ethical standards Our Code of

Ethics requires strict adherence to the letter and spirit of all laws and regulations applicable to our

business and also addresses professional conduct including customer relationships respect for co
workers conflicts of interest insider trading the integrity of our financial recordkeeping and reporting and

the protection of our intellectual property and confidential information Employees are required to bring

any violations or suspected violations of the Code of Ethics to Deluxes attention through management or

Deluxes law department or by using our confidential compliance hotline The full text of our Code of

Ethics is posted on the Corporate Governance page of the News and Investor Relations section of our
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website at www.deluxe.com under the Corporate Governance caption The Code of Ethics is available

in print free of charge to any shareholder who submits request to Corporate Secretary Deluxe

Corporation 3680 Victoria Street North Shoreview Minnesota 55126

Related Party Transaction Policy and Procedures

The Board maintains written procedures under which the Corporate Governance Committee is

responsible for reviewing potential or actual conflicts of interest including any proposed related party

transactions and interlocking relationships involving executives and Board members The Committee

determines whether any such potential or actual conflicts would require disclosure under securities laws

cause director to be disqualified from being deemed independent or cause transaction being

considered by the Board to be voidable if the conflict were not disclosed The Committee also considers

whether the proposed transaction would result in violation of any law or be inappropriate in light of the

nature and magnitude of any interest of the director or executive in the entity or transaction giving rise to

the potential conflict

The Committee may take those actions it deems necessary with the assistance of any advisors it

deems appropriate in considering potential conflicts of interest While it is expected that in most

instances the Committee can make the necessary determination where required by state law or due to

the significance of the issue the matter will be referred to the full Board for resolution

Deluxe maintains commercial relationship with Wheels Inc that was reviewed and approved

under these procedures Wheels Inc is $1 .5 billion company that provides automobile leasing fleet

management and related services Deluxe selected Wheels Inc to provide these services as the result

of competitive bidding process in which several other service providers also participated Ms ODwyer
who is an executive with Wheels did not participate in the bidding or selection process Under the terms

of the arms-length contract governing this relationship which expires on December 2011 Deluxes

aggregate payment to Wheels Inc for 2009 was approximately $81 1000 which amount is well below the

thresholds for independence established by the NYSE and provided for in our Director Independence

Standards The relationship with Wheels Inc was duly considered by the Board in making its

determination that Ms ODwyer is independent

Effective March 16 2009 the Company entered into an agreement with management

consulting firm Aveus LLC Aveus Agreement by which Aveus provides interim leadership support

management and staffing support direct involvement in market management decisions and support for

strategic operating and organization transformation efforts The current Aveus Agreement which runs

through June 30 2010 also provides that Joanne McGowan will serve as the primary consultant from

Aveus Ms McGowan has been leading the Small Business Services SBS business segment of the

Company under which she acts at the direction of the Companys CEO and others to whom he may

delegate decision-making authority She has been responsible for guiding the development and

implementation of the SBS growth strategy providing day-to-day oversight of SBS and leading

organizational changes designed to more effectively achieve SBS objectives In light of these

responsibilities Ms McGowan has been deemed by the Company to be an executive officer for SEC

reporting purposes which is why the Company is disclosing the Aveus arrangement to our shareholders

During 2009 the Company paid Aveus $765000.00 in fees for services provided through Ms McGowan
as well as for overhead research data collection and support services Ms McGowan owns ten-

percent interest in Aveus and received from Aveus approximately $326630.00 of the total amount paid by

the Company to Aveus which includes reimbursement of expenses primarily associated with Ms
McGowans travel from her home in Chicago Illinois to St Paul Minnesota where the Companys
headquarters are located

Board Composition and Qualifications

Our Corporate Governance Committee also oversees the process for identifying and evaluating

candidates for the Board of Directors While not maintaining specific policy on Board diversity

requirements we do believe that our directors should have diverse backgrounds and possess variety of
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qualifications experience and knowledge that complement the attributes of other Board members and

enable them to contribute effectively to the evaluation of our business strategies and to the Boards

oversight role Deluxe also believes that predominance of Board members should have background

in business including experience in markets served by the Company or in which it is developing product

and service offerings and recognizes the benefit of Board members having an understanding of the

methods by which other boards address issues common to publicly traded companies We also believe

the Board should include both actively employed and retired senior corporate officers and that directors

should range in age so as to maintain sound balance of board tenure and experience as well as

staggered retirement dates The Board believes that the diverse mix of skills qualifications and

experience represented by the current directors and nominees as addressed more fully in the section of

this proxy statement entitled ITEM ELECTION OF DIRECTORS effectively allows the Board to

perform its responsibilities with respect to fiduciary oversight and evaluation of strategy

The Board of Directors has established the following specific guidelines for nominees to the

Board

majority of the Board must be comprised of independent directors the current standards for

which are discussed above under Board Oversight and Director Independence

As general rule non-employees should not be nominated for re-election to the Board after

their 72nd birthday or having served for 12 years from their initial election to the Board

although the Board retains the ability to grant exemptions to these limits where it determines

that such an exemption will serve the interests of Deluxe and its shareholders

non-employee director who ceases to hold the employment position held at the time of

election to the Board or who has significant change in position should offer to resign The

Corporate Governance Committee will then consider whether the change of status is likely to

impact the directors qualifications and make recommendation to the Board as to whether

the resignation should be accepted

Management directors who terminate employment with Deluxe should offer to resign The

Board will then decide whether to accept the directors resignation provided that no more

than one former CEO should serve on the Board at any one time

Other selection criteria used to evaluate potential candidates may include successful senior level

business management experience or experience that fulfills specific need prior experience and proven

accomplishment as director of public company commitment to attending Board and committee

meetings reputation for honesty and integrity interest in serving the needs of shareholders employees

and communities in which we operate and compatibility with existing directors

Director Selection Process

All Board members are elected annually by our shareholders subject to the Boards right to fill

vacancies in existing or new director positions on an interim basis Based on advice from the Corporate

Governance Committee each year the Board recommends slate of directors to be presented for

election at the annual meeting of shareholders

The Corporate Governance Committee considers candidates recommended by members of the

Board or recommended by our shareholders and the Committee reviews such candidates in accordance

with our bylaws and applicable legal and regulatory requirements Candidates recommended by our

shareholders are evaluated in accordance with the same criteria and using the same procedures as

candidates recommended by Board members or the CEO In order for such shareholder

recommendations to be considered shareholders must provide the Corporate Governance Committee

with sufficient written documentation to permit determination by the Board as to whether such

candidate meets the required and desired director selection criteria set forth in our bylaws and our

Corporate Governance Guidelines and as outlined above Such documentation and the name of the

recommended director candidate must be sent by U.S mail to our Corporate Secretary at the address

indicated on the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders Our Corporate Secretary will send properly
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submitted shareholder recommendations to the Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee for

consideration at future Committee meeting

When vacancy or new position on the Board needs to be filled the CEO in consultation with

the Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee drafts profile of the candidate he or she believes

would provide the most meaningful contributions to the Board as whole The profile is submitted to the

Committee for approval In order to properly staff its various committees and support its succession

planning initiatives the Board currently believes that Board consisting of nine to eleven directors is the

optimal size The Committee has made it practice in recent years to engage third-party search firms to

assist it in identifying suitable candidates The firms selected as well as the specific terms of the

engagement are based on the specific search criteria established by the Committee Members of the

Board also are given the opportunity to submit names of potential candidates based on the profile

developed Each candidate is subject to an initial screening process after which the Committee selects

the candidates that it wishes to interview The Chair of the Board CEO and at least majority of the

Committee interviews each candidate and concurrently with the interviews the candidate will confirm his

or her availability for regularly scheduled Board and committee meetings The Committee will also

assess each candidates potential conflicts of interest and the ways in which their qualifications

experience and knowledge complement those of the members of the Board The Committee reviews the

interviewers reports and recommendations and makes the final determination as to which candidates

are recommended for election to the Board Depending on when suitable candidates are identified the

Board may decide to appoint new director to serve on the Board until the next annual meeting of

shareholders

Our bylaws require any shareholder wishing to nominate candidate at the annual meeting of

shareholders to give written notice of the nomination to our CEO or Corporate Secretary no later than 120

days prior to the first anniversary of the previous years annual meeting The shareholder must attend the

meeting with the candidate and propose the candidates nomination for election to the Board at the

meeting The shareholders notice must set forth as to each nominee the name age business

address and residence address of the person the principal occupation or employment of the person
the number of shares of our stock owned by the person the written and acknowledged statement

of the person that such person is willing to serve as director and any other information relating to

the person that would be required to be disclosed in solicitation of proxies for election of directors

pursuant to Regulation 4A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended if the candidate had

been nominated by or on behalf of the Board No shareholders submitted director nominations in

connection with this years meeting Any shareholders desiring to present candidate at the 2011 annual

meeting of shareholders must furnish the required notice no later than December 29 2010

Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors

There were seven meetings of the Board of Directors in 2009 six of which were regular meetings

Each director attended in person or by telephone at least 75 percent of the aggregate of all meetings of

the Board and its committees on which he or she served during the year It is our policy that directors

attend our annual shareholder meetings and all of the directors serving on the Board attended last years

annual meeting of shareholders

The Board of Directors has four standing committees

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

Corporate Governance Committee and

Finance Committee

Each of the Board committees has written charter approved by the Board establishing the

authority and responsibilities of the committee Each committees charter is posted on the Corporate

Governance page of the News and Investor Relations section of our website at www.deluxe.com under

the Corporate Governance caption copy of each charter is available in print free of charge to any
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shareholder who submits request to Corporate Secretary Deluxe Corporation 3680 Victoria Street

North Shoreview Minnesota 55126

The following tables provide summary of each committees responsibilities the number of

meetings held by each committee during the last fiscal year and the names of the directors currently

serving on the committee

Audit Committee

Responsibilities

Appoints and replaces the independent registered public accounting firm

subject to ratification by our shareholders and oversees the work of the

independent registered public accounting firm

Pre-approves all auditing services and permitted non-audit services to be

performed by the independent registered public accounting firm including

related fees

Reviews and discusses with management and the independent registered

public accounting firm our annual audited financial statements and

recommends to the Board whether the audited financial statements should

be included in Deluxes Annual Report on Form 10-K

Reviews and discusses with management and the independent registered

public accounting firm our quarterly financial statements and the

associated earnings news releases

Reviews and discusses with management and the independent registered

public accounting firm significant reporting issues and judgments relating

to the preparation of our financial statements including the adequacy of

internal controls

Reviews and discusses with the independent registered public accounting

firm our critical accounting policies and practices alternative treatments of

financial information within generally accepted accounting principles that

have been discussed with management and other material written

communications between the independent registered public accounting

firm and management

Oversees the work of our internal auditors

Reviews the effectiveness of Deluxes legal and ethical compliance

programs and maintains procedures for receiving retaining and handling

complaints by employees regarding accounting internal controls and

auditing matters

Compensation Committee

Responsibilities

Develops our executive compensation philosophy

Evaluates and recommends incentive compensation plans for executive

officers and other key managers and all equity-based compensation

plans and oversees the administration of these and other employee

compensation and benefit plans

Reviews and approves corporate goals and objectives relating to the

CEOs compensation leads an annual evaluation of the CEOs
performance in light of those goals and objectives and recommends to

the Board the CEOs compensation based on this evaluation

Reviews and approves other executive officers compensation
Establishes and certifies attainment of incentive compensation goals and

performance measurements applicable to our executive officers

Number of meetings in

2009

Directors who serve on the

committee

Martyn Redgrave Chair

Ronald Baldwin

Isaiah Harris Jr

Cheryl Mayberry McKissack

Mary Ann ODwyer

Number of meetings in

2009

Directors who serve on the

committee

Charles Haggerty Chair

Don McGrath

Neil Metviner

Stephen Nachtsheim
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Corporate Governance Committee

Responsibilities

Reviews and recommends the size and composition of the Board including

the mix of management and independent directors

Establishes criteria and procedures for identifying and evaluating potential

Board candidates

Reviews nominations received from the Board or shareholders and

recommends candidates for election to the Board

Establishes policies and procedures to ensure the effectiveness of the

Board including policies regarding term limits review of qualifications of

incumbent directors and conflicts of interest

Establishes guidelines for conducting Board meetings

Oversees the annual assessment of the Boards performance

In consultation with the Compensation Committee reviews and

recommends to the Board the amount and form of all compensation paid to

directors

Recommends to the Board the size composition and responsibilities of all

Board committees

Reviews and recommends candidates for key executive officer positions

and monitors management succession plans

Develops and recommends corporate governance guidelines policies and

procedures

Finance Committee

Responsibilities

Evaluates acquisitions divestitures and capital projects in excess of $5

million and reviews other material financial transactions outside the scope

of normal on-going business activity

Reviews and approves the Companys annual financing plans as well as

credit facilities maintained by the Company
Reviews and recommends policies concerning corporate finance matters

including capitalization investment of assets and debt/equity guidelines

Reviews and recommends dividend policy and approves declarations of

regular shareholder dividends

Reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding financial

strategy and proposals concerning the sale repurchase or split of Deluxe

securities

Communications with Directors

Number of meetings in

2009

Directors who serve on the

committee

Cheryl Mayberry McKissack

Chair

Isaiah Harris Jr

Don McGrath

Stephen Nachtsheim

Number of meetings in

2009

Directors who serve on the

committee

Mary Ann ODwyer Chair

Ronald Baldwin

Charles Haggerty

Neil Metviner

Martyn Redgrave

Any interested party having concerns about our governance or business practices or otherwise

wishing to communicate with our independent directors may submit their concerns in writing to the Non-

Executive Chairman of the Board or the independent directors as group in the care of the office of

Corporate Secretary Deluxe Corporation 3680 Victoria Street North Shoreview Minnesota 55126

Board Leadership Structure Non-Executive Chairman Executive Sessions

As stated in our Corporate Governance Guidelines the Board does not maintain strict policy

regarding separation of the offices of Chairman and CEO believing that this issue should be addressed

as part of the Boards succession planning processes In November of 2005 Deluxe was engaged in

search for new CEO and the Board appointed Mr Nachtsheim as Non-Executive Chairman to remove
the responsibilities of Board Chair from the then-interim CEO When Mr Schram was hired to be the
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Companys CEO in 2006 the Board made the determination that it would be in the Companys best

interest to maintain the separation of the Chairman and CEO roles largely to allow Mr Schram to focus

on Deluxes operational imperatives with support from Non-Executive Chair on Board governance

matters

Mr Nachtsheim has continued to serve as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board and upon

re-election by the shareholders at the annual meeting is expected to serve in that role for another year

Although Mr Nachtsheim has served on the Board for more than 12 years the Board determined that it

would be in the best interests of Deluxe and its shareholders to re-nominate Mr Nachtsheim to an

additional final term in order to provide continuity in the Chairman position and minimize the risk of

distraction from change in Board leadership as Deluxe continues to execute its transformational

initiatives and growth strategies Mr Nachtsheims duties include moderating meetings and executive

sessions of the independent directors and acting as the principal liaison between the independent

directors and the CEO with respect to Board governance issues

Our independent directors make it practice to meet in executive session without management

present at each Board meeting Likewise all Board committees regularly meet in executive session

without management

Board Role in Risk Oversight

The Board takes an active role in risk oversight related to the Company both as full Board and

through its committees The Board regularly meets in executive session to among other things assess

the quality of its meetings and to provide its observations to the CEO regarding the Companys business

challenges and risk mitigation strategies

In addition the Company conducts an annual enterprise-wide risk assessment formal report is

delivered to the Audit Committee the chair of which provides synopsis to the Board each December

Updates are provided at regularly scheduled meetings and more frequently if required The objectives for

the risk assessment process include facilitating the NYSE governance requirement that the Audit

Committee discuss policies around risk assessment and risk management ii developing defined list of

key risks to be monitored by the Audit Committee Board and senior management iii determining

whether there are risks that require additional or higher priority mitigation efforts iv facilitating discussion

of the risk factors to be included in the Companys SEC reports and guiding the development of the

Companys audit plans

In 2009 the risk assessment process was conducted by members of our internal audit

department working with senior management and the Enterprise Risk Council consisting of senior level

staff from the legal finance and other shared services departments Members of the internal audit

department interviewed key department and functional leaders in the Company to identify and evaluate

potential risks and associated mitigating factors and strategies Any identified risks were prioritized based

on the potential exposure to the Company measured as function of likelihood of occurrence and

potential severity of impact if the risk were to materialize The process included evaluating

managements preparedness to respond to the risk if realized The risk profiles and current and future

mitigating actions were discussed and refined during subsequent discussions with senior management

summary of the results of the risk assessment process and our risk mitigation activities was presented

to the Audit Committee which furnished report to and facilitated discussion with the full Board

Audit Committee Expertise Complaint-Handling Procedures

In addition to meeting the independence requirements of the NYSE and the SEC all members of

the Audit Committee have been determined by the Board to meet the financial literacy requirements of

the NYSEs listing standards The Board also has determined that at least one member of the Audit

Committee including Martyn Redgrave the Committee Chair is an audit committee financial expert as

defined by SEC regulations
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In accordance with federal law the Audit Committee has adopted procedures governing the

receipt retention and handling of complaints regarding accounting and auditing matters These

procedures include means for employees to submit concerns on confidential and anonymous basis

through Deluxes compliance hotline

Compensation Committee Processes and Procedures

The authority and responsibilities of the Compensation Committee are governed by its charter

copy of which can be found on Deluxe Corporations website at www.deluxe.com together with

applicable laws rules regulations and NYSE listing standards

The Compensation Committee is authorized to review and approve corporate goals and

objectives related to the CEOs compensation lead the Boards evaluation of the CEOs performance in

light of those goals and objectives and recommend to the Board the CEOs compensation based on the

evaluation The Committee is expected to engage the entire Board in its evaluation of the CEOs

performance and appropriate level of compensation

The Committee also reviews and approves each executive officers base pay and incentive

compensation levels stock ownership targets employment-related agreements and any unique benefit

plans or programs for executives As part of this responsibility the Committee evaluates and makes

recommendations to the Board regarding the Companys compensation philosophy and structure the

design of incentive compensation plans in which executives participate and all equity plans It establishes

incentive compensation goals and performance measurements for executives and determines the levels

of achievement of each executive relative to the goals and measurements Subject to limits imposed by

the plans applicable law and the Board the Committee also oversees administration of equity-based

plans deferred compensation plans benefit plans retirement and Employee Retirement Income Security

Act ERISA excess plans and also is responsible for determining the formula used to calculate

contributions to the Companys current profit sharing plan The Committee has delegated to

management committees the responsibility to administer broad-based benefit plans and the responsibility

to oversee investment options and management of retirement and deferred compensation programs

Although matters of director compensation ultimately are the responsibility of the full Board the

Compensation Committee works in conjunction with the Boards Corporate Governance Committee and

its independent compensation consultants in evaluating director compensation levels making

recommendations regarding the structure of director compensation and developing director pay

philosophy that is aligned with the interests of the Companys shareholders

The Committee has the authority to engage compensation consultants to assist it in conducting

the activities within its general scope of responsibility Since 2001 the committee has retained Towers

Watson Co known until January 2010 as Watson Wyatt Worldwide Inc Watson Wyatt as its

independent consultant The Committee has the sole authority to retain terminate and approve the fees

of compensation consultant for the purpose of assisting in the evaluation of director CEO and executive

compensation For 2009 the Company paid no fees for any additional services provided by Watson

Wyatt

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Compensation Committee is comprised entirely of independent directors No member of the

Compensation Committee has been an officer or employee of Deluxe None of our executives serve as

member of the Compensation Committee of any other company that has an executive serving as

member of the Deluxe Board of Directors None of our executives serve as member of the board of

directors of any other company that has an executive serving as member of the Compensation

Committee
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Non-Employee Director Compensation

Directors who are employees of Deluxe do not receive compensation for their service on the

Board other than their compensation as employees Non-employee directors each receive $50000
annual Board retainer payable quarterly For 2009 the Non-Executive Chairman received an

incremental $100000 annual retainer payable quarterly

In order to fairly compensate non-employee directors for their service on Board committees the

elements and responsibilities of which will fluctuate from time to time committee members are paid fees

for each committee meeting attended with the chair of each committee also receiving an annual retainer

for serving as the chair

For 2009 the committee fee structure was as follows

Compensation Other Standing
Audit Committee

Committee Committees

Chair Retainer
15000 7500 5000

In-Person Meeting
2000 1500 1500Attendance

Telephonic Meeting
000 750 750

Attendance

Non-employee directors also receive $1 500 for each approved site visit and director education

program attended up to maximum of five per year in the aggregate Directors also may receive

additional compensation for the performance of duties assigned by the Board or its committees that are

considered beyond the scope of the ordinary responsibilities of directors or committee members

Deluxe maintains Non-Employee Director Stock and Deferral Plan the Director Plan which

was approved by shareholders as part of Deluxes 2008 Stock Incentive Plan the Stock Incentive Plan
The purpose of the Director Plan is to provide an opportunity for non-employee directors to increase their

ownership of Deluxes common stock and thereby align their interest in the long-term success of Deluxe

with that of other shareholders Under the Director Plan each non-employee director may elect to

receive in lieu of cash retainers and fees shares of Deluxe common stock having an equal value based

on the closing price of Deluxes stock on the NYSE as of the quarterly payment date The shares of

common stock receivable pursuant to the Director Plan are issued as of the quarterly payment date or at

the option of the director credited to the director in the form of deferred restricted stock units These
restricted stock units vest and are converted into shares of common stock on the earlier of the tenth

anniversary of February 1st of the year following the year in which the non-employee director ceases to

serve on the Board or such other objectively determinable date as is elected by the director in his or her

deferral election for example upon termination of service as director Each restricted stock unit

entitles the holder to receive dividend equivalent payments equal to the dividend payment on one share

of common stock Restricted stock units issued pursuant to the Director Plan vest and convert into

shares of common stock in connection with certain defined changes of control of Deluxe All shares of

common stock issued pursuant to the Director Plan are issued under Deluxes Stock Incentive Plan and

must be held by the non-employee director for minimum period of six months from the date of issuance

Under the terms of the Stock Incentive Plan non-employee directors also are eligible to receive

other equity-based awards to further align their interests with shareholders and assist them in achieving
and maintaining their established share ownership targets Any stock options granted to non-employee
directors must have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of Deluxes common stock on the

date of grant and no more than 5000 options may be granted to non-employee director in any one

year Non-employee directors did not receive any option grants in 2009 but each non-employee director

elected to the Board at last years annual meeting received grant of restricted stock on April 29 2009
with an approximate grant date value of $70000 which shares vest one year from the grant date Equity

grants to directors are recommended by the Compensation Committee in consultation with the Corporate
Governance Committee and are ratified by the full Board
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Mr Nachtsheim the only non-employee director who was elected to the Board prior to October

1997 is also eligible for certain retirement payments under the terms of Board retirement plan that has

since been replaced by the Director Plan Under this predecessor plan non-employee directors with at

least five years of Board service who retire resign or otherwise are not nominated for re-election are

entitled to receive an annual payment equal to the annual Board retainer in effect on July 1997

$30000 per year for the number of years during which he or she served on the Board prior to

October 31 1997 No further benefits are accruing under this plan In calculating directors eligibility for

benefits under this plan partial years of service are rounded up to the nearest whole number Retirement

payments do not extend beyond the lifetime of the retiree and are contingent upon the retirees remaining

available for consultation with management and refraining from engaging in any activity in competition

with Deluxe Mr Nachtsheim is eligible to receive payments of $30000 for two years following his

retirement from the Board under this plan

The following table summarizes the compensation earned by each non-employee director during

2009

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION FOR 2009

Fees Earned or Stock Option All Other

Paid in Cash1 Awards2 Awards3 Compensation4 Total

Name

Ronald Baldwin 69250 69995 5189 144434

Charles Haggerty 71000 69995 4366 145361

Isaiah Harris Jr 70000 69995 4366 144361

Cheryl Mayberry

McKissack 74000 69995 4366 148361

DonJ McGrath 61266 69995 5189 136434

Neil Metviner 64250 69995 5189 139434

Stephen Nachtsheim 165750 69995 4366 240111

Mary Ann ODwyer 72546 69995 4366 146861

Martyn Redgrave 85750 69995 4366 160111

Under the Director Plan directors may elect to receive their fees in the form of stock including the

right to defer such stock into restricted stock units Any stock or stock units issued under the Director

Plan are equal in value to the cash fees foregone by the director As result amounts reflected are

the total fees earned by the directors including amounts elected to be received in the form of stock or

restricted stock units

Amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock awards granted during the

fiscal ended December 31 2009 computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 718 All directors received 4723 shares

of restricted stock upon their re-election to the Board on April 29 2009 These shares will vest one

year from the date of grant As of December 31 2009 the aggregate number of shares of unvested

restricted stock for each director was 4723 and the aggregate number of restricted stock units held

by each director was as follows Mr Haggerty 10184 Mr Harris 3137 Mr McGrath 10177 Mr

Nachtsheim 9966 Ms ODwyer 8029 Mr Redgrave 9360
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No options were granted to the non-employee directors in 2009 As of December 31 2009 the

number of outstanding options held by each director was as follows Charles Haggerty 3000
Isaiah Harris Jr 1000 Cheryl Mayberry McKissack 3000 Stephen Nachtsheim 3000 Mary
Ann ODwyer 2000 and Martyn Redgrave 3000 All outstanding options expire seven years

from the grant date vest in equal 1/3 increments on each anniversary of the grant date and carry

exercise prices equal to the closing price of the Companys common stock on the grant date

Amounts reflect dividends paid in 2009 on unvested restricted stock awards

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the various tables and accompanying

narrative disclosure appearing in this proxy statement Those tables and narrative provide more detailed

information regarding the compensation and benefits awarded to earned by or paid to our Chief

Executive Officer CEO and the other executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table

appearing on page 35 collectively the Named Executive Officers as well as the plans in which such

officers are eligible to participate

Executive Summary

The goal of our executive compensation program is to attract and retain the best available

leadership talent and to reward our leaders for creating long-term value for our shareholders Our

compensation program is designed to reward sustained financial and operating performance and

leadership excellence align the executives long-term interests with those of our shareholders and

motivate our executives to remain with the Company for long and productive careers

As explained in greater detail below Deluxe maintains strong pay-for-performance philosophy

as evidenced by the fact that significant portion of each executives total compensation is linked to

financial and other performance criteria intended to deliver sustainable business results and drive

shareholder value While risk-taking is necessary component in any successful business model we

employ number of features in our compensation program that are designed to prevent inappropriate or

short-sighted risk-taking as discussed more fully below As part of the measures intended to focus our

executives on long-term sustainable results and align their interests with those of our shareholders all

executive officers are subject to stock ownership guidelines and sale restrictions which require them to

achieve and maintain significant ownership positions in Deluxe stock

The challenges presented by the economy continued to dominate headlines in 2009 Although

Deluxe was not immune to these economic conditions the Company maintained its financial discipline

and strategic focus which led the Company to not only deliver very strong profitability and cash flow

performance but also to make significant progress in repositioning Deluxe for long-term growth We
believe the structure of our executive compensation program was critical factor in aligning the priorities

of the Companys leaders to deliver solid results in 2009 while at the same time providing strong

foundation for continued success

Compensation Objectives and Philosophy

Deluxe is committed to providing executive compensation that attracts motivates and retains the

best possible executive talent for the benefit of our shareholders supports Deluxes business objectives

and aligns the interests of the executive officers including our Named Executive Officers with the long

term interests of our shareholders We believe these objectives are achieved by
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Continually evaluating the competitiveness of our compensation programs relative to comparable

organizations

Providing performance-based pay through annual incentive opportunities that are based on the

achievement of specific business objectives i.e pay-for-performance

Providing equity-based incentives that promote the creation of long-term shareholder value

Delivering significant portion of total compensation through performance-based pay linked to

financial results and shareholder return and

Ensuring that the Named Executive Officers hold meaningful equity stakes in Deluxe

Roles of Committee Outside Compensation Advisors and Management in Compensation
Decisions

The Deluxe compensation program is designed to align all components of pay opportunity base

pay annual incentive pay long-term incentive pay and benefits at or near the median of the market for

each component and as whole and reward performance that meets or exceeds performance goals that

are established reviewed and approved each year by the Compensation Committee of the Board of

Directors sometimes referred to in this section as the Committee In arriving at the appropriate levels

of pay and incentive opportunities the Committee also considers both whether the structure of the

program rewards reasonable risk-taking and the overall cost of the compensation program so as to

achieve proper balance between the need to reward employees and to deliver returns to Deluxes

shareholders Accordingly the Committee annually reviews the proportion of operating income used to

reward employee performance through incentive plan payments

The Committee has responsibility for guiding our executive compensation philosophy and

overseeing the design of executive compensation programs The Committee also recommends the

compensation to be paid to the CEO with approval from the full Board of Directors and reviews and

approves the compensation paid to other executive officers The Committee is composed entirely of

independent directors as defined by the NYSE corporate governance rules In order to ensure holistic

view of the compensation and benefits provided to our executives the Committee reviews on an annual

basis summary or tally sheet of all elements of compensation for each member of the Companys
Executive Leadership Team sometimes referred to as the ELT For 2009 because of the economic

conditions it was determined that there would be no changes in compensation levels except in the event

of promotion or significant change in responsibility The Committee also monitors with the support of

management and the Committees independent compensation consultants developing best practices in

the area of executive compensation including recommended pay principles published by various trade

legal and advisory groups While the Committee remains focused on constructing an executive

compensation program that will best serve the specific needs of Deluxe and the interests of our

shareholders we believe our program incorporates responsible approach to pay structure risk

management and transparency

The Committee has engaged and regularly meets with an independent compensation consultant

regarding executive compensation levels and practices Watson Wyatt has served as the Committees

independent consultant since 2001 In January 2010 Watson Wyatt merged with another provider of

similar services Towers Perrin Forster Crosby Inc and is now known as Towers Watson Co This

consultant is deemed independent in that it is selected by and reports directly to the Committee with its

primary contact being the Chair of the Committee The Committee regularly meets with Towers Watson

Co in executive session without management present and conducts an annual review of the consultant

relationship Watson Wyatt did not provide to the Company any consulting services on subjects other

than executive compensation during 2009

Management supports the work of the Committee and its independent consultant by providing

Company information and data as requested Company executives also make recommendations with

respect to incentive plan targets in the context of managements business and operational plans At the
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request of the Committee the CEO attended each Committee meeting met with the Committee and

independent consultant as necessary to discuss business strategy and also meets with the Committee

annually to discuss each executives individual performance and make recommendations on incentive

awards and adjustments to base salary for those executives The Boards non-employee directors

evaluate the CEO each year and the Committee provides recommendations to the Board regarding the

CEOs compensation based on that evaluation and current market data provided by the independent

consultants

Competitive Market Review

For 2009 the Committee commissioned Watson Wyatt to provide competitive market review of

Deluxes executive compensation program in comparison to relevant benchmarks The data presented

by Watson Wyatt was used for analyzing the following the nature merit and recommended value of

each pay component the mix of base pay annual incentive compensation and long-term incentive

values for the Named Executive Officers and other benefit-related decisions Based on the

recommendation of its compensation consultant the Committee reviewed two benchmarks for assessing

executive pay at Deluxe published survey data representing companies similar in size to Deluxe and

companies comprising the SP Mid-Cap 400 The Committee endorsed the use of the SP Mid-Cap 400

for executive pay analysis based on the fact that Deluxe is member of the SP Mid-Cap 400 index

together with its conclusion that this index is representative of companies similar to Deluxe in terms of

market capitalization revenue and total assets In addition to using the SP Mid-Cap 400 market data

is drawn from multiple published surveys of broader general industry practices with particular focus on

industrial companies with revenues comparable to Deluxe Three survey sources were combined to

create the published survey benchmark The three surveys were 2009/2010 Watson Wyatt Top

Management Survey 2009 Mercer Executive Compensation Survey and 2009 Towers Perrin Executive

Compensation Survey The SP Mid-Cap 400 benchmark data is based on proxy statement disclosures

for the index companies Named Executive Officers and the published surveys provide data for the

Named Executive Officers and broader executive leadership team

Executive Officer Compensation Program

In constructing an overall compensation program the Committee balances those components
that are fixed such as salary and benefits against components that are variable and require the

achievement of certain levels of performance The Committee also strives for balance between

compensation tools that reward the executives for the achievement of short-term goals while also

focusing on the long-term growth of the Company Compared to Deluxes general employee population

the Committee believes that executives including the Named Executive Officers should have greater

percentage of their total compensation dependant upon reaching performance targets higher

percentage of which is oriented toward long-term objectives rather than short-term performance Each

year the Committee reviews the form and amount of long-term incentive grants to ensure alignment with

the Companys overall compensation philosophy and to reward attainment of Company goals

Elements of Compensation

For 2009 the principal components of our executive compensation program consisted of the

following each of which is addressed below in greater detail

base salary

annual incentive plan

long-term incentives in the form of stock options and multi-year cash performance plan

non-qualified deferred compensation plan
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broad-based retirement plans and

cash allowance perquisite program

Compensation Mix

The primary components of executive compensation base salary and performance-based pay

opportunities in the form of annual and long-term incentives for our Named Executive Officers in 2009

were allocated at targeted levels of performance to provide higher weighting on performance-based

pay compared to base salary The average target percentage of performance-based pay for the Named

Executive Officers is 63% of total compensation with higher percentage for the CEO and lower

percentage for the Vice Presidents Of the total performance-based compensation for the Named

Executive Officers approximately 66% is targeted to be long-term compensation as opposed to annual

compensation Pay practices for the Named Executive Officers emphasize pay-for-performance and

longer term focus than pay practices for the general employee population

The Company uses pay-for-performance principles throughout its pay practices Adjustments in

base pay are linked to performance through the annual performance evaluation process with salary

increase guidelines structured to provide greater base pay increases for those who achieve higher than

satisfactory performance ratings and lower increases if any for those who perform at satisfactory level

or below The Deluxe Corporation Annual Incentive Plan Annual Incentive Plan and long-term cash

performance plan are similarly structured to provide an opportunity to earn higher payout for

performance above target and lower payouts if any for performance at less than target The use of

stock options as component of the 2009 long-term incentive program also aligns our pay principles to

long-term changes in shareholder value In addition our Named Executive Officers are subject to stock

ownership and sale guidelines which restrict their ability to realize value from their equity awards unless

they have achieved their ownership targets

While the design of our executive compensation program is significantly performance-based we

do not believe it encourages excessive risk-taking We believe the combination of compensation

elements in the program provides the Named Executive Officers with the appropriate incentives to create

long-term value for shareholders by taking thoughtful and prudent actions to grow the Company In 2009

the financial metrics used in the annual incentive plan were operating income and revenue targets with

any payment under the revenue metric being subject to the achievement of minimum operating income

threshold Payments under the long-term cash performance plan also are tied to minimum profitability

requirements Each year the Board of Directors reviews the operating plan that forms the basis for the

financial performance factors incorporated into the variable compensation plans This review by the

entire Board helps ensure that the targets established under our incentive compensation plans

incorporate reasonable degree of stretch while at the same time promoting focus on long-term growth

and sustainable financial performance As addressed below our executives also are subject to stock

ownership guidelines and clawback policies both of which serve as further checks against imprudent

short-term decision-making

Base Salaries

Base salaries are fixed portion of compensation based on an individuals skills responsibilities

experience and sustained performance The Committee annually reviews the base salaries of Deluxes

Named Executive Officers The CEO makes recommendations to the Compensation Committee for

changes to base salaries based on each executives individual performance and the market data

presented by the Committees independent compensation consultants The Committee performs the

same analysis with respect to the CEOs salary Base salaries of our executive officers generally are set

at or near the median of salaries paid to executive officers of SP Mid-Cap 400 companies in similar

positions Deviations from the median can be the result of experience in the position individual

performance exceeding or falling short of expectations or the individuals scope of responsibilities For

2009 and consistent with broad-based salary freeze implemented throughout the Company none of

the Named Executive Officers received base salary increase except for Mr Peterson who received an
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increase in his compensation upon being promoted to Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

The actual change for Mr Peterson is reflected in the Summary Compensation Table

Annual Incentive Plan

The Annual Incentive Plan provides an incentive for achieving specified financial performance

goals that the Company considers to be important contributors to shareholder value Named Executive

Officers and other officers and management employees selected by the Committee participate in the

Annual Incentive Plan The 2009 target amounts approved by the Committee under the Annual Incentive

Plan were intended to provide annual cash compensation i.e base salary plus bonus approximating the

median of the cash compensation offered to executive officers in similar positions Bonuses earned may
exceed the target amount if performance goals are exceeded and are less than the target amount if the

performance goals are not fully attained with no bonus payouts if Deluxes performance is below certain

minimum thresholds

In addition to the two performance factors used in past years revenue and operating income
third set of performance factors was added for 2009 and included various metrics developed to assess

the Companys progress in transforming Deluxe consistent with its strategic growth initiatives referred to

in this section as enterprise factors/initiatives Plan participants with specific business segment
responsibilities have portion of their bonus opportunity tied to the segments financial results as well as

consolidated results

Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code Section 162m places limits on the deductibility

of compensation paid to certain executives that is not considered performance-based In order to ensure

that all payments to our executives under the Annual Incentive Plan qualify as performance-based

compensation for purposes of Section 162m bonus pool based on the amount of net income if any
generated by Deluxe during 2009 also was established by the Committee at the beginning of the year

along with the maximum payments that could be allocated to each executive subject to Section 162m
Payments made to these executives were based on the performance factors applicable to other

participants under the Plan and all such payments were less than the maximum amounts allocated to the

executives under the Section 162m bonus pool

In addition in order to promote stock ownership by the Named Executive Officers and other

participants and further align their interests with those of our shareholders participants may choose to

receive up to 100 percent of their Annual Incentive Plan payout in restricted stock units in which case the

Company will provide 50 percent match on the amounts so elected to be received in restricted stock

units The restricted stock units vest on the second anniversary of the date of the grant We believe the

50% match and two-year vesting period encourages executive stock ownership and employee retention

Performance Measures and Objectives

For the Named Executive Officers and all other participants the three components that were

considered in determining incentive compensation for 2009 under the Annual Incentive Plan were

consolidated revenue adjusted operating income and the enterprise factors/initiatives Consolidated

revenue is revenue reported by the Company in its consolidated financial statements Adjusted

operating income is based on operating income as publicly reported by the Company in its consolidated

financial statements but includes pre-defined adjustments as permitted by Section 62m to eliminate

the effects of items that are not part of the operating plan or are beyond managements control such as

the adoption of new accounting principles asset impairments certain mergers and acquisitions

restructuring charges etc The enterprise factors/initiatives added in 2009 were intended to serve as

leading indicators of the Companys success in executing its growth strategy and supplement the

financial performance metrics The enterprise factors/initiatives include collection of specific metrics

intended to measure the Companys performance in the following areas

Executing long-term strategic plan to accelerate revenue growth and deliver an enhanced

customer experience
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Developing leadership pipeline/high performing culture in collaborative environment

and

Improving business processes

As indicated above the Committee also retains discretion to make other adjustments to the

financial measurement calculations provided such adjustments do not result in the payment to any
Named Executive Officer in excess of their applicable Section 162m bonus allocation We believe

revenue operating income and the enterprise factors/initiatives are critical drivers of our strategy to

achieve profitable and sustainable growth and thereby create long-term value for our shareholders

Each component was weighted equally with revenue and operating income target performance set in

accordance with the Companys annual operating plan AOP targets These AOP targets also served

as the basis for the financial performance expectations communicated publicly at the beginning of the

year

In establishing the metrics and payout scales under the Annual Incentive Plan although revenue

and adjusted operating income are weighted equally the minimum threshold of adjusted operating

income must be achieved before payments may be made under the revenue and adjusted operating

income performance factors We believe this minimum threshold is an effective check on imprudent

decision-making in that it ensures that the revenue growth achieved by the Company is profitable

Operating income and revenue targets for the Annual Incentive Plan in 2009 were set at aggressive but

realistic levels Given the trends in the financial institution markets as well as the challenges presented

by the broader economic recession the Company anticipated the significant pressures it would face in

2009 and accounted for these pressures in establishing the financial performance targets for the year in

order to afford realistically-achievable incentive opportunities for its employees while at the same time

requiring focus on delivering solid returns to its shareholders As result while the target revenue for

2009 was lower than the Companys actual 2008 revenue the revenue payout scales were adjusted so

that the Company would need to surpass the 2009 target by greater amount than the 2008 target in

order for participants to earn the maximum payout The operating income target for 2009 was similarly

adjusted downward in 2009 and as indicated above threshold level of operating income was required

to be achieved in order for there to be any payout on either the revenue or operating income factors The

following table illustrates the threshold and maximum performance levels compared to the 2009 target for

the revenue and operating income factors as well as the corresponding payout percentages versus the

target award opportunity at each level of performance

Performance Level
Adjusted Operating Revenue

Percent of

Income Target Award

Maximum 10% of Operating plan 10% of Revenue plan 200%

Target Operating plan Revenue plan 100%
Threshold 85% of Operating plan 93% of Revenue plan 50%
Below Threshold 0%

Actual Award Payments

Deluxes actual performance in 2009 exceeded the threshold performance levels for both

adjusted operating income and revenue As indicated above for 2009 the Committee also established

enterprise factors/initiatives as component of performance to be measured in assessing payments to be

made under the Annual Incentive Plan After assessing the Companys performance on the various

metrics established for the enterprise factors/initiatives the Committee determined that participants

should be awarded payout of 75 percent of target for that component The actual 2009 performance on

all three components is summarized in the following table
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Measures Millions Target Actual Weighting Payout Percent

of target

Adjusted Operating Income $230.00 $234.263 33.3% 13.0%

Revenue $1400.00 $1344.19 33.3% 87.1%

Enterprise 33.3% 75.0%

Factors/Initiatives

Blended Payout
91

Percentage

This performance resulted in Annual Incentive Plan payments to the Named Executive Officers

who were Annual Incentive Plan participants for the 2009 performance period

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

After analyzing variety of approaches for delivering long-term incentive value to the Named
Executive Officers and other key employees who participate in the Companys long-term incentive

program for 2009 the Committee endorsed strategy that employs combination of stock options and

long-term cash incentive program based on achievement of multi-year performance factors cash
performance plan The targeted value of awards granted to participants in the long-term incentive

program for 2009 consisted of 40% stock options and 60% cash performance plan awards In order to

incent new revenue growth outside of the Companys core check-related products the cash performance

awards incorporate performance targets for non-check revenue growth over two-year performance

period coupled with profitability threshold to ensure the quality of this revenue growth and otherwise

manage risk associated with revenue-based metric Payouts under the cash performance plan

generally will occur one year after completion of the performance period but with an opportunity for an

accelerated payout of 50 percent of the award at the completion of the performance period based upon

the achievement of certain performance thresholds Given that the cash performance plan was

introduced in 2009 as replacement for Deluxes historical practice of granting restricted stock and to

incorporate talent retention component the 2009 performance plan award agreements provide for

minimum payment to employees who remain with the Company for three years and do not otherwise

receive payment under these awards For 2010 the structure of the cash performance plan remains

substantially the same except that the performance period has been extended to three years and there is

no minimum retention payment component

As mentioned above in 2009 the Named Executive Officers together with other designated key

employees also received stock option grants as part of the long-term incentive program The grant date

for these options coincided with the regularly scheduled February Compensation Committee meeting

The timing of the annual grants also aligns with the employee performance evaluation process and is

outside any regular stock trading blackout period The exercise price of all 2009 option grants is the

closing price of Deluxe stock on the grant date The Company believes this strategy achieves several

critical objectives including

Supporting and rewarding the achievement of Deluxes long-term business strategy and

objectives

Encouraging decisions and behavior that will increase shareholder value

Reinforcing the pay-for-performance orientation of the overall executive compensation program

Allowing Deluxe to attract and retain key executive talent by providing competitive incentive and

total compensation opportunities and

Promoting share ownership and facilitating achievement of the ownership guidelines All long

term incentive awards to the Named Executive Officers and other key employees are granted

on the same date with the exception of awards made in conjunction with an individuals

promotion or hire into the Company or as necessary to facilitate broader retention of key

employees

30



Deferred Compensation Plan

The Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan is intended to promote executive retention

by providing long-term savings opportunity on tax-efficient basis Under this plan which complies
with the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code Section 409A Named Executive

Officers and other key employees may choose to defer up to 100 percent of base salary less applicable

deductions and up to 50 percent of any bonus payout into multiple investment options The investment

options match or are similar to the investment options available to employees in the Companys broad-

based retirement plans The majority of payouts from this plan commence following termination of

employment based on elections made by the participants in accordance with and subject to any delays
in payment that otherwise might be required by Section 409A

Retirement Program

The Named Executive Officers are eligible to participate in the same qualified retirement plans

available to most employees The program consists of three components including defined

contribution pension plan an annual profit sharing plan under which contributions if any are based on

Deluxes performance and 401k plan The retirement program is regularly benchmarked against

companies that are in businesses similar to Deluxe and/or are located in geographic areas from which we
recruit talent to ensure that the Company remains competitive in the market The incremental value of

benefits provided to the Named Executive Officers under this program is included in the All Other

Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table

Deluxe also has non-qualified defined contribution plan which restores benefits lost under the

foregoing qualified plans due to Internal Revenue Code limits also known as an ERISA excess plan
Contributions for the Named Executive Officers under this plan for 2009 are also reflected in the All Other

Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table

Personal Choice Program

All of our Named Executive Officers with the exception of our CEO Mr Schram participated in

the executive officer Personal Choice Program The Personal Choice Program provides fixed cash

allowance to participating Named Executive Officers in lieu of any other perquisites The quarterly cash

allowance of $7500 for Senior Vice Presidents and $5000 for Vice Presidents on the Executive

Leadership Team is intended to cover personal expenses typically incurred by executives as result of

their positions such as financial and tax planning vehicle mileage etc. As with the other compensation

components this program is compared to market benchmarks of other perquisite programs on an annual

basis The Company chose this program as being more flexible for the executives less administratively

burdensome and less costly to the organization because there are no tax gross-ups on the amounts
provided under this program

Stock Ownership Guidelines

Deluxe has established stock ownership guidelines for its Named Executive Officers and

independent Board members The Committee regularly reviews each executive officers and directors

progress toward attaining his or her ownership target The current target for the CEO is five times 5x
annual base salary for all Senior Vice Presidents is two times 2x annual base salary and for Vice

Presidents who are members of the Executive Leadership Team is one-and-one-half times annual

base salary The guidelines call for the targeted level of ownership to be achieved within five years of the

later of the date the ownership guidelines were implemented or the time the individual becomes an

executive officer or is promoted to higher level executive office For purposes of calculating an

executives stock ownership under these guidelines stock options are not included While restricted

stock and restricted stock units convertible into shares are included only 60 percent of their value is

counted toward the ownership target prior to vesting based on the rationale that approximately 40

percent of such shares or units will be withheld or surrendered by the executive upon vesting to cover

31



taxes Given that the ownership requirements are tied to the trading value of Deluxe stock volatility in the

stock market can have significant impact on an executives ownership level and executives continued

to be impacted by the stock market in 2009 In light of the depressed value of the Companys stock and

the fact that executives continued to increase their actual share ownership in 2009 the Committee

determined that it would review the stock ownership guidelines during 2010 and re-assess at the end of

2010 each executives progress toward their ownership target

In addition to the stock ownership guidelines the Named Executive Officers and Board of

Directors are subject to share retention and holding period requirements Under this policy individuals

who have not achieved their ownership targets must retain 75 percent of the net shares i.e shares

remaining after exercise costs and applicable taxes are covered upon the exercise of stock options and

vesting of other equity awards and are required to hold the shares until the ownership targets are met

The Company also maintains general policy against transactions by directors and executive officers

intended to hedge the economic risk of ownership in Deluxe stock and requires any such hedging

transactions to be pre-approved by the Boards Corporate Governance Committee

Clawback Practices

Throughout 2009 the Committee monitored developments related to policies that allow

companies to recoup from executives bonuses and other incentive awards upon specified forfeiture

events These policies sometimes referred to as clawback policies may be triggered by variety of

events such as restatement of companys financial statements and/or misconduct by award

recipients For several years Deluxe has maintained clawback provisions in its equity agreements which

can be triggered for broad range of misconduct by the award recipient During 2009 the Company
extended its clawback policy to cover the recoupment of annual bonuses and other incentive awards

including awards under the Annual Incentive Plan and Cash Performance Plan granted to Exchange Act

Section 16 officers This extended policy takes effect with awards granted in 2010 and covers situations

where misconduct by the executive contributes to restatement of the Companys financial statements

Severance Retention and Change of Control Arrangements

Deluxe maintains severance arrangements or agreements with each of its Named Executive

Officers collectively arrangements The arrangements are intended to facilitate the executives

attention to the affairs of Deluxe and to recognize their key role within the Company If their employment

is terminated without cause by Deluxe or by the executive with good reason he or she is eligible to

receive severance pay and benefits The Severance Calculations table appearing later in this proxy

statement together with the accompanying narrative to that table explains in detail the benefits provided

under these arrangements and the circumstances under which such Named Executive Officer would be

eligible for severance benefits Receipt of these benefits is conditioned upon the Named Executive

Officer entering into release and agreeing to maintain the confidentiality of Company confidential

information for period of two years after their termination Mr Schrams employment agreement also

requires that for two years after he ceases to be employed by Deluxe he will not engage in any business

that competes with Deluxe will not hire any Deluxe employee or induce an employee to provide

confidential information to third party and will not induce any customer or supplier to stop doing

business with the Company

The Company also maintains retention agreements Retention Agreements with current Named

Executive Officers that are designed to ensure that Deluxe will receive the continued service of the

executive in the event of change of control by reducing the distraction that could be caused by personal

uncertainty about their compensation and benefits under those circumstances The present forms of the

Retention Agreements are addressed in greater detail in the narrative accompanying the Change of

Control Calculations table appearing later in this proxy statement Generally speaking however these

Retention Agreements provide incentives for the Named Executive Officer to remain with Deluxe through

change of control and provide certain benefits in the event the Named Executive Officers employment

is negatively impacted as result of or following change of control In other words benefits are not

paid out automatically upon change of control but only if such Named Executive Officers employment

is negatively affected i.e double trigger Moreover the severance arrangements described above do
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not apply if the Named Executive Officers employment is terminated following change of control under

circumstances that would entitle them to receive benefits under the Retention Agreements The

Retention Agreements comply with Section 409A have renewable term of two years place limit on

tax gross-up payments and provide payment multiple of three times salary and bonus for the CEO two

times for Senior Vice Presidents and one time for Vice Presidents on the Executive Leadership Team

2009 Executive Officer Transition

At the end of October 2009 the Companys chief financial officer Richard Greene resigned

and entered into separation agreement with the Company the value of which is reflected in the

Summary Compensation Table appearing later in this proxy statement copy of the separation

agreement is included as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31
2009

Compliance with Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code

Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code limits the deductibility of compensation in excess of

$1 million paid to certain executive officers unless such compensation qualifies as performance-based

compensation Among other things in order to be deemed performance-based compensation for

Section 162m purposes the compensation must be based on the achievement of pre-established

objective performance criteria and must be pursuant to plan that has been approved by Deluxes

shareholders We expect that all compensation paid in 2009 to the executive officers under the plans and

programs described above will qualify for deductibility either because the compensation is below the

threshold for non-deductibility provided in Section 162m or because the payment of such compensation

complies with the performance-based compensation provisions of Section 162m

The Company believes that it is important to continue to be able to take all available tax

deductions with respect to the compensation paid to its executive officers and has taken such actions as

may be necessary to continue to qualify significant portions of executive compensation as performance-

based under Section 162m

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the foregoing

Compensation Discussion and Analysis Based on our review and discussion with management we
have recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included

in this proxy statement and be incorporated by reference into Deluxe Corporations Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009

MEMBERS OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Charles Haggerty Chair

Don McGrath

Neil Met viner

Stephen Nachtsheim
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Executive Compensation Tables

The Summary Compensation Table 2009 All Other Compensation Supplemental Table and

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009 Table presented on the following pages summarize the total

compensation paid to or earned by our Named Executive Officers which include each of the

individuals who served as Deluxes Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer during any part of

2009 and ii the next three most highly compensated individuals serving as executive officers at the end

of the year The following narrative is provided to help you understand the information presented in those

tables

Risk management is an important factor in designing incentive programs While the design of the

compensation program is significantly performance-based we believe it does not encourage excessive

risk-taking We believe the combination of compensation elements in the program provides the Named
Executive Officers with the appropriate incentives to create long-term value for shareholders while taking

thoughtful and prudent risks to grow the value of the Company

The base salaries of Named Executive Officers were generally set at or near the median for

executive officers of the SP Mid-Cap 400 companies in similar positions The Named Executive Officers

participate in the Companys Annual Incentive Plan under which bonuses can be earned based on pre
established performance criteria For 2009 these criteria included revenue adjusted operating income

and pre-defined set of initiatives developed to support the Companys growth strategy As discussed in

the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy statement the Compensation Committee

determined that the Company exceeded the threshold levels of performance established for the various

criteria and therefore approved Annual Incentive Plan payments for 2009

All of the Named Executive Officers participate in long-term incentive compensation program

pursuant to which they were awarded stock options and cash performance awards that provide for future

pay-outs based upon longer term financial metrics The target value of the program approximates the

median of long-term incentive compensation provided to executive officers in the SP Mid-Cap 400 group

of companies The awards to Named Executive Officers under the program were granted on the same

day as awards to all eligible employees The exercise price for each option grant is the closing price of

Deluxes stock on the grant date The options vest annually in three equal installments beginning on the

first anniversary of the grant date The remainder of the long-term incentive value for 2009 is delivered in

cash performance plan The cash performance plan employs two-year performance period and

measures non-check revenue as percent of total revenue combined with threshold measure of

profitability before any amount over the minimum award can be earned The cash performance plan is

paid-out after the third anniversary of the grant date with the opportunity to accelerate 50 percent of the

award to the second anniversary if the non-check revenue percentage is at or above target performance

In order to ensure that this plan provides retention value minimum payout equal to 75 percent of the

targeted value of each participants award will be made to each grant recipient who remains employed
with the Company for one year following completion of the two-year performance period

The Named Executive Officers other than the CEO also participate in program that provides

quarterly cash allowance for personal expenses typically incurred by executives as discussed in the

Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy statement
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Non-Equity

Stock Option Incentive Plan All Other

Name Year Salary Bonus1 Awards2 Awards3 Compensation4Compensation5 Total

LeeJ Schram 2009 785000 465617 719809 153615 2124041
Chief Executive Officer 2008 780000 079898 579606 164942 2604446

2007 745000 1914299 1176588 121249 3957136

Anthony Scarfone 2009 335000 08466 184308 63618 691392

SeniorVicePresident 2008 332500 168644 135274 71538 707956
General Counsel 2007 320 000 264 949 274 050 145 962 85 026 089 987
Secretary

Terry Peterson 2009 303333 127559 46365 36460 44800 558517

Senior Vice President 2008 294873 58552 57763 49273 460461
Chief Financial Officer 2007 282200 68565 93786 147083 53447 645081

homas Morefield 2009 275000 137500 54233 144639 53004 664376
Senior Vice President 2008 263958 71582 71450 36847 443837
Financial Services

MalcolmJ McRoberts 2009 250000 54233 114619 160960 579812
Senior Vice President

Chief Information Officer

Richard Greene 2009 305000 139657 520755 965412
FormerSenior Vice 2008 364167 177908 173783 74958 790816
PresidentChiefFinancia 2007 354167 261200 352611 230739 127083 1325800
Officer

Mr Morefields 2009 bonus payment was retention bonus of $137500 pursuant to retention

agreement he entered into prior to his becoming member of the Executive Leadership Team

The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 718

for awards of stock during the fiscal years ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 Assumptions

used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 10 to the Companys Consolidated

Financial Statements filed as part of the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31 2009 As described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this

proxy statement in addition to restricted stock awards issued under the Companys long-term

incentive program recipients of awards under the Annual Incentive Plan AlP may elect to receive

all or portion of their incentive compensation in the form of restricted stock units If an election is

made to receive restricted stock units the amount of the cash foregone is increased or matched at

rate established by the Compensation Committee in determining the number of units awarded The

aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 for these stock

units is reflected in this column

For all years reported the match rate was 50% For awards earned during 2009 restricted stock

units were granted on January 26 2010 in lieu of cash compensation in the amount of 8099 units

$127559 to Mr Peterson For AlP awards earned during 2007 restricted stock units were granted

on January 22 2008 in lieu of cash compensation as follows 56945 units $1 456084 to Mr
Schram and 3668 units $93791 to Mr Scarfone The restricted stock units received by such

persons is based on the closing price of the Companys common stock on the date of grant of such

units $15.75 on January 26 2010 and $25.57 on January 22 2008 respectively The portion of
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each executives AlP compensation paid in cash is listed in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation column The threshold target and maximum values for the Annual Incentive Plan

including the 50% match percentage based on the individual elections made by each Named
Executive Officer prior to the start of the plan period are listed in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards

in 2009 table

Prior to 2009 the Company awarded restricted stock as part of its long term incentive program In

2009 that component of the program was replaced by cash performance award plan the

performance period for which is two years The cash performance award plan is addressed in the

Grants of Plan Based Awards in 2009 table and the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section

of this proxy statement

The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 718

for awards of stock options during the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 10 to the Companys
Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December

31 2009 Note 10 to the Companys Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on 10-K

for the year ended December 31 2008 and Note 10 to the Companys Consolidated Financial

Statements in our Annual Report on 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

The amounts listed in this column for 2009 and 2007 reflect cash amounts paid to the Named
Executive Officers under the Annual Incentive Plan There were no such awards for 2008 As

described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section and note to this table recipients of

awards under the Annual Incentive Plan may elect to receive all or portion of their incentive

compensation in the form of restricted stock units If an election is made to receive restricted stock

units the amount of the cash foregone is increased or matched at rate established by the

Compensation Committee in determining the number of units awarded The 2007 and 2009 FASB
ASC Topic 718 aggregate grant date fair value attributable to awards taken as restricted stock units is

listed in the Stock Awards column while the portion of Annual Incentive Plan compensation paid in

cash is listed in this column The threshold target and maximum values for the Annual Incentive

Plan including the 50% match percentage based on the individual elections made by each Named
Executive Officer prior to the start of the plan period are included in the Grants of Plan-Based

Awards in 2009 table In 2009 Mr Peterson elected to defer portion of his incentive compensation

in the form of restricted stock units under the Annual Incentive Plan Mr Petersons cash bonus of

$36460 is included in this column for 2009 The deferred portion of his bonus of $127559 8099
units times the closing stock price of $15.75 on January 26 2010 includes an increase or match at

rate of 50% as established by the Compensation Committee

detailed description of the amounts listed in this column is contained in the 2009 All Other

Compensation Supplemental Table immediately following this table

Mr Peterson was promoted on November 2009 from Vice President of Investor Relations Chief

Accounting Officer to Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

Mr Greene resigned from Deluxe on October 31 2009 As result of his resignation Mr Greene

became ineligible to receive any non-equity incentive plan payout forfeited pro-rata portion of

unvested stock awards based upon the time remaining before the shares would vest and also

forfeited all unvested stock options Amounts shown reflect the aggregate grant date fair value

computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 for the awards made during the fiscal years

ended December 2009 2008 and 2007

36



2009 ALL OTHER COMPENSATION SUPPLEMENTAL TABLE

Dividends
Perks and Payments Company

or Earnings
Other

Tax
Accruals on Contributions

on Stock or Other5 TotalReimburse-
Name Personal ments2 Termination to Defined

OptionBenetit1 PIans3 Contribution Awards4
Plans

LeeJ.Schram 11270 17150 103595 21600 153615

Anthony

Scarfone 30000 17150 12868 3600 63618

Terry

Peterson 21667 17150 3650 2333 44800

Thomas
Morefield 30000 304 17150 4350 1200 53004

Malcolm

McRoberts 91171 47404 8750 13635 160960

Richard

Greene 25000 457500 17150 8925 12180 520755

Amounts include for Mr Schram the premium paid by the Company for supplemental long-term

disability insurance policy to provide him with coverage equal to two thirds of his base salary in the

event of disability meeting the requirements of the policy and for all other Named Executive

Officers Personal Choice Program cash allowance There is no tax gross-up for the supplemental

coverage of the Personal Choice Program For Mr McRoberts the amount also includes travel and

living allowances and limited moving expenses in connection with his commuting from his home in

Atlanta Georgia to the Companys headquarters in Minnesota

The amount listed for Mr Morefield represents tax gross-up for spousal travel related to travel to

business function to which spouses of attendees were invited The amount listed for Mr McRoberts

includes the tax gross-up for travel and living allowances and limited moving expenses

The amount for Mr Greene consists of 2009 Termination payment of $61 000 2010 Termination

Accrual of $366000 and 2011 Termination Accrual of $30500

Amounts reflect dividends and dividend equivalents paid on restricted stock and restricted stock units

respectively Dividend equivalents are paid at the same rate and at the same time at regularly

declared dividends

Amounts listed are ERISA excess and benefit plan equivalent amounts Amounts for Mr Greene also

include payout of $9780 for accrued paid-time off
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS IN 2009

All Other

Option Grant

Estimated Possible Payouts Under Estimated Possible Payouts Under Equity Awards Date Fair

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards Incentive Plan Awards Number of Exercise Value

Securities or Base of Stock

Under- Price of and

Grant lying Option Option

Name Date Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Options
13 Awards Awards 141

$/Sh

Lee

Schram

Long-Term

Incentive 2/18/09 675000 900000 1800000 -- -- -- 165700 9.73 465617
Program

Annual 3/24/09 392500 785000 1570000 -- -- -- --

Incentive Plan

Anthony
Scarf one

Long-Term

Incentive 2/18/09 157500 210000 420000 -- -- -- 38600 9.73 108466
Program

Annual 3/24/09 100500 201000 402000 -- -- --

-- -- --

Incentive Plan

Terry

Peterson

Long-Term

Incentive 2/18/09 67500 90000 180000 -- -- -- 16500 9.73 46365
Program

Annual 3/24/09 19875 39750 79500 69563 139125 278250
-- --

Incentive Plan

Thomas

Morefield

Long-Term

Incentive 2/18/09 78750 105000 210000 -- -- -- 19300 9.73 54233
Program

Annual 3/24/09 68750 137500 275000 -- -- --
-- -- --

Incentive Plan

Malcolm

McRoberts

Long-Term
Incentive 2/18/09 78750 105000 210000 -- -- -- 19300 9.73 54233
Program

Annual 3/24/09 62500 125000 250000 -- -- --

-- -- --

Incentive Plan

Richard

Greene
151

Long-Term

Incentive 2/18/09 202500 270000 540000 -- -- -- 49700 9.73 139657
Program

Annual 3/24/09 109800 219600 439200 -- -- --

-- --

Incentive Plan

Long-Term Incentive Program The Long-Term Incentive Program consists of Cash Performance

Plan CPP and Stock Options The CPP is non-equity incentive plan and Stock Options are

addressed in footnOte The Long-Term Incentive Program is further described in the Compensation

Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy statement The amounts listed in the first row for each

Named Executive Officer reflect the estimated future cash payouts under the CPP at the time the

performance targets were established in 2009 for the two-year Performance Period ending December

31 2010
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Annual Incentive Plan The amounts listed in the second row for each Named Executive Officer

reflect the estimated future cash payouts under the Annual Incentive Plan AlP for 2009 at the time

the performance targets were established based on each Named Executive Officers election to

receive any such payouts in cash i.e non-equity restricted stock units i.e equity or

combination of the two The actual payouts under the Annual Incentive Plan for 2009 are reflected in

the Summary Compensation Table

The amounts listed here reflect estimated payout under the Annual Incentive Plan for 2009 based on

each executives election to receive all or portion of his payout in restricted stock units which

includes the 50% match provided on portions of the Annual Incentive Plan payout elected to be

received by the executive in the form of restricted stock units Restricted stock units vest on the

second anniversary of the grant date

Stock options have seven-year terms and vest 33-1/3 percent per year over three years on

successive anniversaries of the grant date The exercise price of all options is the closing price of the

Companys stock on the grant date February 18 2009 The stock options are awarded as part of the

Companys Long-Term Incentive Program

The grant date fair value of options is based on the stock price at the time of grant multiplied by the

Black-Scholes value The Black-Scholes value on February 18 2009 was 28.88 percent or $2.80

per option

Mr Greene resigned from Deluxe on October 31 2009 As result he became ineligible to receive

any payout under the Annual Incentive Plan or the Cash Performance Plan and also forfeited the

option award
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2009 FISCAL YEAR-END

___________ Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Number of

Securities Securities

Underlying Underlying Number of Shares or Market Value of

Name Unexercised Unexercised Units of Stock Held Shares or Units of

Options Options Option Exercise That Have Not Stock That Hive Not

Price Option Expiration Vested Vested

Exercisable Unexercisable Date

LeeJ.Schram 182000 23.50 5/1/2013 56945 842217

128800 64400 32.65 2/13/2014 26400 390456

39134 78266 22.52 2/20/2015 13450w 198926

165700 9.73 2/18/2016

Anthony 30000 38.54 3/10/2010 3668 54250

Scarfone 25925 16.42 10/26/2010 6100 90219

4800 42.35 5/4/2011 3100 45849

4800 39.63 4/27/2012

26100 26.58 2/14/2013

30000 15000 32.65 2/13/2014

9134 18266 22.52 2/20/2015

38600 9.73 2/18/2016

rerryD 2150 39.63 4/27/2012 2600 38454

Peterson 10800 26.58 2/14/2013 1050w 15530

10267 5133 32.65 2/13/2014

3900 780O 22.52 2/20/2015

16500 9.73 2/18/2016

rhomasL 4500 38.54 3/10/2010 2100 31059

Morefield 800 42.35 5/4/2011 850w 12572

1530 39.63 4/27/2012 1400 20706

7200 26.58 2/14/2013

8133 4067 32.65 2/13/2014

3100 6200 22.52 2/20/2015

1900 3800 17.35 9/3/2015

19300 9.73 2/18/2016

MalcolmJ 5804 116106 22.92 5/19/2015 654511 96801

McRoberts 19300 9.73 2/18/2016 3818 56468

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2009 FISCAL YEAR-END cont

Based on the closing price of Deluxe common stock on December 31 2009 $14.79 per share

Stock options granted on 2/13/07 will vest on 2/13/10

Stock options granted on 2/20/08 vest in two equal installments on 2/20/10 and 2/20/11

Stock options granted on 2/18/09 vest in three equal installments on 2/18/10 2/1 8/11 and 2/18/12

Stock options granted on 9/3/08 will vest in two equal installments on 9/3/10 and 9/3/11
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Stock options granted on 5/19/08 will vest in two equal installments on 5/19/10 and 5/19/11

Restricted Stock Units granted on 1/22/08 will vest on 1/22/10

Performance accelerated restricted stock granted on 2/20/08 will vest on 2/20/11

Performance accelerated restricted stock granted on 2/13/07 vested on 2/13/10

10 Performance accelerated restricted stock granted on 9/3/08 will vest on 9/3/11

11 Restricted stock granted on 5/19/08 will vest on 5/19/10

12 Performance accelerated restricted stock granted on 5/19/08 will vest on 5/19/11

2009 OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Number of

Shares Value Shares Value

Acquired on Realized on Acquired on Realized on

Name Exercise Exercise Vesting Vesting

Lee Schram1 29200 420408

Anthony Scarfone2 3900 40638

ferry Peterson3 1600 16672

Thomas Morefield4 1600 16672

Malcolm McRoberts5 6544 96851

Richard Greene

For Mr Schram 2000 shares of restricted stock vested on February 13 2009 at value of $10.42

and 27200 shares of restricted stock vested on May 2009 at value of $14.69

For Mr Scarfone 3900 shares of restricted stock vested on February 14 2009 at value of $10.42

per share

For Mr Peterson 1600 shares of restricted stock vested on February 14 2009 at value of $10.42

per share

For Mr Morefield 1600 shares of restricted stock vested on February 14 2009 at value of

$10.42 per shares

For Mr McRoberts 6544 shares of restricted stock vested on May 19 2009 at value of $14.80

per share
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Deferred Compensation Plan

Deluxes Deferred Compensation Plan was restated in 2008 primarily to reflect changes required

under Section 409A This Plan permits eligible employees to defer annually the receipt of up to 100

percent of base salary and up to 50 percent of bonuses In connection with this plan Deluxe has created

non-qualified grantor trust commonly known as Rabbi Trust through which Deluxes obligations

under the Plan are funded No assets are set aside for individual participants in the Plan and the trust

assets remain subject to the claims of Deluxes creditors Amounts deferred under the Plan are payable

on the earliest to occur of change of control of Deluxe the participants termination of employment

disability or death or the date for payment selected by the participant unless delay in payments is

otherwise required by Section 409A Deferred amounts are credited with gains and losses based on the

performance of deemed investment options i.e phantom funds selected by the participant Deluxe also

may make EFUSA excess payments and/or contributions of benefit plan equivalents to participants

accounts if IRS limits or the deferrals made by participant under this Plan have the effect of reducing

the contributions they otherwise would receive from Deluxe under the Companys qualified benefit plans

NON-QUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Executive Company Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
ContributionsContributions Earnings in Jithdrawas Balance at

Name in Last FY in Last FY Last FY Distributions Last FYE

Lee Schram 22000 49 30009

Anthony Scarfone 9938 91544 438820

Terry Peterson 8478 22 13606

Thomas Morefield 6293 16 9702

Malcolm McRoberts

Richard Greene 14593 13750 55164

Amounts represent ERISA excess and benefit plan equivalent payments to restore retirement plan

contributions that could not be made to the Named Executive Officers qualified retirement plan

accounts due to IRS wage limits or that were lost due to the executives election to defer

compensation These payments are made after the end of the year to which they relate As result

amounts shown in this table would be reported for the preceding fiscal year in the All Other

Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table

Participants in this plan allocate their deferrals into phantom funds similar to the funds available under

the Companys qualified retirement plans Amounts reported reflect the performance of these

phantom funds

The amounts reported in previous years Summary Compensation Tables were $29777 for Mr

Schram $210423 for Mr Scarfone $13426 for Mr Peterson $6293 for Mr Morefield $0 for Mr

McRoberts and $13212 for Mr Greene
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Severance Retention and Change of Control Arrangements

Deluxe has standard severance arrangements or agreements with each of its Named Executive

Officers Mr Schrams employment agreement contains provisions with respect to severance and the

other Named Executive Officers are subject to separate severance agreements collectively severance

arrangements An Addendum to these severance arrangements was entered into with each of the

Named Executive Officers whose employment continued at the end of 2008 to ensure compliance with

Section 409A The arrangements are intended to facilitate the executives attention to the affairs of

Deluxe and to recognize their key role within the Company Under Mr Schrams arrangement he would

be eligible to receive severance benefits if his employment is terminated without Cause by Deluxe or by

him with Good Reason Under his employment agreement Good Reason includes material

reduction in authority duties or responsibilities without his written consent material reduction in his

total compensation or failure by the Company to comply with his employment agreement
termination of his employment by the Company in manner that does not comply with his employment

agreement or request by the Company that he act or omit to act in way that violates the

Companys ethical guidelines or practices Mr Schrams employment agreement provides the following

benefits if he is terminated by Deluxe without cause or he terminates his employment for Good Reason

12 monthly payments of his then current monthly base salary for period of 12 months following

completion of the initial 12 months of salary continuation an additional monthly payment equal to the

amount if any that his monthly base pay as of termination exceeds any monthly compensation he may
earn from subsequent employment in that month executive level outplacement services for up to 12

months and an additional lump-sum payment of $13000 to assist with expenses incurred in

connection with his transition

The severance arrangements with the other Named Executive Officers contain similar definition

of Good Reason and add as an additional basis for resigning with Good Reason requirement to

relocate more than 50 miles from his or her then current location If these executives are terminated by

Deluxe without Cause or the executive terminates his or her employment for Good Reason he or she will

receive payments calculated on the same basis as the payments that Mr Schram would receive except

that any additional monthly payment following the first 12 months of salary continuation would last for only

six months Receipt of these benefits by Mr Schram or any other Named Executive Officers is

conditioned upon the executive entering into release The Named Executive Officers are required by

their severance arrangements to maintain the confidentiality of Company confidential information for

period of two years after their termination Mr Schrams employment agreement also requires that for

two years after he ceases to be employed by Deluxe he will not engage in any business that competes
with Deluxe will not hire any Company employee or induce an employee to provide confidential

information to third party and will not induce any customer or supplier to stop doing business with the

Company

The severance arrangements are not effective if the executives employment is terminated

following change of control under circumstances that would entitle them to receive benefits under the

retention agreements described below Retention Agreements

The Company maintains Retention Agreements with Mr Schram the Senior Vice Presidents and

select Vice Presidents who are members of the Executive Leadership Team hereinafter Executives
that are designed to ensure that Deluxe will receive the continued service of the Executive in the event of

change of control by reducing the distraction that could be caused by personal uncertainty about their

compensation and benefits under those circumstances Under the Retention Agreements each of the

participating Executives agrees to remain employed by Deluxe and Deluxe agrees to continue to employ

each Executive until the second anniversary following Change of Control as that term is defined in

the Retention Agreements During the two-year period the Employment Period each Executive is

entitled to maintain position authority duties and responsibilities at least commensurate with the most

significant of those held by the Executive during the 180-day period prior to the date the Effective Date
of the Change of Control The annual base salary of an Executive may not be reduced below that earned

by the Executive during the twelve-month period preceding the Effective Date provided however that

the annual base salary may be reduced to an amount that is not less than 90 percent of the base salary in

effect on the Effective Date pursuant to an across-the-board reduction of base salary similarly affecting all

executive officers of Deluxe In determining any increase in an Executives base salary during the
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Employment Period the Executive is to be treated in manner consistent with other peer executives The

Executives are also entitled to receive annual incentive payments during the Employment Period on the

same basis as other peer executives During the Employment Period each Executive is also entitled to

participate in Deluxes stock incentive retirement and other benefit plans on the same basis as Deluxes

other Executives and the benefits to the Executives under such plans generally may not be reduced from

those provided during the one-year period prior to the Effective Date

If during the Employment Period Deluxe terminates participating Executives employment
other than for Cause or Disability or the Executive terminates his or her employment for Good

Reason as those terms are defined in the Retention Agreements the Executive is entitled to lump-

sum payment equal to the sum of any unpaid base salary deferred compensation and accrued vacation

pay through the date of termination plus pro-rated annual incentive payment for the year of termination

based on the greater of the Executives target bonus under Deluxes Annual Incentive Plan in respect

of the year in which the termination occurs or if greater for the year in which the Change of Control

occurs the Target Bonus and the annual incentive payment that the Executive would have earned

for the year in which the termination occurs based upon projecting to the end of that year Deluxes actual

performance through the termination date In addition the Executive is entitled to receive lump-sum

payment equal to multiple of the sum of the Executives annual base salary and the higher of the Target

Bonus or the average of the Executives annual incentive payments for the last three full fiscal years prior

to the Effective Date plus the amount that would have been contributed by Deluxe or its affiliates to the

retirement and supplemental retirement plans in which the Executive participated prior to his or her

termination This multiple hereinafter payment multiple is three times for the CEO two times for the

Senior Vice Presidents and one time for the Vice Presidents Certain resignations and terminations in

anticipation of Change of Control also constitute qualifying terminations After qualifying termination

of employment the Executives are also entitled to the continuation of their medical disability life and

other health insurance benefits for the number of years corresponding to the applicable payment multiple

and to certain out-placement services

The Retention Agreements generally eliminate tax gross-up payment to the Executive if the

after-tax benefit including gross-up payment does not equal at least $50000.00 when contrasted with

reduction in the payments under the Retention Agreement to level that would not result in an excise

tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code In 2007 the Compensation Committee authorized

the replacement of prior forms of the Retention Agreements with the result that the present forms comply

with Section 409A reduced the renewable duration of the agreements placed limit on tax gross-up

payments and also included reduction in the salary and bonus payment multiple for the Senior Vice

Presidents

Deluxe also has used standard forms of stock option restricted stock and cash performance

award agreements in conjunction with its long-term incentive program that provide for vesting of the

awards in whole or in part upon certain events including termination of the employee without cause or

following change of control Generally speaking for equity awards issued prior to 2007 stock options

vest in full and restricted stock vests pro rata upon termination without Cause or Change of Control

For equity awards issued in 2007 and later vesting upon Change of Control will only occur if the

acquiring or surviving entity fails to honor the award agreements with comparable equity or if the

employee is terminated without Cause or resigns for Good Reason as those terms are defined in the

applicable award agreement following the Change of Control For cash performance awards if the

employee is terminated without Cause or resigns for Good Reason more than one year into the

performance period they will be entitled to pro rata payment of any payment to which they would

otherwise have been entitled had their employment continued through the term of the agreement If the

termination without Cause or resignation for Good Reason is in connection with or following Change of

Control the employee will receive within forty-five days of their termination or resignation pro rata

payment of the target award amount provided for in their agreement

The foregoing summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of Mr

Schrams employment agreement and the forms of Retention Agreement severance agreement stock

option restricted stock and cash performance award agreements all of which are filed as exhibits to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009
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The following table illustrates the benefits that would be received by the current Named Executive

Officers under the severance arrangements described above assuming hypothetical qualifying

severance occurring on the last business day of the prior fiscal year For discussion of Mr Greenes

severance arrangement review footnote to the 2009 All Other Compensation Table in this proxy

agreement

SEVERANCE CALCULATIONS

Restricted

Salary Stock Option Stock

Name Continuation1 Outplacement2 Acceleration Acceleration Other Total

570000 38500 838442 426484 13000 2886426
LeeJ
Schram

502500 38500 195316 98442 13000 847758

Anthony

Scarfone

502500 38500 83490 38173 13000 675663

Terry

Peterson

412500 38500 97658 39475 13000 601133
Thomas

Morefield

375000 38500 97658 106429 13000 630587
Malcolm

McRoberts

Salary continuation benefits include twelve months of full salary plus the difference in compensation

otherwise earned by the individual and their base salary at termination from Deluxe for an

additional twelve months for the CEO and an additional six months for the other executives

Amounts shown assume no employment is secured after the initial twelve months and therefore

reflect maximum amounts payable

Estimated cost of outplacement services for twelve months

Accelerated vesting on stock options at the time of termination with three months to exercise The
value is based on the closing price of Deluxe common stock on December 31 2009 $14.79 per

share

Pro-rata acceleration of vesting on restricted stock based on the date of termination Value based on

the closing price of Deluxe common stock on December 31 2009 $14.79 per share

Lump-sum payment in lieu of benefits continuation
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The following tables illustrate the benefits that would be received by the current Named Executive

Officers under the Retention Agreements described above assuming hypothetical triggering event

occurring on the last business day of the prior fiscal year

CHANGE OF CONTROL CALCULATIONS

Due on Change
of Control

followed by Due on

Name Type of Compensation
termination by Change of

Company without Control

Cause or by
Executive for

Good Reason

Severance 4710000

Pro-Rata Bonus 785000

Long-Term Cash Performance

Plan

Lee Schram Vesting of Options 838442

Vesting of Restricted Stock 589382

Benefit Continuation 757

Retirement Plan Contribution 188400

Outplacement 38500

Total Payments Before Excise 7225435
Tax

ExciseTaxGross-Up9 1189147

Total 8414582

Severance 072000

Pro-Rata Bonus 201 000

Long-Term Cash Performance

Plan

Anthony Scarfone Vesting of Options 195316

Vesting of Restricted Stock 136068

Benefit Continuation 25472

Retirement Plan Contribution 42880

Outplacement 38500

Total Payments Before Excise 171 236
Tax

Excise Tax Gross-Up

Total 1711236
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Due on Change
of Control

followed by Due on

Name Type of Compensation Cut Cançjef
Cause or by
Executive for

Good_Reason_$

Severance 072000

Pro-Rata Bonus 132500

Long-Term Cash Performance

Plan

Terry Peterson Vesting of Options 83490

Vesting of Restricted Stock 53984

Benefit Continuation 25168

Retirement Plan Contribution 42880

Outplacement 38500

Total Payments Before Excise 448522
Tax

Excise Tax Gross-Up 286149

Total 734670

Severance 825000

Pro-Rata Bonus 144639

Long-Term Cash Performance

Plan

Thomas Morefield Vesting of Options 97658

Vesting of Restricted Stock 64337

Benefit Continuation 24994

Retirement Plan Contribution 33000

Outplacement 38500

Total Payments Before Excise 1228128
Tax

Excise Tax Gross-Up 233510

Total 461 637

Severance 750000

Pro-Rata Bonus 125000

Long-Term Cash Performance

Plan

Malcolm McRoberts Vesting of Options 97658

Vesting of Restricted Stock 153269

Benefit Continuation 24794

Retirement Plan Contribution 30000

Outplacement 38500

Total Payments Before Excise 219221
Tax

Excise Tax Gross-Up

Total 1219221
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Severance is equal to three times for Mr Schram and two times for Messrs Scarfone Peterson

Morefield and McRoberts the total of the current base salary plus the higher of the individuals

target annual bonus or the average actual bonus earned for each of the prior three years

Pro-rata bonus for year of termination based on greater of bonus at expected performance or target

bonus

No cash performance award payout prior to first anniversary of the start of the performance period

The amount listed in the column titled Due on Change of Control followed by termination by

Company without Cause or by Executive for Good Reason reflects full acceleration of options The

amount listed in the column titled Due on Change of Control reflects full acceleration of options for

grants made prior to 2007 and no acceleration on stock options granted in 2007 or later

The amount listed in the column titled Due on Change of Control followed by termination by

Company without Cause or by Executive for Good Reason reflects full acceleration of restricted

stock Currently outstanding restricted stock awards do not vest upon Change of Control unless the

surviving entity fails to honor award agreements with comparable equity i.e double trigger

Therefore no accelerated vesting is assumed in the column titled Due on Change of Control

Assumes annual Medical Life Dental Vision and Disability for Schram for three years for Mr

Schram two years for Messrs Scarfone Peterson Morefield and McRoberts

Assumes percent defined contribution

Assumes full use of the 12-month executive outplacement program at an amount not to exceed

$38500

The excise tax imposed by the Internal Revenue Code on excess parachute payments is 20

percent This excise tax together with any corresponding tax gross-up applies only if the total value

of change of control payments calculated under Section 280G of the Code equals or exceeds three

times the average annual compensation attributable to the executives employment with Deluxe over

the prior fiveyear period As result the gross-up amount shown reflects the executives unique

earnings history with Deluxe and can vary significantly from year to year
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FISCAL YEAR 2009 AUDIT
AND INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Audit Committee Report

The following is the report of the Audit Committee with respect to Deluxes audited financial

statements presented in its Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009
which include the consolidated balance sheets of Deluxe as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the

related consolidated statements of income shareholders equity comprehensive income and cash flows

for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 and the notes thereto The

information contained in this Audit Committee Report shall not be deemed to be soliciting material or to

be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission nor shall such information be incorporated by

reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 as amended except to the extent that Deluxe specifically incorporates it by reference in such

filing

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors currently is comprised of the five undersigned

directors all of whom have been determined by the Board to be independent under the rules of the

Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange The Audit Committee acts

under written charter approved by the Board of Directors The Audit Committee reviews the adequacy
of that charter on an annual basis complete copy of the Committees charter is posted in the News and

Investor Relations section of Deluxes website at www.deluxe.com under the Corporate Governance

caption

As stated in its charter the Audit Committee assists the Board in monitoring the integrity of

Deluxes financial statements the effectiveness of the internal audit function and independent registered

public accounting firm and Deluxes compliance systems In carrying out these responsibilities the Audit

Committee met with Deluxe management periodically during the year to consider the adequacy of

Deluxes internal controls and the objectivity of its financial reporting The Audit Committee discussed

these matters with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Deluxes independent registered public accounting

firm and with the appropriate financial personnel and internal auditors and met privately on regular

basis with both the independent registered public accounting firm and with the internal auditors each of

whom reports to and has unrestricted access to the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee reviewed with management and the independent registered public

accounting firm Deluxes 2009 audited financial statements and met separately with both management
and the independent registered public accounting firm to discuss and review those financial statements

and reports prior to issuance Management has the primary responsibility for Deluxes financial

statements and the overall reporting process including Deluxes system of internal controls

Management has represented and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has indicated in its opinion to the Audit

Committee that Deluxe maintained in all material respects effective internal control over its financial

reporting as of December 31 2009 and that the financial statements were prepared in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles and fairly present in all material respects the financial condition

and results of operations of Deluxe

The Audit Committee has discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the

matters required to be discussed by AU Section 380 Communication with Audit Committees

The Audit Committee also received from and discussed with the independent registered public

accounting firm the written disclosures and letter required by applicable requirements of The Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public accounting firms

communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed with the

independent registered public accounting firm its independence As part of its efforts to ensure the
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independence of Deluxes independent registered public accounting firm the Committee maintains

policy requiring the pre-approval by the Committee of all services to be provided by the independent

registered public accounting firm and reviews all services actually performed by the independent

registered public accounting firm in connection with its discussions regarding the independent registered

public accounting firms continued independence

Based on the review and discussions referred to above the Committee recommended to

Deluxes Board of Directors that Deluxes audited financial statements be included in Deluxes Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Martyn Redgrave Chair

Ronald Baldwin

Isaiah Harris Jr

Cheryl Mayberry Mckissack

Mary Ann ODwyer

Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Aggregate fees for professional services rendered for Deluxe by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 were as follows

2009 2008

Audit Fees $1527798 $1477950

Total Fees $1 529298 $1 627950

Audit-Related Fees

Tax Fees

All Other Fees

$0

$0

$1500

$0

$150000

$0

The Audit Fees billed for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 were for professional

services rendered for audits of the annual consolidated financial statements and the Companys internal

controls over financial reporting reviews of the related quarterly financial statements included in Deluxes

quarterly reports on Form 10-0 filed with the SEC review of responses to an SEC comment letter in

2009 services in connection with the filing of SEC registration statements and consultations regarding

accounting or disclosure treatment of transactions which were directly part of the audit and an audit of

the separate financial statements of one of the Companys subsidiaries

Tax Fees in 2008 consisted of fees incurred by the Company for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to

assist with preparation for mediation of an IRS matter

All Other Fees in 2009 consisted of license fees for the use of technical accounting research

tool

The Audit Committee approved all of the services and fees described above
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Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Accounting Firm Fees and Services

In order to assure that our independent registered public accounting firm is engaged only to

provide audit and non-audit services that are compatible with maintaining their independence the Audit

Committee has adopted policy which requires the Audit Committee to review and approve all services

to be provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP before the firm is engaged to provide such services The
Audit Committee may delegate its pre-approval authority to one or more members of the Audit

Committee provided however that full report of any such delegated approvals must be given at the

next Audit Committee meeting The Audit Committee is required to specifically approve the fee levels for

all services Requests for approval of services must be jointly submitted to the Audit Committee by the

independent registered public accounting firm Deluxes Chief Financial Officer and Deluxes Vice

President of Internal Audit and must include joint statement as to whether in their view the request
is consistent with the SECs rules on auditor independence and reasonably detailed description of

the proposed services The complete text of our Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy is

posted in the News and Investor Relations section of our website at www.deluxe.com under the

Corporate Governance caption copy of the Policy is available in print free of charge to any
stockholder who submits request to Corporate Secretary Deluxe Corporation 3680 Victoria Street

North Shoreview Minnesota 55126

ITEM RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxes independent

registered public accounting firm to examine Deluxes financial statements and internal controls over

financial reporting for the fiscal year ending December 31 2010 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has

acted as Deluxes independent registered public accounting firm since 2001

Pursuant to the Audit Committees charter the Board of Directors is submitting the appointment

of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxes independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year

ending December 31 2010 to the shareholders for ratification Shareholder approval of this appointment

is not required but the Board is submitting the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for ratification in

order to obtain the views of the Companys shareholders If the appointment is not ratified the Audit

Committee will reconsider its selection Deluxe anticipates that representatives of

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will be present at the meeting will have the opportunity to make
statement if they so desire and will be able to respond to appropriate questions from shareholders

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the ratification of the selection of

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxes independent registered public accounting firm

2011 SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

Any shareholder proposals intended to be included in the proxy statement for the annual meeting
of shareholders in 2011 must be received by Deluxes Corporate Secretary at 3680 Victoria Street North

Shoreview Minnesota 55126-2966 no later than the close of business on November 11 2010 Proposals

received by that date will be included in Deluxes 2011 proxy statement only if the proposals are proper
for consideration at an annual meeting and are required for inclusion in the proxy statement by and

conform to the rules of the SEC

In accordance with the notice provisions contained in Deluxes Bylaws shareholder may
present proposal at the 2011 annual meeting of shareholders that is not included in Deluxes proxy
statement if proper written notice is given to Deluxes Chief Executive Officer or Corporate Secretary at

the Companys principal executive offices no later than the close of business on December 29 2010
The notice must contain the information required by Deluxes Bylaws You may obtain copy of the

Bylaws by writing to Deluxes Corporate Secretary
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OTHER BUSINESS

The Board of Directors does not intend to present any business at the meeting other than the

matters specifically set forth in this proxy statement and knows of no other business scheduled to come

before the meeting If any other matters are brought before the meeting the persons named as proxies

will vote on such matters in accordance with their judgment of the best interests of Deluxe and its

shareholders The proxies solicited by Deluxe will confer discretionary authority on the persons named

therein as proxies to vote on any matter presented at the meeting of which the Board of Directors did not

have knowledge reasonable time before Deluxe printed and mailed these proxy materials

ANNUAL REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS AND FORM 10-K

Shareholders who wish to obtain copy of our 2009 Annual Report and/or copy of the Form 10-

filed with the SEC for the year ended December 31 2009 may do so without charge by viewing these

documents on our website at www.deluxe.com or by writing to Corporate Secretary Deluxe Corporation

3680 Victoria Street North Shoreview Minnesota 55126

By order of the Board of Directors

Anthony Scarfone

Corporate Secretary

March 112010
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